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Basil Read Holdings Limited is listed under heavy construction in the industrial sector on the JSE Limited 

(JSE). The group and its subsidiaries are active in civil engineering projects, road construction, building, 

mixed integrated housing developments, property development, opencast mining, and engineering design, 

procurement and construction management, as well as related services. Basil Read operates throughout Africa 

and other emerging markets. 

For well over half a century, Basil Read has been helping to build the foundations of the country for all South 

Africans. Every South African has been touched by Basil Read at some point – from residential homes to clinics 

and hospitals, schools, roads and highway systems.

Basil Read plays a leading role in the construction industry in South Africa, building on its proven reputation 

for uncompromising quality and value-for-money.

Basil Read’s founding principles – hard work, team effort and integrity – are evident in every contract we 

undertake. A combination of innovative technology and unwavering attention to detail enables Basil Read to 

meet and exceed clients’ requirements.

www.basilread.co.za

02 22 26 28

Triple bottom-line reporting remains a 
cornerstone of our commitment to entrench 
global best practices in all operations. 
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Scope of report

Basil Read’s 2011 integrated annual report for the 12 months to 31 December 2011 integrates our economic, social and 

environmental results for a group-wide understanding. It follows a similar report issued for the year to 31 December 2010. It also 

sets out the challenges and opportunities that lie ahead. 

Although the group is six decades old, rapid expansion in recent years makes data comparability quite challenging in certain areas. 

Where practical, we are implementing common data standards. In certain sections, however, readers will find separate disclosure 

on the performance of the TWP engineering group, given the nature of its business and different stakeholder needs.

Triple bottom-line reporting remains a cornerstone of our commitment to entrench global best practices in all operations. 

Basil Read therefore reports against the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (G3), and the content of this report is self-

declared at GRI level C. Once a group-wide reporting platform is more mature, this report may be externally assured.

32 36 70 107

Highlights

–  St Helena contract secured – R3,1 billion to design, build, operate and transfer an international airport.

–  Basil Read (Pty) Ltd and TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd rated as level 3 BBBEE contributors and value-added 
suppliers.

–  Record order book at the reporting date up 65% on 2010.

–  First-time participation in the Carbon Disclosure Project.

–  World-class human resources practices reflected in ranking as Best Employer certified by the  
CRF Institute.

Lowlights

–  One fatality recorded for the year (2010: five).

–  Loss-making construction contracts.

–  Strain on working capital due to late payments from key clients. 
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What we do…

Group Construction

This division incorporates Basil 
Read’s civil engineering, roads and 
building operations. Proven technical 
and financial engineering skills have 
reinforced our position among the 
leaders in this industry.

Major works for private and 
public-sector clients cover a broad 
spectrum of civil engineering, road 
and building projects, including 
earthworks, bridges, pipelines, 
infrastructure, harbour and marine 
works, industrial plants, sports 
facilities, roads, highways, airports 
and other related industrial activities. 

The group also adds value through 
innovative packaging: build-operate-
transfer (BOT) contracts, design 
and construct, and other alternative 
solutions tailored to meet client 
requirements.

Strong organic and acquisitive 
growth in recent years has made 
Basil Read a formidable competitor 
in its core sectors. Increasingly, 
intra-group synergies enable 
constituent companies to offer their 
clients a comprehensive service, 
while securing additional work for 
the group.

Using a total quality approach to 
projects, the Basil Read construction 
division adds value through unique 
turnkey solutions, innovative 
construction methods, effective cost 
control, design alternatives and 
financing options.

– New head office occupied

–  Construction of phase 2 

completed in March 2012

Revenue

R6,2 billion 
up 15,6% (2010: R5,4 billion)

Operating profit

R280,9 million
down 24,0% (2010: R369,5 million)

Revenue

R4,1 billion
up 6,4% (2010: R3,9 billion)

Operating profit

R81,3 million
down 69,4% (2010: R265,8 million)

Salient features

Overview

Operations

Financial performance

–  Natural progression into Africa 

given depressed local conditions

Zimbabwe, Democratic 

Republic of Congo, Sierra 

Leone; actively tendering 

in Africa
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Mining

Basil Read’s mining division 
incorporates opencast mining 
operations and the group’s drilling 
and blasting activities, housed in 
subsidiary Blasting & Excavating 
(Pty) Ltd (B&E).

Basil Read Mining specialises 
in opencast contract mining, 
mine spoils rehabilitation, bulk 
earthmoving, thin, thick and multiple 
seam mining, hard-rock selective 
mining and materials handling. 
B&E provides drilling and blasting 
services to the southern African 
construction, quarrying and mining 
industries. It is the largest company 
of its kind and the major user of 
explosives in these industries in the 
region. 

Basil Read Mining has operated 
medium- and long-term contracts for 
gold, platinum, nickel, iron, diamond and 
coal mining clients across Africa, using 
the latest operating equipment and 
innovative mining techniques to satisfy 
their evolving needs.

–  Solid results and stable 

performance

–  Five-year multi-billion rand 

contract in Botswana through 

international joint venture

Developments

Basil Read’s developments division 
is strategically significant to the 
broader group: while the nature of 
many of the contracts undertaken 
is an integral part of our social 
licence to operate, the division also 
provides secondary work for group 
companies. 

From affordable housing 
developments to mixed-use 
residential estates and light 
industrial parks, Basil Read is 
working with national, provincial 
and local government, parastatals 
and non-governmental organisations 
to support national imperatives 
focused on improving the quality of 
life of South Africa’s people.

Basil Read’s flagship project in this sector 
is Cosmo City – already a vibrant 
community of over 11 000 families 
enjoying affordable, quality homes 
surrounded by schools, churches, clinics, 
shopping centres and parks. By the end 
of 2012, Cosmo City will be home to 
some 60 000 residents. Similar projects 
are well along the regulatory approval 
process.

–  Five projects well advanced

–  First sales at Klipriver Business 

Park – pivotal Gauteng spine 

between Johannesburg, 

Meyerton and Ekurhuleni 

Revenue

R38,3 million
up 58,2% (2010: R24,2 million)

Operating profit

R9,1 million
up 94,8% (2010: R4,7 million)

Revenue

R930,7 million
up 16,1% (2010: R801,7 million)

Operating profit

R107,7 million
down 3,3% (2010: R111,3 million)

Engineering

Basil Read’s engineering division 
complements the activities of the 
group’s construction, mining and 
developments divisions, adding 
a wealth of specialised in-house 
expertise and experience. Within 
this division is TWP, a leading 
engineering project house with a 
track record of over US$20 billion 
in successful projects for global 
clients.

Drawing on a 1 200-strong team of 
skilled professionals, TWP provides 
a full range of civil and structural 
engineering, project management 
and architectural services, as 
well as electrical and mechanical 
engineering solutions.

This division meets growing demand 
for companies that offer turnkey 
services and specialist skills for 
construction projects.

–  Recovery in engineering 

business

–  Significant amount of new work 

across divisions

Revenue

R1,1 billion
up 67,7% (2010: R663,4 million)

Operating profit

R82,9 million
(2010: loss of R12,3 million)
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 2011 
 R’000 

 2010 
 R’000 

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

2007
R’000

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue  6 230 456  5 389 769  4 662 492  3 474 831  2 010 559 

Contracting  6 000 764  5 196 208  4 421 007  3 205 224  1 809 691 

Other  229 692  193 561  241 485  269 607  200 868 

Contracting and other costs  (5 044 751)  (4 237 060)  (3 766 044)  (2 794 383)  (1 602 509)

Other administrative and operating overheads  (651 556)  (522 838)  (283 435)  (220 229)  (165 738)

Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets  (267 039)  (221 325)  (183 197)  (145 038)  (71 546)

Other income/(expenses)  24 621  252  (578)  (1 844)  37 

Amortisation of intangible assets  (10 785)  (39 303)  (20 488)  (4 947)  (468)

Operating profit  280 946  369 495  408 750  308 390  170 335 

Impairment of goodwill  (32 403)  –  –  –  – 

Net finance (costs)/income  (36 007)  619  3 019  (12 314)  (6 030)

Profit before share of associates  212 536  370 114  411 769  296 076  164 305 

Share of (losses)/profits from jointly controlled entities  (2 957)  1 662  –  –  – 

Share of profit/(losses) from associates  6 708  (188)  10  85  15 

Profit before taxation  216 287  371 588  411 779  296 161  164 320 

Taxation  (81 580)  (119 370)  (140 869)  (90 319)  (46 678)

Net profit for the year  134 707  252 218  270 910  205 842  117 642 

Net profit for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the company  140 979  260 753  274 270  204 516  117 788 

Non-controlling interests  (6 272)  (8 535)  (3 360)  1 326  (146)

Net profit for the year  134 707  252 218  270 910  205 842  117 642 

STATISTICS

Earnings per share (cents)  113,88  210,63  317,15  265,44  159,18 

Diluted earnings per share (cents)  113,88  210,63  316,49  262,12  156,92 

Headline earnings per share (cents)  139,65  209,25  333,12  267,04  158,54 

Diluted headlines earnings per share (cents)  139,65  209,25  332,43  263,71  156,29 

Dividend per share (cents)  30,00  42,00  58,00  50,00  30,00 

Interest cover (times)  4,04  5,39  7,82  6,57  7,20 

Operating margin (%)  4,51 6,86 8,77 8,87  8,47 

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Five-year review
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 2011 
 R’000 

 2010 
 R’000 

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

2007
R’000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

Non-current assets  2 152 469  1 854 008  1 742 164  960 792  587 074 

Property, plant and equipment  1 166 213  873 390  781 855  761 470  489 021 

Intangible assets  799 995  843 183  832 667  143 907  41 486 

Other non-current assets  186 261  137 435  127 642  55 415  56 567 

Current assets  2 680 501  2 430 905  2 442 783  1 515 927  732 682 

Inventories  42 857  47 700  18 890  25 940  20 533 

Development land  398 686  351 938  280 718  54 734 – 

Contract debtors and retentions  1 308 188  898 323  813 170  448 967  243 210 

Other current assets  214 733  121 394  83 966  42 529  31 812 

Cash and cash equivalents  716 037  1 011 550  1 246 039  943 757  437 127 

Non-current assets held for sale  66 767  92 558 –  –  – 

 4 899 737  4 377 471  4 184 947  2 476 719  1 319 756 

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves  1 814 820  1 708 885  1 500 916  789 552  355 863 

Non-controlling interests  22 901  6 404  (1 212)  2 521  2 060 

Non-current liabilities  592 847  439 156  500 465  348 150  195 539 

Interest-bearing borrowings  519 234  337 658  350 852  264 249  149 443 

Other borrowings  19 649  26 188  79 357  38 811  27 432 

Other non-current liabilities  53 964  75 310  70 256  45 090  18 664 

Current liabilities  2 469 062  2 219 938  2 184 778  1 336 496  766 294 

Trade and other payables  1 079 938  970 223  997 903  688 906  445 712 

Amounts due to customers  513 315  583 399  484 581  335 894  87 410 

Interest-bearing borrowings  508 071  339 733  369 464  135 936  94 620 

Other current liabilities  305 430  293 689  308 596  175 760  136 196 

Bank overdraft  62 308  32 894  24 234 –  2 356 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets 

classified as held for sale  107  3 088 – – –

 4 899 737  4 377 471  4 184 947  2 476 719  1 319 756 

STATISTICS

Number of shares in issue (’000)  123 798  123 798  123 798  86 472  75 588 

Net asset value per share (cents)  1 465,95  1 380,38  1 212,39  913,07  470,79 

Tangible net asset value per share (cents)  819,74  699,29  539,79  746,65  415,91 

Current ratio (times)  1,09  1,10  1,12  1,13  0,96 

Return on shareholders’ interests (%)  8,00  16,25  23,95  35,71  42,90 

Return on total average tangible assets (%)  7,36  11,87  17,08  17,08  17,94 

Average price per share (cents) 1 265 1 270 2 475 2 475  2 544 

Debt equity ratio (times)*  0,29  0,21  0,29  0,38  0,49 

* Debt equity ratio is calculated using total non-current borrowings.

Bas i l  Read in tegr a ted annua l  repor t  2011
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A snapshot of our performance

Revenue 

+16%: R6,2 billion
(2010: R5,4 billion) 

Operating profit 

-24%: R281 million
(2010: R369 million)

Headline earnings per share 

-33%: 139,65 cents
(2010: 209,25 cents)

Order book at reporting date

+65%: R14 billion
(2010: R8,5 billion)

Sustainability highlights

Group carbon footprint 
determined. ISO 14001 
certification for all 
operating divisions.

Solid improvement 
in safety statistics 
and international 
certifications retained.

Annual investment in 
training and development 
is building a formidable 
pool of skills across the 
group.

Financial highlights
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Group structure

Operations

Construction Mining Engineering Developments

Roads Civils Buildings Mining Engineering Developments

– Earthworks

– Bridges

–  Roads and 
highways

– Airports

–  Supply and 
spraying of 
bitumen and 
related products

–  Township 
infrastructure

– Airports

– Bridges

–  Harbour and 
marine works

– Stadiums

– Industrial plants

– Pipelines

–  Retail and office 
complexes

–  Residential 
housing

–  Apartment  
blocks

–  Educational 
facilities

– Hospitals

–  Correctional 
facilities

–  Opencast 
contract mining

–  Mine spoils 
rehabilitation

– Bulk earthmoving

–   Thin, thick and 
multiple seam 
mining

–  Hard rock 
selective mining

–  Materials handling

–  Specialised drill 
and blast services

–  Engineer, procure, 
construct (EPC)

–  Engineer,  
procure, 
construction 
management 
(EPCM)

–  Build, own, 
operate, transfer 
(BOOT)

–  Plant, process and 
mine operation

–  Architectural 
design

–  Renewable energy

–  Property 
development

–  Housing schemes 
for low and 
middle-income 
earners

–  Public-private 
partnerships 
(PPPs)

Support

Plant Commercial Business development Human resources Finance

–  Plant acquisitions and 
disposals

– Plant maintenance

– Legal

– Group insurance

– Group SHEQ

–  Group commercial  
and risk

–  PPPs

– Special projects

–  International  
contracts

– Turnkey projects

– Energy

– Oil and gas

–  Shared services –
payroll

–  Bursary student 
management

–  HIV/Aids  
management

–  Group training and 
development

–  Group finance and 
treasury

–  Shared services –
finance

–  Investor relations 
and reporting

–  Information 
technology

–  Corporate finance
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Material issues

Key material issues and management responses are reviewed annually by the audit and risk committee, and shown below in no 

specific order.

2011 Key material issues

Skills 
shortages Energy Water Compliance Social 

responsibility
Safety and 

health

Skills shortages
Scarcity of key skills

Impact

–  Loss of expertise affects ability 

to complete contracts

–  Shortage of suitable candidates 

to meet black economic 

empowerment objectives 

Response

–  We have implemented a multi-

million rand training programme, 

focused on developing and 

retaining a world-class construction 

and engineering team

Page

84

Water
Scarcity and security of supply 

Impact

 – Shortages affect project deadlines

Response

–  Recycling and re-use initiatives are 

under way across the group

Page

93

Energy
Cost, outages, security of supply 

Impact

–  In five years, the cost of electricity 

has increased significantly

–  A one-day power outage costs the 

group in lost production

Response

–  By determining the group’s carbon 

footprint, we can set measurable 

targets for reducing our resource 

consumption 

Page

93

1 2 3
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Compliance
Licence to operate

Impact

–  Inability to tender on large 

projects

Response

–  Aiming to meet and exceed targets 

in the government’s empowerment 

scorecard as well as the 

construction sector scorecard

–  Maintain and improve our  

level 3 BBBEE status

Page

88

Safety and health
Duty of care

Impact

–  Loss of productivity, morale

Response

–  Focus on embedding world-class 

safety and health practices across 

the group

Page

90

Social responsibility
Corporate citizenship

Impact

–  Stakeholder activism can derail 

project deadlines

Response

–  Stakeholder engagement, 

corporate citizenship and ethical 

conduct are entrenched principles 

in our group

Page

83

Although each of Basil Read’s divisions has sector-specific 

risks, there are risks that apply to the entire group.

By consolidating our robust risk management process with 

feedback from stakeholders, we have identified the issues 

most material to the sustainability of our group.

4 5 6
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Engineering showcase

Impala Platinum 
Shaft 17 
South Africa
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BBuuillddiinnnnnngg ooonnnn iittss loooonnggggg----ssssssttttttaaaaannnndddddddddddddiiiinnnngg relationshhiipp wwiitth IImppaala 

PPPPPllllllaaaaaaaaatttttiinnnnuuuuuummmmmmm,,  TTWWWPPPPP iiiisssss  ccccccuuurrrrrrrrrrrrreeeeeeeeennnnnnnntttttttlllllyyyyyyyy mmmmmmmmmmmmmaanaging Impala’s 1177 ssshhhaaafffftttt – 

aarrgggguuuuuaaaaabbbbbblllyyyyy  ttttthhheeeee bbbbbbbbiiiiiiiggggggeeesssssstttt sssssshhhhhhhhhaaaaaaffffffftttttt--sssiiiiiinnnnnnkkkkkkkkkkkkiiiinnngg pprrojeecctt iinn tthe wwoorrllldddd tttoooodddaaayy 

aaaaaaaannnnnnnnndddddd oooonnnnnneeeeeeee oooofffff ttthhhhhheeee mmmmmmmoooooosssstttttt ccccccchhhhhhhaaallllleeeeeeennnnngggggggiiiiiinnnnnnnnnggg aand cccooommmppllex pprojeeccttttssss 

uuuuunnnnnnddddddddeeeerrrttttaakkkkeeeeeennnnnn bbbbbbyyyyy TTTTTTTTTTTWWWWWWWWWPPPPPPPP  iiiiinnnnnnnn iiiiiiittttttttssssss 333000000--yyyyyeeeeeeeeeeaaaaaarrr hhisttoory. DDDesppiittee tthe 

cccchhhaaalllllllllleeeeeeennnngggggggeee, tttttthhhhhheeeeee  pppppppprrrrrrooooooooojjjjjjjjjeeeeeeeccccttttt cccccccccccooooonnntttttiiinuuuuueeeeeeeeessssssssss  tttttttttttooooooooooooo rreeeeaaaacchh majoooorr  ssaaffeettyy 

mmmmmiiiilllllleeessstttooooonnnneeessss  ––––  rrrrrreeeeeeeaaaaaaaacccccchhhhhhhhhiiinngggggg oooonnnnneeeeee mmmmmmmiiiillllllllllllllliiiiiiiiooooooooonnnnnn ffattttaaallliiittttyyyyyy--fffffrreeeee hhourrss iinn 

MMMMMMMaaaaaaaaayyyyyyy 222200001111111111...
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Mining showcase

Jwaneng Mine 
Botswana
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Basil Read has worked on the Jwaneng contract for three 

yyyyyeeeaaarrrssss,,  ssssttttaaaarrrtttiiinnngggg wwwiiittthhh pppphhhhaaaasssseeee 1111 ooooffff tttthhhheeee mmmiiiinnneeee’’sss CCCCuuutttt 8888 – ddddrrriiiilllllllliiiinnngggg, 

blasttiiinnnnngggg aaannddd  lllooaadddiiinnggg aaaannnddd hhhaaaauuullliiinnnggg oovveerr  2200 mmilllliioonn tonnneess ooff 

wwwwwaaaaasssttttee ffooorrrr DDDeebbbbsswwwwaaaannnnaaaa DDDDiiiaaammmmoooonnnndddd CCCCCoooommmmmppaannnnyyyyyy... IIIInnnn 2222220000011111111, tttthhhheee gggrroouupp 

wwaaasss aaawwaarrrddddeeeeedddddddd aa fffuuurtthheeeeeeerrrrrr fififivvvvveeeeee---yyyyyyeeeeeeaaaaarrrr  mmmmmuuulllttttiiii-bbbbiiiillllllliiiiooonnn rrraaaaannnnndddddd ccconnttrrrrraaaaaccctttt 

ooonnn JJJJJJwwwwaaanneeeennnngg,, innn ppaaarrrtttnnneeerrrssshhhiiippp wwwwiiitttthhhh LLLLeeiiigghhttttoooonnn Innnnttteeerrrnnnnaaattiioonnnaall aaaannnnddd 

Bootthhaakkkggaaa BBBBuuuurrrrrrooowwww. UUUnnddddeer thiss ccontraact, thhhee paarrrttttnnershipp wiillll  

mmmmooovveeee  1155566 mmmiillliioooonn cccuubbbbiicc  mmmmmeettrreesss oooofff mmmaaaatteerriiaaall tttooo eexxpppaannddd tthhee 

mmmmmiiiinnniiinngggg pppppiiiiiittttt. 



18

Buildings showcase

Natalspruit Hospital
South Africa
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SSSSSSSSScccccccchhhheeeeedddddduuuuuuuuuullleeeeeedddddd  ffffffoooor ccccoooommmppppplllleeeeettttttttttiiiiiiiioooooonnnn iiiiiinnnnn JJJJJJJuuuuuuuulllllyyyyyyy 2222222220000000001111111222222,,, ttttttttttthhhhheeeeeee sssssttttttttaaaaaaaaaaaatttttttttttteeeeeeeeee-------oooooooooofffffffff---

tttttthhhhhhhhheeee---aaaaaaarrrrrrrttttttttt NNNNNNNNNaaaaatttttttttaaaaalllllllssssssspppppppprrrrrrrrrrruuuuuuuuuuuuiiitttttttt HHHHHHHHHHHoooosssspppppppppiiiiiiiiitttttttttttaaaaaaaaaalllllll iiiiisssssssss tttttttttthhhhhhhhheeeeeeeeeeee fififififififififififirrrrrrrrrrsssssssssssstttttttttt fffffffffffffuuuuuuuuuullllllllllllyyyyyyyyy iiiiinnnnnnttttttteeeeeeeeeegggggggggggrrrrrrrrrrrrraaaaaaaatttttttteeeeeeddddddddddd 

ffaaaaaaaaacccccciiiillllliiiittttyyyyyyyy oooooooffffffff iiiittttttttssssssss  kkkkkkkkiiiinnnnnnnnddd iiiiiinnnnnnnnn  SSSSSSooooouuuuuuuuutttttttttthhhhhhhhhh AAAAAAAAAAAfffffffffrrrrrrrriiiiiiiccccccccccccaaaaaaaaaaaa –––––– bbbbbbbbbbbooooooooaaaaaaassssttttttttiiiiiiinnnnnnnnggggggggg  aaaaaaaaaannnnnnn aaaaaaadddddddddvvvvvvvaaaaaannnnnnncccccceeeeeeeeedddddddddddd  

dddddddddaaaaaaaatttttttttaaaaaaaaaa mmmmmmmmmmmaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnaaaaaaaggggggggeeeeeeemmmmmmmmmmmeeeeeeeeennnnntttt aaaaaannnnnndddddddddd fffffffffuuuunnnnnnnncccccctttttttiiiiiioooooooonnnnnnnnnnnaaaaaaallllll ccccccccooooooonnnnnnttttttttttrrrrrrroooooolllll nnnnnnnneeeeeeettttttttwwwwwwwoooooorrrrrrrkkkkkkkkkkkiiiiiiinnnnnnngggggggggg 

ssssssssssyyyyyyyyyyssssssssttttttttttteeeeeeeeeeeemmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm...  AAAAAAAAAAAssssss ppppppppppaaaaaaaaarrrrrrtttttt oooooooooofffffff ggggggggoooooooovvvvvveeeeeeeeeeerrrrnnnnnnnmmmmmmeeeeennttttttt’’’ss eexxppaannddddeedd ppuuuuuubbbbblllliiiiiccc wwwwwwwwwooooorrrrrrrrrkkkkkkkkkkssssssss 

pppppppppprrrrrrrrooooooooogggggggggggrrrrrrrraaaaaaaammmmmmmmmmmmmeeeee,,,, ttttttttttthhhhhhhhheeee BBBBBBBBBBBaaaaaaaasssssssiiiiiillllll RRRRRRRRRRReeeeeeeeeeaaaaaaddddddddd ttttttteeeeeeeaaaaaaaammmmmmmmmm iiissss ccccccooooonsstttrrucccctttttiiiinnnnngggg aaa bbbbbuuuuuiiiillllldddddiiiinnnngggg  

ttttttttoooooooooooo ccccccchhhhhhhhhhhhaaaaaaaaaaalllllllllllllllleeeeeeeennnnnnnnnnnnngggggggggggggiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnggggggggggg aaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnndddddddddddd  ccccccccoooooommmmmmmmpppppppppllllleeeeeeexxxxxxx  ssssssppppppppeeeeeeccccciiiiiiififififififificccccccccccaaaaaaaaatttttttttiiiiiiooooooooonnnnnnnnnssss  wwwhhilee mmmmeeeeeeeeettttiiiiinnnnnggggggggggg ffffffaaaaaaarrrrrr----

rrrrreeeeeaaaaaaaccccccccchhhhhhiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnngggggggggg tttttttrrrrrrrrrraaaaaaaaaaiiiiiinnnnnnnnnniiiiiiinnnnngggggggggggg   aaaaannnnnnndddddddddd  ddddddddddddddeeeeeeeeeeeeevvvvvvvvvveeeeeeeeeeelllllooooppppmmmmmmmmmmmmmeeeeeennnnnnntttttttt cccccccrrrriiiiitttttteeerrrrriiiiiiiiiaaaaaaaaaaa. 
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Buildings showcase

Basil Read Campus 
Phase 2
South Africa
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TThhe seccoonndd pphhase of the group’s new homee ccoonttiinues thee 

green building concepts incorpoorraatteeddd iintooo pphhaassee 11. EEnnnergy 

efficiency, water re-use and recycled materials all ppllaayy aa part 

in this eco-friendly building. So does skkiilllls traansfer, uusiing 

dedicated multi-functional areas to train semi- andd unnsskkiilllleed 

workforces. 
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Our board

1 Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni (67)

Independent non-executive director, chairman

BSc (Building Science)  

(University of Cape Town)

Lester has numerous years’ experience in 

various roles at construction and property 

development companies, and was a founding 

member of Thebe Investment Corporation. 

He was appointed to the board in July 2006 

and as chairman in May 2009.

2 Marius Lodewucus Heyns (52)

Chief executive officer, managing director

BSc Civ Eng, PrEng, MSAICE

Marius has 33 years’ experience in the 

construction industry across the full 

spectrum of activities. He has held various 

executive management positions for leading 

public and private companies in the sector 

and was reappointed at Basil Read in 

October 2004 in his current position.

1 2

3 4

3 Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia (36) 

Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)

Donny has worked in finance for 18 years, 

seven of which were in the auditing 

profession. He joined Basil Read in 2001 

and is responsible for the group financial 

function. He was appointed chief financial 

officer in 2004 and financial director on 

the board of Basil Read in May 2009. In 

addition to his finance responsibilities, 

Donny was appointed as deputy chief 

executive officer in October 2010 in 

support of the CEO, specifically overseeing 

construction and developments.

4 Nigel Townshend (56)

Executive director

PrEng, BSc (Hons), MSAICE, FSAIMM,  

CEng, AMI, StructE, PCPM

Nigel immigrated to South Africa from the 

United Kingdom in 1978 with a degree in 

civil engineering from Loughborough 

University. In 1982, he founded TWP as a civil 

and structural firm, now the biggest EPCM 

(engineering, procurement and construction 

management) organisation in Africa. Nigel 

is chairman of TWP Holdings and was 

appointed to Basil Read’s board in 

January 2010.
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5 Charles Peter Davies (65)

Independent non-executive director

Charles spent his career in the insurance 

industry, retiring as chief executive officer 

of Norwich Holdings in 1999. He currently 

serves on various boards in a non-executive 

capacity. He was appointed to the board of 

Basil Read in July 2006.

6 Given Refilwe Sibiya (44)

Independent non-executive director

BCom, BAcc (Wits), CA(SA)

Given has over 20 years’ experience in 

the finance and consulting fields. After 

completing audit articles with KPMG, she 

joined Anglo American as an internal 

auditor. She entered the consulting arena 

in 1996 with Ebony Financial Services and 

continued consulting with 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo until 2007. Given 

is a director of Xabiso Chartered 

Accountants, a mid-sized audit firm 

providing external audit, consulting and 

forensics services and serves on the audit 

committee of the Media Development and 

Diversity Agency. She was appointed to the 

board of Basil Read in July 2009. 

7 Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba (51)

Non-executive director

BCom, BCompt (Hons) (Unisa), CA(SA), 

HDip Tax Law (University of Johannesburg)

Sango is a founding member of Amabubesi 

Investments (Pty) Ltd, and serves on the 

boards of listed companies and public-

sector entities. He was a founding member 

of SizweNtsalubaGobodo and Neotel. He 

was appointed to the board of Basil Read in 

July 2006.

8 Thabiso Alexander Tlelai (48)

Non-executive director

BCom (Memorial University of 

Newfoundland, Canada)

Thabiso is a founding member and director 

of Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd. He has 

been chief executive officer of The Don 

Group since acquiring a significant 

shareholding in 2000, and has been involved 

in the hotel industry for over 15 years. He 

is also a founding member and chairman of 

the Tourism Business Council of South 

Africa. He was appointed to Basil Read’s 

board in July 2006.

5

6 8

7



24

Management and executive directors of subsidiaries

1 Marius Lodewucus Heyns (52)

Chief executive officer, managing director

Résumé on page 22.

2 Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia (36)

Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

Résumé on page 22.

3 Nigel Townshend (56)

Executive director

Résumé on page 22.

4 Christopher John Erasmus (50)

Chief operating officer: Construction*

NHD Civil Eng, PR Techni Eng, PrCM

Chris has spent the past 29 years with the 

Basil Read group, holding various posts at 

senior level including managing director of 

the Roads & Civils division. Chris was 

appointed to his current position in the last 

quarter of 2010.

5 Antonie Fourie (40)

Managing director : Mining*

National Diploma: Civil Engineering

Antonie has 17 years’ experience in 

construction, 15 of which have been spent 

at Basil Read. He has experience in most 

construction arenas, including roads, civils, 

plant and mining. He was appointed to his 

current post in 2009.

6 Digby John Glover (41)

Managing director : Engineering*

BSc Eng (Mech), PrEng, GCC (Mines),  

PMP, MBA

Digby has been with the TWP group since 

2001, gaining extensive experience in many 

facets of planning, designing and running 

project management teams involved in coal, 

chrome and other mining activities. He was 

appointed to his current position in 2010.

4

5

6
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7 Kgomotso Bontle Sekgobela (31)

Executive director : business development*

Kgomotso’s experience in marketing and 

communication implementation is 

supplemented by over eight years’ 

experience in relationship management, 

business development and client service. 

He was appointed to his current position  

in 2009.

8 Erica Gretel Grace (50)

Executive director : Human Resources*

BA (Legal), LLB

Erica has over 20 years’ experience in 

human resources in a range of industries 

from mining and manufacturing to 

pharmaceutical and consulting engineering. 

For much of that time, she held senior 

positions (executive and director level), 

ranging from industrial relations to 

generalist HR. Erica was appointed to her 

current position in 2010.

9 Eugene du Toit (57)

Executive director : support services*

BSc Eng (Hons), Diploma in Arbitration

Eugene has 35 years’ experience in the 

industry, where he has held senior executive 

positions with some of the largest 

construction companies in South Africa. 

He joined Basil Read in 2006 and has held 

various senior posts.

* Appointed at subsidiary level

7

8

9
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Chairman’s statement

Dear stakeholder

Basil Read has grown at 66% per annum since 

the introduction of a new strategy and new 

management in 2005. In that time, the balance 

sheet has grown strongly, with capital 

reserves moving from R7 million to 

R1,8  billion.  At the start of the review 

period, the group had also outperformed all 

construction stocks – growing by 85% pa 

since 2005 and recording earnings per share 

growth of 65% pa from 2005 to 2009. At the 

end of the review period, these statistics were 

largely unchanged: Basil Read is weathering 

one of the worst periods in the construction 

industry in living memory.

Our people are arguably the greatest 

contributor to our ability to manage the 

challenges prevailing in our industry. They are 

unquestionably our single biggest asset. 

As retrenchments continue to characterise many 

industries, Basil Read has maintained its focus on 

retaining the skills that underpin our growth. 

Safeguarding our human capital is of 

paramount importance to the group and, for 

this reason, safety is both a core element and 

a strategic imperative. The group’s robust 

safety, health, environment and quality system 

is both a guide and measurement tool to 

achieving set standards in each of these areas.

We have long understood that our 

sustainability is intertwined with every aspect 

of our business. Accordingly, we are paying 

particular attention to embedding this 

concept into our strategy and our 

operations. Examples of our progress appear 

throughout this report.

Business environment
The global economic environment is again 

faced with volatile conditions and a degree of 

uncertainty, making it clear that the economic 

recovery will be protracted. Against this 

background, and exacerbated by the marked 

slowdown in infrastructural projects, local 

construction groups of every size have faced 

unprecedented headwinds. 

A strong order book and equally strong 

relationships with clients, suppliers and 

subcontractors, however, will enable the Basil 

Read group to manage these conditions 

effectively. This will be accompanied by 

stringent working capital management and 

fiscal discipline.

Construction charter
Basil Read’s performance against the 2009 

construction sector charter continues to 

show steady progress. The group is a true 

reflection of the demographics of South Africa, 

already exceeding longer-term empowerment 

targets in key categories such as economic 

interest and skills development. In all other 

areas, we are making solid strides towards 

compliance.

In common with most of the private sector in 

South Africa, we still face obstacles in reaching 

Vision
To build an international construction, 

engineering and related services group 

with a focus on emerging markets, 

operating in the mining, energy and 

infrastructure sectors.

Mission
Building legacies

Values
– Value our people

– Quality and service excellence

– Integrity, honesty and respect

– Professionalism and accountability

Over the past five years, Basil Read has grown at 
an annual rate of 66% – reflecting the benefits of 
prudent acquisitions and an appropriate strategy.

BBBEE scorecard rating

Level 3
Order book*

R14bn
*At reporting date
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our goals of real, sustainable economic 

empowerment in the areas of voting rights, 

management control and employment equity. 

Several initiatives are under way to address 

this, most notably the first TWP profit-share 

plan introduced during the year. This is being 

run as a pilot for the group.

Broad-based black economic 
empowerment 
In South Africa, Basil Read (Pty) Ltd and TWP 

Projects (Pty) Ltd, the group’s main South 

African operating companies, are now classified 

as level 3 broad-based black economic 

empowerment (BBBEE) contributors, and 

value-added suppliers, meaning companies are 

entitled to recognise 135% of the amount spent 

with these companies in calculating their 

procurement spend.

As noted, our goal of real, sustainable 

economic empowerment still faces significant 

challenges and we aim for continuous 

improvement in this regard. Our next goal is 

to attain level 2 status by 2013. 

Corporate governance
The group’s directors and senior management 

endorse the code of corporate practices and 

conduct set out in the King III report on 

corporate governance. Given the size of our 

group, and following a gap analysis conducted 

during the review period, the board believes 

Basil Read complies with this code as well as 

Summary
–  We have made excellent progress in 

implementing a number of key strategies

–  We apply the principles of King III in our 

governance practices

–  Basil Read Construction and TWP achieved 

an overall BBBEE level 3 rating

Lester Peteni

Chairman

with the Listings Requirements of the JSE 

Limited in all material respects. The group 

regularly reviews its corporate governance 

policies and practices and strives for 

continuous improvement. 

On 1 June 2011, Macquarie First South Capital 

(Pty) Ltd was appointed as the company’s 

sponsor on the JSE Limited.

On 5 April 2012, Enna Kruger resigned as 

company secretary of Basil Read.  We thank her 

for her valued contribution and loyal service 

to the group. Merchantec Capital (Pty) Ltd 

was appointed on 17 April 2012 as the new 

company secretary.

Outlook
In South Africa, 2011 marked another poor 

year for the entire construction sector. In 

contrast, in Africa, where the group presence 

is steadily expanding, average growth rates of 

6% – 8% are expected – much of this based 

on commodities.

While Basil Read has not been immune to 

lower industry margins and loss-making 

contracts, we believe the group has other 

factors working in its favour. These include 

an order book of R14 billion at the reporting 

date, a resurgent mining sector on the back 

of high commodity prices and judicious 

acquisitions in high-growth sectors such as 

renewable energy.

We are confident that the building blocks are 

in place for continued growth as the local 

construction industry recovers and 

international expansion initiatives gain traction.

Appreciation
The review period again tested the mettle of 

the Basil Read group. Results for the year, while 

disappointing in some financial aspects, do prove 

that Basil Read is home to a formidable group of 

people, ably led by Marius Heyns and his 

management teams. Under extremely difficult 

conditions, the group has emerged stronger and 

strategically focused on meeting its objectives.

In today’s complex environment, strategic focus 

is merely one element of a sustainable business. 

We also need to ensure that our operations are 

managed honestly and that our shareholders 

continue to be rewarded for their support. 

The sheer tenacity of this 7 000-strong team, 

and the constant support and counsel of my 

fellow board members, present a solid 

platform for Basil Read’s continued growth 

and development.

Lester Peteni

Chairman
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Chief executive officer’s review

For the 12 months to 31 December 2011, the 

Basil Read group recorded commendable 

achievements in one of the most difficult 

periods the construction industry has faced 

in decades. 

The year was characterised by fierce 

competition in the construction sector in the 

face of fewer projects and of lower value, 

widespread postponement of allocated 

contracts and a surplus of resources following 

the completion of numerous projects ahead of 

the 2010 FIFA World Cup. More positively, we 

are starting to see significantly more activity in 

power generation, mining and infrastructure 

and roads tenders are definitely increasing as 

various government agencies are tasked with 

urgently improving the condition of South 

Africa’s road network.

Overall, Basil Read fared relatively well, given 

our initiatives in recent years to develop and 

strengthen our speciality services and explore 

other markets. Importantly, the group ended 

the year with its strongest order book in 

nearly six decades and secured several major 

contracts during the year. By the reporting 

date, our order book had risen to R14 billion.

Our ongoing focus on containing our cost 

base and improving efficiencies has 

contributed significantly to the group’s ability 

to weather these conditions while retaining 

our skilled workforce – a decided advantage in 

this competitive market. 

Commendable achievements during the year 

included:

 – After almost a decade of preparation, Basil 

Read was part of the consortium 

announced as the preferred bidder on the 

R10 billion N1/N2 Winelands toll route in 

the Western Cape.

 – Basil Read was also awarded the R3,1 billion 

contract to build and operate the first 

airport on the Island of St Helena.

 – The quality of past work by Basil Read 

Mining secured a multi-billion rand contract 

in Botswana in joint venture with Leighton 

International.

 – Basil Read Construction is active on 

power-generation projects around the 

country, including Medupi and Kusile. These 

projects are playing a critical role in South 

Africa’s economic development, job creation 

and, most importantly, the ability to meet 

ever-increasing power demands.

Strategy
– Growth in international portfolio

–  Build on our proven ability to 

complete larger, more technically 

challenging projects

– Public-private partnerships

Basil Read has recorded commendable results in 
another difficult year for the construction industry.

Order book*

+65%
*Year-on-year growth at reporting date

Revenue

+16%
R6,2 billion
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 – The turnaround of TWP underscores the 

strategic value of this acquisition to our 

group as the mining and engineering 

markets solidify their recoveries. 

 – Basil Read Matomo is the amalgamation of 

Matomo Projects and Basil Read Turnkey 

Projects into an entity whose growing 

order book reflects its unique skills.

 – Basil Read Energy invested in Metrowind 

(Pty) Ltd, which has been announced as a 

preferred bidder for the supply of alternate 

energy by the Department of Energy and is 

in the process of developing a wind farm in 

the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan area.

 – Basil Read Energy submitted a Renewable 

Energy Feed-in Tariff (Refit) phase 2 bid for 

a solar powered development in Beaufort 

West, in conjunction with the BW Energy 

Corporation, which if successful could 

translate into a further R1,5 billion 

construction contract.

Performance review

Given the difficult trading conditions, results 

for the year are considered acceptable, albeit 

disappointing. Revenue increased 16% to 

Summary
–  Strongest order book ever

–  R14 billion at reporting date

–  Important contracts secured across 

southern Africa

–  Turnaround at TWP underscores strategic 

value of acquisition

R6,2 billion (2010: R5,4 billion) while operating 

profit dropped 24% to R281 million 

(2010: R369 million), translating into an 

operating margin of 4,5% (2010: 6,9%). 

Net profit after tax decreased by 47% to 

R135 million (2010: R252 million). Headline 

earnings were R172,9 million (2010: 

R259,1 million), a decrease of 33%.

Cash on hand at 31 December 2011 

decreased to R653,8 million (2010: 

R978,7 million) as the group continued to be 

hampered by increased working capital levels, 

mostly due to a significant increase in trade 

and other receivables and cash invested in 

capital expenditure on property, plant and 

equipment to the value of R212 million to 

sustain the growth of the business. 

The group’s order book – R14 billion by the 

reporting date, 65% higher than the 2010 

order book of R8,5 billion – includes some 

significant contracts secured during the 

period, most notably the St Helena airport, 

additional work in Botswana and the Olifants 

River pipeline contract. This is detailed in the 

operational review from page 36.

Strategy

Basil Read’s strategy was developed several 

years ago, understanding that the construction 

boom unfolding at that time could not last and 

that our sustainability rested on being able to 

withstand industry downturns. This three-tier 

strategy has served the group well in these 

challenging times:

 – International expansion – the group is now 

active in Africa, South America, Australia 

and St Helena.

 – Larger, more challenging and complex 

projects – Natalspruit Hospital is just one 

example of a multi-disciplinary project that 

the group is managing to successful 

completion. Shaft 17 for Impala Platinum is 

another key project. 

 – Public-private partnerships – Basil Read has 

built a solid reputation in this field, reflected 

in numerous hospitals, office blocks, toll 

roads and other infrastructure projects 

undertaken for the South African 

government and state departments. 

  The airport at St Helena is a good example 

of various facets of our strategy working 

together for our sustainability in a design, 

construct and manage principally with 

governments. 

Marius Heyns

Chief executive officer
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Late in the period, we also began the strategic 

review process to take our group to 2020. 

Essentially, our strategy is unchanged but – to 

thrive in a global market – we will be developing 

our strategic thrusts on a larger scale. 

Sustainability

We continue to embrace our responsibility as 

a corporate citizen. Our aim is to enhance the 

quality of life of those we employ and those 

touched by our operations – this focus on 

sustainability is evident throughout our 

operations, in our conduct and in our 

strategies for growth. 

We are equally committed to moving beyond 

legislative compliance in furthering South 

Africa’s transformation, and embedding global 

standards in our corporate governance. 

During the year, this was demonstrated in our 

improved black economic empowerment 

rating (page 88) and enhanced corporate 

governance and risk management processes 

(page 72 and 82). 

This commitment has become a framework 

for our corporate social investment initiatives 

to make a sustainable difference by 

empowering communities.

For six decades, Basil Read has operated as a 

family business. Six years ago, we aligned those 

family values with the triple bottom-line 

approach of reporting to stakeholders by 

integrating our economic, social and 

environmental performance in our integrated 

annual report.

This integrated annual report is again guided 

by the recommendations of King III, the Global 

Reporting Initiative (GRI) and the United 

Nations Global Compact. In many areas of 

sustainability and reporting to stakeholders, 

we continue to make progress.

In 2011, we have again declared our integrated 

annual report as level C, according to GRI 

guidelines. This means we report in more 

depth on 10 indicators, spread across 

economic, social and environmental 

performance. Given the group’s strong growth 

in recent years, we are still integrating 

acquisitions, standardising systems and 

platforms and, most importantly, getting to 

know the new stakeholders who are now part 

of the Basil Read family. This includes hundreds 

of new employees, communities in new 

geographic regions with different needs and 

priorities, and new local and provincial 

governments with different integrated 

development plans. 

We remain committed to embedding 

sustainability into every facet of our business, in 

line with our international peers, as we make 

Basil Read a truly global construction group.

Safety

In any competitive market, personal safety 

is often at risk in the drive for greater 

productivity and results. We believe this is 

both short-sighted and unsustainable because 

construction and engineering are both sectors 

inextricably founded on skills. 

We will not compromise the safety of our 

people. Accordingly, our safety training 

programme has now been implemented on 

52 sites around the country, and the health 

and safety function in the group gained new 

momentum during the year (page 90).

Competition Commission investigation 

into construction sector

The group continues to engage with the 

Competition Commission and the outcome is 

unknown. The group has however raised a 

provision for a possible penalty. Basil Read 

continues to cooperate fully with the 

commission.

All senior and middle managers completed an 

e-learning course during the year on new 

competition law, reinforcing our commitment 

to conducting our business responsibly.

Our people

A major challenge in the construction sector 

at present is availability of skills, especially 

employees willing to work in Africa. 

Accordingly, we are nurturing and developing 

the talent we have in the organisation by 

employing the right skills, and focusing on 

training – making personal growth in the 

group a reality. 

We continue to believe that the future of our 

industry and South Africa’s sustained growth 

as a global player rely on the exchange of skills 

and transfer of accumulated knowledge that 

comes with experience. Numerous studies 

have also demonstrated that a well-

implemented and facilitated training 

programme with a clear career path creates 

job satisfaction among young professionals and 

aids employee retention, while helping these 

individuals become more efficient and effective 

– and addressing the future skills need of the 

construction sector. The full-spectrum training 

programmes offered by the group are proving 

invaluable in this respect (page 84). 

Prospects

The economic uncertainty that has 

characterised the trading environment for the 

past couple of years prevails. The group 

continues to monitor developments in the 

global economy and the potential impact on 

local conditions.

The President’s recent State of the Nation 

address once again affirms government’s 

commitment to infrastructural spend and 

certainly this bodes well for the sector as a 

whole. The group remains cautiously optimistic 

given the significant delays in the roll-out of 

projects in recent years.

Fundamentals in the construction sector 

remain challenging with a real recovery only 

expected from 2013 onwards. Against this 

background, Basil Read remains committed to 

continued expansion, underpinned by a strong 

order book. The group has secured a number 

of key projects which will sustain performance 

until a real recovery in the sector becomes 

reality.

As a sector, operating performances in 

construction are likely to continue to be 

affected by high cost increases and greater 

competition. To counter the difficult 

conditions, the group is concentrating on 

retaining skills, maximising efficiencies and 

maintaining capacity for the eventual 

turnaround.
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Construction opportunities exist within the 

rest of Africa particularly due to the inflow of 

funding from international sources. The group 

will continue to pursue contracts on the 

African continent within its defined set of risk 

parameters, which include the certainty of 

committed funding for the contract in 

question and upfront payments.

The mining industry should remain buoyant 

through 2012. Demand is outstripping supply 

in most commodities and, compounding this, 

many projects have to be executed to replace 

mining output, let alone increase it. The 

chosen geographies of South America, Africa 

and Australasia should all record significant 

growth over the year. Infrastructure 

development, on the back of mining activity, 

is expected to be significant, particularly in 

developing countries.

Key to the ongoing success of the group will 

be the effective management of working 

capital and a commitment to the reduction 

of debt. Delayed payment from mostly 

government clients has put pressure on cash 

flow, but the group is working closely with 

these clients to resolve issues.

The group remains cautious about the year 

ahead and will remain prudent in managing the 

uncertainty and volatility, backed by an 

effective management structure and loyal 

workforce.

Appreciation 

Basil Read is fortunate to have people of such 

exceptional calibre and loyalty at every level of 

the organisation. This is reflected every year in 

the number of employees receiving long 

service awards that have now reached the 

stellar level of 50 years with the group. This 

loyalty in turn reflects the family spirit that is 

the hallmark of this group and which we 

deeply appreciate.

Across our fast-growing group, we have 

management teams that continue to thrive 

on challenges, set new standards and lead by 

example.

Our senior management team is a competitive 

advantage in this industry – years of expertise 

blending seamlessly with fresh thinking and 

innovation to keep our group on a solid 

growth path. Behind this team is a board of 

directors, under the capable leadership of 

Lester Peteni, which continues to offer 

valuable counsel and insight. 

The support of our suppliers in both the 

public and private sectors, and relationships 

strengthened over decades, continues 

unabated as we work towards common goals. 

My sincere thanks to every person – on every 

project, and in every region – who plays a role 

in our progress.

Marius Heyns

Chief executive officer
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Financial director’s report

The year under review was challenging on 

many fronts as we tried to balance our 

ambitious growth goals with effective working 

capital management and improved fiscal 

discipline. Trading conditions remained difficult 

and were exacerbated by delayed payments 

from mostly government clients which placed 

strain on available cash resources within the 

construction division.

The award of the contract to construct an 

airport on St Helena Island presents unique 

challenges particularly relating to procurement 

and logistics, compounded by the multi-

currency aspects of the contract. While we 

are confident that these challenges can be 

successfully overcome, we are mindful of the 

need for continuous improvement relating to 

internal controls, policies and procedures and 

financial discipline.

Financial results

Reported results were in line with 

expectations with revenue increasing by 

16% and operating profit down by 24%. 

Containment of costs will be of paramount 

importance in the coming financial year and 

the group is currently in the process of 

interrogating business processes in order to 

streamline procedures as a means of realising 

cost savings. 

Divisional results were mixed with stellar 

performances by the mining and engineering 

divisions being overshadowed by depressed 

results in the construction division. Exceptional 

end of site losses in the construction division in 

the amount of R115 million have been raised in 

the year under review. These provisions relate 

primarily to three loss-making contracts 

comprising a railway construction project in the 

Northern Cape, a roads contract in the Free 

State and a roads contract in Botswana. The 

group currently has claims against certain of 

these losses but due to the uncertain nature of 

the outcome of these claims, no provision has 

been made for any potential recovery.

Margins on existing construction contracts are 

expected to remain under pressure in the 

coming year with newly awarded contracts 

yielding improved returns.

Sustainable growth
–  Reviewing business processes to 

reduce costs

–  Working capital management being 

enhanced in tandem with prudent 

resource allocation

We are balancing ambitious goals with effective 
working capital management and improved fiscal 
discipline.

Debt:equity

29,7%
using total non-current borrowings

Headline earnings

-33%
per share
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Earnings for the year decreased by 45,9% to 

R141,0 million (2010: R260,8 million) with 

headline earnings decreasing by 33,3% to 

R172,9 million (2010: R259,1 million). 

Adjustments to headline earnings include the 

impairment of goodwill as detailed below.

The group impaired intangible assets in the 

current year with the write-down of 

goodwill relating to the acquisition of 

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd. 

The poor financial performance of Sladden 

in the 2011 financial year coupled with 

value-in-use calculations determined from 

cash flow projections based on financial 

budgets approved by management led to an 

impairment charge of R32,4 million being 

recognised. 

Results were also impacted by the 

amortisation of intangible assets which was at 

a level of R10,8 million. Intangible assets are 

raised at the time of acquisition and comprise 

standard accounting entries relating to the 

future benefits that are expected to accrue to 

the group from contracts that exist at the 

time of acquisition. A valuation is performed 

Summary
–  Challenging year but boosted by significant 

contracts secured

–  Results in line with expectations

–  Focus on containing costs

on all contracts that the acquired company 

has secured at the time of acquisition. This 

valuation considers inter alia the expected 

profits that the contract is expected to 

generate after taking working capital, plant and 

staff costs into account. The resultant value 

gives rise to an intangible asset that is 

amortised over the life of these contracts.

The expected amortisation of intangibles 

charge for the 2012 financial year is 

R2,2 million.

The group’s effective tax rate was 

unacceptably high at a level of 37,7% 

(2010: 32,1%), mostly due to losses incurred 

in Sladden for which the group did not realise 

a tax benefit. Efforts in coming years to return 

Sladden to profitability will enable the group 

to utilise the recorded tax losses to reduce 

the effective tax rate. 

The group’s profitability has decreased in 

recent years as evidenced by the declining 

return on shareholders’ interests which has 

decreased from 42,9% in 2007 to 8% for 2011. 

The group has raised capital in recent years to 

fund various acquisitions and has been 

negatively impacted by the marked slowdown 

in the construction sector. As the recovery 

gains traction, we expect these returns to 

improve.

Cash on hand at the reporting date was 

R653,8 million, down from the 2010 level of 

R978,7 million. Operating cash flows were 

negatively impacted by increases in working 

capital requirements largely due to delayed 

payments from certain clients. A significant 

portion of the group’s cash remains tied up 

in its property portfolio, which comprises 

land held for both residential and industrial 

developments. While the recovery in the 

residential property market has yet to gain 

momentum, sentiment in the industrial 

space is improving. The group recorded its 

first sale of stands at the Klipriver Business 

Park in the year under review and the 

number of enquiries is encouraging. The 

group expects to realise additional sales in 

the year ahead.

Donny Gouveia

Financial director
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The group made a significant investment in 

property, plant and equipment in the 2011 

financial year comprising both replacement 

and expansionary capital expenditure. A total 

of R647,9 million was spent on acquiring new 

assets of which R211,9 million was funded 

with the group’s own cash resources. The 

remaining R436,0 million was funded through 

instalment sale agreements. Replacement 

capital expenditure for the 2012 year is 

budgeted at R200 million. Expansionary capital 

expenditure may be required dependent on 

the award of new contracts. 

Debt levels increased by 30,4% to R1,0 billion 

(2010: R802,7 million), despite a net 

repayment of debt of R174,9 million. The 

increase in debt is largely as a result of the 

increase in asset-backed finance as detailed 

above as well as an increase in additional 

notes issued under the group’s domestic 

medium-term note programme totalling 

R125 million. The additional notes were raised 

as a result of the strain placed on available 

working capital by the delay in receipt of 

payments from clients coupled by the need to 

fund loss-making contracts. For the first time 

in a number of years, the group is reporting a 

net debt position amounting to R393,3 million 

with the debt equity ratio at 29,7%. The year 

ahead will be characterised by more stringent 

working capital management with the aim of 

reducing debt levels.

Corporate activity

On 1 January 2011, the group disposed of 

100% of Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd for 

a sale consideration of R94 million. The 

company was a property owning company and 

the group realised a profit on disposal of 

R4,5 million.

The group acquired a 35% share in Metrowind 

(Pty) Ltd, a provider of alternative energy 

sources, for an amount of R10 million. 

Metrowind has been announced as a preferred 

bidder for the supply of alternate energy by 

the Department of Energy and is in the 

process of developing a wind farm in the 

Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan area, which 

should realise a R450 million EPC contract for 

the group.

On 1 June 2011, the group disposed of 30% of 

its stake in Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd 

to a local BEE partner. The sale consideration 

was R2,0 million and the transaction resulted 

in the recognition of a gain on transactions 

with non-controlling interests of R0,4 million.

On 30 September 2011, the group bought the 

remaining 12,5% of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd 

for no consideration, realising a loss on 

transactions with non-controlling interests of 

R3,2 million. Subsequent to this acquisition, 

the group disposed of 50% of the company to 

WSP (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of 

R5,7 million. Due to the recovery of 

previously recognised losses, the group 

recorded a profit of R33,1 million and the 

renamed entity, TWSP  (Pty) Ltd, was 

reclassified as a jointly controlled entity. The 

group’s new partner, WSP (Pty) Ltd is one of 

the world’s largest design, engineering, 

environment and energy consultancies with 

9 000 staff in 200 offices across 35 countries.
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On 31 December 2011, TWP disposed of its 

74% share in TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd for no 

consideration, realising a loss on disposal of 

R13,1 million.

During the year, the group advised 

shareholders of two possible transactions. 

The first related to negotiations with a 

potential black economic empowerment 

partner and the second to a possible 

acquisition of 52% of Central Systems (Pty) 

Ltd, an Australian-based civil engineering 

company. Both of these transactions were 

terminated prior to successful conclusion.

No significant corporate activity is planned for 

the 2012 financial year.

Share-based payment

During the year under review the group 

expensed R0,5 million relating to costs 

pertaining to the employee share scheme 

under IFRS 2. The remaining charge relating to 

all issued options amounts to R0,7 million 

which will be amortised over the next two 

years according to the options’ respective 

vesting periods. 

Dividends

Due to the difficult trading environment and a 

need to retain working capital, the board of 

directors has resolved not to declare a 

dividend. 

In closing

The 2011 financial year was challenging for the 

group mostly as a result of the difficult trading 

environment in the construction sector. 

With the focus on delivering results and the 

optimisation of allocating tight cash resources, 

the support divisions have had to endure 

additional burdens in the year under review. 

I would like to thank each and every member 

of these divisions for their unwavering 

commitment to achieving the group’s goals.

For me personally, the year has been one of 

growth as I have embraced my additional 

responsibilities as deputy chief executive 

officer while continuing to administer the 

finance functions within the group. I am 

pleased to announce that I am making good 

progress in grooming my successor as financial 

director and further announcements in this 

regard will be made in due course.

As part of our continuous improvement 

project with regard to communication and 

disclosure to all stakeholders, we would 

welcome your views and suggestions. 

Feedback can be sent to  

communications@basilread.co.za.

Donny Gouveia

Financial director
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Our divisions and operations

Construction
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A look at construction

Construction
Roads
Civils
Buildings

Chris Erasmus
Chief operating officer : Construction
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Key contracts over the last year
–  Four-year contract to construct and operate 

an airport on St Helena Island awarded at 

project value of R3,1 billion.

–  Olifants River pipeline project for Trans-

Caledon Tunnel Authority.

–  All building work for Kusile Power Station 

consisting of approximately 70 buildings for 

Eskom.

–  Main civil engineering works for Ngezi 

Mining Concentrator Project.

–  Preferred bidder (in a consortium) for  

N1/N2 toll road contract.

The review period was challenging for the 

group’s largest division as a result of current 

market conditions amid fierce competition. 

The construction market is flooded with 

resources, both plant and people, which were 

built up for the increased infrastructure 

associated with the 2010 FIFA World Cup. 

While the year was notable for fewer tenders 

being submitted at lower values, Basil Read 

secured the Olifants River pipeline project, 

valued at R1,2 billion. With fewer tenders on 

offer, and significant pressure on margins, the 

challenge is to secure new work at acceptable 

margins and keep resources occupied.

Given depressed local conditions, there has 

been a natural progression from South Africa 

to other parts of Africa, where the need for 

quality construction groups is high.  At present 

Basil Read is exploring niche markets with 

long-term prospects in infrastructural spend 

in Africa. With secured contracts in Botswana, 

Namibia, Zimbabwe and the Democratic 

Republic of Congo and offices established in 

Zambia and Mozambique, the group is actively 

tendering for projects in Africa, where there 

are a number of public and private work 

opportunities.

The construction division contributed 66% of 

group revenue and 29% of group operating 

profit. For the review period, revenue was 

R4,1 billion (2010: R3,9 billion) with operating 

profit at R81,3 million (2010: R265,8 million). 

Operating margin decreased to 2,0% (2010: 

6,8%). The divisional order book at year-end 

was R7,7 billion.

Despite solid growth in the division, margins 

have been affected due to a number of 

loss-making contracts, particularly in the roads 

sector, which has historically been one of the 

group’s key performers. While these expected 

losses have been fully accounted for in the 

results to December 2011, opportunity for 

recovery through negotiation and dispute 

resolution is possible in the coming year.

N1/N2 Winelands project, 

Western Cape

Basil Read, in consortium with two other 

construction groups, has been the scheme 

developer on this project and was announced 

as the preferred bidder during the year.  The 

project has been delayed due to legal action 

opposing the project brought by the City of 

Cape Town.

What we do:

–  The group’s construction division houses civil 

engineering, roads and building operations.

Contribution to group revenue

Construction 

66%
Major contributor to group revenue, with 

year-on-year growth
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Department of Water Affairs; and phase 2 

– bulk water transfer pipelines and a storage 

reservoir to supply bulk water for domestic 

and mining use in Limpopo province.

The scope of work to be undertaken by Basil 

Read includes some 40km of welded steel 

pipeline delivering 49 million cubic metres per 

annum to the terminal reservoir at 

Groothoek; one pump station at Steelpoort 

for both the Olifants River project and the 

existing Lebalelo scheme; cathodic protection 

to the pipelines; and related works such as 

access roads, road deviations, operations 

centre, electrical, hydro-mechanical and 

instrumentation works. Construction began in 

mid-March 2012 and is expected to take place 

over a 21-month period.

Phases 2C and 2H, Olifants River water 

resources development project

Subsequent to year-end, Basil Read was 

awarded a R1,2-billion contract to construct 

phases 2C and 2H of the Olifants River Water 

Resources Development Project by the 

Trans-Caledon Tunnel Authority (TCTA). 

TCTA is a state-owned organisation that 

finances and implements bulk raw water 

infrastructure, and has facilitated a number of 

key water projects in South Africa, including 

the Berg Water Project, the Lesotho Highlands 

water project and the Mooi-Mgeni transfer 

scheme.

The overall Olifants River water resources 

development project encompasses two phases, 

namely: phase 1 – the De Hoop Dam, 

currently under construction by the 

Outlook for 2012

Early in 2012, the South African market 

appears to be more buoyant, with both 

provincial and national government putting 

more work out to tender. Basil Read will 

concentrate on balancing state, private and 

cross-border work, and securing new projects 

at reasonable margins.

Work secured to date for 2012 in the 

construction division indicates a solid 

year-on-year increase in turnover, although 

we expect competition to remain robust as 

companies seek more work. As such, Basil 

Read Construction will be selective in 

participating in tenders.

Construction
Roads
Civils
Buildings
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It was a challenging period for this division 

after three stellar years in buoyant market 

conditions. In addition to unseasonal rainfall 

and fuel and bitumen shortages, margins were 

under pressure as participants competed to 

secure work. To counter these conditions, 

Basil Read concentrated on retaining skills, 

maximising efficiencies and maintaining 

capacity for the eventual turnaround. The 

ongoing shortage of bitumen supply remains a 

challenge. Delayed payment from mostly 

government clients has put pressure on cash 

flow, but we are working closely with these 

clients to resolve issues.

Performance in the division has been supported 

by the ongoing Gauteng Freeway Improvement 

Project contracts, particularly the D1 and D2 

packages in Pretoria, which are nearing 

completion, and the N12 (Jet Park to Tom 

Jones) package which continues into 2012. The 

team on the N12 project in particular has been 

recognised for its excellent work and a number 

of innovative construction techniques.

N9 upgrade – Colesberg to Wolwefontein

Basil Read in joint venture with Newport 

Construction secured a R300 million 

Sanral contract to rehabilitate and upgrade a 

section of national route 9 between 

Wolwefontein and Colesberg, including a new 

N1/N9 interchange at Colesberg. The project 

started in March 2011 and progress to date 

has been excellent. The expected completion 

date is September 2013.

Postmasburg railway line

The group’s first railway contract with 

Transnet included the civils and earthworks 

with associated roads and drainage structures 

for the 33km stretch of railway near 

Postmasburg, Northern Cape. This is the first 

new rail line constructed by Transnet in 

20 years and presented several technical and 

logistical challenges, including extreme 

weather and availability of water for 

construction. The project was completed in 

November 2011.

Kroonstad to Vredefort road

The division secured the contract to 

rehabilitate and repair a 73km stretch of road 

between Kroonstad and Vredefort in 2010. 

The contract is valued at around R306 million 

and was scheduled to take 24 months to 

Contribution to group revenue

Roads 

38%
Core operation in the group

Roads
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What we do
 –  Basil Read Roads, with its skilled teams, is a 

leader in high-profile road contracts in 

southern Africa.

–  Roadcrete Africa is well established as a 

low-cost, high-quality producer in the road 

infrastructure arena.

–  Newport Construction, one of the Eastern 

Cape’s fastest-growing and empowered civil 

engineering contractors, is known for the 

quality of its construction work.

–  SprayPave supplies and sprays top-quality 

bituminous products for Basil Read and 

other leading construction companies in 

Africa. 

–  Sladden International, operating since 1963, 

is a respected civil engineering contractor 

based in Francistown, Botswana.

been an excellent example of managing local 

resources to meet contractual obligations. 

Railway line construction, Sierra Leone

Basil Read was awarded a US$46 million 

contract in Sierra Leone to construct 35km of 

formation of a 120km railway line to a new 

iron ore mine at Tonkolili. The mine is being 

developed by African Minerals Limited and the 

completed railway line will transport ore to 

the coast for export. This contract was 

completed in the year under review and the 

division is currently negotiating the final 

account with the client.

Newport Construction

Over the past eight years, Newport 

Construction (70% held by Basil Read) has 

developed a solid reputation in the Eastern 

Cape for the quality of its work. This is 

reflected in a growing portfolio of completed 

contracts – spanning mass earthworks, 

roadworks, bridge construction, infrastructure 

development and industrial projects – that 

have surpassed client expectations. 

complete. Following contractual difficulties 

with the provincial government (now being 

administered by national treasury), works on 

the contract were suspended, with only stop/

go facilities remaining to ensure safety and 

access. Discussions with the client are ongoing 

to resolve all outstanding issues.

Ermelo to Morgenzon road

In October 2010, the division was awarded 

the R215,7 million contract to rehabilitate and 

repair roads between Ermelo and Morgenzon 

in the province. The contract is divided into 

two sections, each consisting of 20,4km of 

road. This project has run without incident 

since inception. The first phase was handed 

over in January 2012 with the final phase 

handed over in March 2012. 

Gobabis-Otijenene road

By year-end 2011, work on upgrading the 

surface standards of the R400 million, 160km 

Gobabis-Otijenene road was close to 

complete (due May 2012). Additional works 

were recently awarded, which will extend the 

term of this contract. Overall, this project has 

Newport Construction is one of the 

fastest-growing civil engineering contractors in 

the Eastern Cape. The company’s status as a 

level 4 BBBEE contributor underscores the 

focus on transferring skills to SMME 

subcontractors and previously disadvantaged 

individuals as well as growth and development 

opportunities for all Newport Construction 

employees.

Roadcrete Africa

Roadcrete secured its biggest contract of the 

year when it was awarded a section of 

national route 9 from Alexanderfontein to 

Petrusburg, valued at R253 million. The 

company is also working on a section of 

route 71 between Tzaneen and Gravelotte.

Piet Retief – N2 section 33

Roadcrete was awarded a R100 million, 

14-month contract for major rehabilitation 

and reconstruction of a section of national 

route 2 from the KwaZulu-Natal/Mpumalanga 

border to Piet Retief.
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In the prior year, the company upgraded its 

facilities to include a fully calibrated 

weighbridge, and state-of-the-art emulsion 

plant with CSIR (South Africa’s Council for 

Scientific and Industrial Research) and SRT 

(Static Roll Threshold) certification. 

A complete operational upgrade of the 

existing plant and manufacturing facility has 

enabled SprayPave to manufacture all the 

products it currently supplies in-house for 

optimal quality control. The upgrade has also 

improved lead times and efficiencies, while 

retaining its competitive pricing structures. 

Sladden International Botswana

Sladden International was acquired by Basil 

Read in 2010 to enhance the group’s civil 

engineering capabilities in Africa. Sladden is a 

respected civil engineering contractor based 

in Francistown, Botswana. Founded in 1963, 

the Sladden name has become synonymous in 

that country with quality of delivery, timely 

completion of contracts and exceptional 

technical expertise.

Bultfontein to Wesselsbron

Roadcrete Africa was awarded the contract to 

repair and rehabilitate the Bultfontein to 

Wesselsbron road (an 18,2km turnkey 

project).The R166 million contract will take 

12 months to complete. Following contractual 

difficulties with the provincial government 

(now being administered by national treasury), 

works on the contract were suspended, with 

only stop/go facilities remaining to ensure 

safety and access. Discussions with the client 

are ongoing to resolve all outstanding issues.

SprayPave

SprayPave, which celebrated its 30th 

anniversary in 2011, became part of the group 

in 2006. The Gauteng-based company offers 

world-class technology to a broad base of 

customers throughout sub-Saharan Africa 

through a fleet of bitumen distributors, fitted 

with the technically advanced Spraybar 

systems, and bitumen haulers.

SprayPave supplies and sprays top-quality 

bituminous products for Basil Read and other 

leading construction companies. It also 

supplies products into Africa, including 

Mozambique and Zambia. 

The company’s client base includes the 

Botswana government, Debswana, African 

Copper and Tati Nickel Mine. It has also 

maintained a presence in the prestigious 

diamond mines of Jwaneng and Orapa since 

1977. Extensive works through southern 

Africa include diverse projects such as: 

roadwork on the Kariba Dam project in 

Zimbabwe, full infrastructure development in 

Lusaka, Broken Hill and Kitwe in Zambia and 

the port at Selima on Lake Malawi.

During the year, Sladden was awarded a 

R41 million contract from Botswana Ash to 

develop 12 wells, south of the Sau Pan Spit.

Nata to Pandamatenga road

The project is for the reconstruction of 

135km of road between Nata and 

Pandamatenga in Botswana. Sladden has 

overcome the challenge of obtaining crushed 

stone base and production has improved with 

60km open to traffic and completion targeted 

by the end of the 2012 financial year.

Roads
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Key contracts over the last year
–  South Africa: R300 million contract for Sanral 

to rehabilitate a section of national route 9.

–  South Africa: Construction of a 33km 

stretch of railway near Postmasburg in the 

Northern Cape for Transnet.

–  South Africa: R470 million contract to 

rehabilitate and repair a section of road 

between Kroonstad and Vredefort and a 

section between Bultfontein and Wesselsbron 

for Free State roads department.

–  South Africa: Technically challenging D1 and 

D2 projects, and N12 upgrade contract, all part 

of the Gauteng Freeway Improvement Project

–  South Africa: R220 million contract for 

rehabilitation and repair of roads between 

Ermelo and Morgenzon in Mpumalanga.

–  Namibia: R400 million contract to upgrade 

the surface standards of the 160km 

Gobabis-Otijenene road.

–  Botswana: Challenging contract as part of 

the Nata Kazungula Road Reconstruction 

Project. 
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 Basil Read’s civil engineering division operates 

on a project basis primarily in South Africa and 

neighbouring countries. Worldwide, the 

division pursues projects where it has the 

required capacity and experience. Its range of 

activities includes concrete structures, water 

and fluid storage and transport, marine 

construction, and design.

The civils division faced similar issues to the 

roads division. However, recent initiatives to 

broaden both the geographic scope and depth 

of management in this division paid off during 

a difficult year, reflected in the number of 

infrastructural projects in the pipeline and a 

strong, and growing, order book. 

Port of Durban container terminal

Re-engineering work on the flagship contract 

in Durban was completed at the end of 2011. 

Turnover of the combined harbour contracts 

now exceeds R1 billion.

Sunderland Ridge waste water 

treatment works

In 2010, the division secured the R172 million 

civil works contract to extend total treatment 

capacity of the Sunderland Ridge waste water 

treatment works by around one third. The 

initial project term of 16 months had to be 

extended as the site was covered by 

waste-water sludge which had to be removed 

before construction could begin and more 

existing services had to be relocated than 

anticipated. This is a technically challenging 

project that has required the construction 

team to develop innovative solutions while 

maintaining quality standards at the highest 

levels. 

Medupi ash dump and dams

In the prior year, the division secured Eskom’s 

R516 million contract to construct ash dumps, 

dams and other miscellaneous infrastructure 

at its Medupi power station. This is expected 

to take 19 months to complete. The group 

was also awarded the clarifiers contract, 

valued at R132 million. 

Contribution to group revenue

Civils 

16%
Growing component of a multi-

disciplined group

Key contracts over the last year
–  South Africa: R516 million contract for the 

construction of Medupi ash dumps and 

dams and related infrastructure for Eskom.

–  South Africa: Construction of clarifiers at 

Medupi power station for Eskom valued at 

R132 million.

–  South Africa: R430 million infrastructure 

project for the Port of Durban’s Pier 2.

–  South Africa: Construction of three mainline 

toll plazas as part of the eastern extension of 

the N17 route.

–  South Africa: R172 million civil works 

contract to extend the Sunderland Ridge 

waste water treatment works.

–  Zimbabwe: 12-month contract for the main 

civil engineering works for Zimbabwe 

Platinum, with a contract value in excess of 

US$20 million.

–  Democratic Republic of Congo: 

Construction of process plant and mine 

infrastructure at Kansuki Copper Mine

 

What we do:

–  Basil Read’s civil engineering division operates on a project 

basis primarily in South Africa and neighbouring countries.
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Ngezi mining concentrator plant, 

Zimbabwe

The division’s first cross-border contract for 

client, Zimplats, was secured in the prior year. 

The contract involves the main civil 

engineering works on the Ngezi mining 

concentrator project. Construction is 

expected to take 12 months, and the project 

is running smoothly.

The Valente Brothers group

Established in 1948, Valente has built a solid 

reputation in the civil engineering construction 

sector, specialising in constructing bulk 

infrastructure, specifically pipeline 

infrastructure and pipe jacking. 

Kusile civil works 

In 2010, the division continued its joint 

venture on the R5,4 billion (Basil Read’s share 

R1,4 billion) Kusile power station, next to 

Kendal power station in the eMalahleni 

(formerly Witbank) area of Mpumalanga. 

Kusile’s expected capacity will be 4 800MW, 

with the first unit planned for commercial 

operation in 2013. 

N17 toll plazas

The group’s sites on the N17 were expanded 

in 2010 with the contract to construct the 

civil and structural components of the 

Leandra, Trichardt and Ermelo toll plazas 

complex – a 24-month contract in 

Mpumalanga province valued at around 

R175 million. Work is substantially complete 

with the Ermelo Plaza handover planned for 

the end of May 2012.

Valente’s landmark contracts include the first 

potable water pipeline to Sun City; 42km 

of 1 000mm diameter pipeline for the 

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry 

– one of the largest potable water projects of 

the late 1990s; moving large bulk services for 

the Gautrain project’s airport link; and over 

120km of bulk pipelines for the Arabie Dam 

bulk water supply scheme.

Valente’s new empowerment company, 

Phambili Pipelines, secured its first major 

contracts during the year. This included an 

11-month contract to construct pipelines and 

a dam from Rand Water, valued at R35 million. 

Valente has also established Tubo Jacked 

Pipelines, a specialist pipe-jacking operation.

Civils

A look at construction CONTINUED
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In its second full year after the successful 

integration of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, this 

division has entrenched itself as an innovative 

and integrated construction solutions provider 

with a number of prestigious contracts in its 

growing portfolio of public- and private-sector 

projects. This has added critical mass to Basil 

Read’s ability to target larger projects in South 

Africa and across borders.

The division performed well under difficult 

market conditions and fierce competition, 

particularly in the Western Cape and 

KwaZulu-Natal regions. 

During the year, the division fulfilled all 

obligations related to the prestigious 

Gautrain project with the successful 

completion of the Park and Hatfield stations, 

and completion of selected works at the OR 

Tambo International Airport, Rhodesfield and 

Marlboro stations.

Various government healthcare facilities

Key contracts include the restoration and 

revitalisation of numerous government 

healthcare facilities and hospital projects 

around the country: 

 – Additional on-site projects that formed part of 

the R330 million upgrade of Paarl Hospital 

were completed in 2011. The division was 

awarded further work at this facility and 

remedial work at Worcester Hospital.

 – The ongoing R1,5 billion Natalspruit Hospital 

project, involving a 760-bed facility for the 

Department of Public Works, is progressing 

well and commissioning has commenced with 

completion scheduled for July 2012. When 

complete, the project will include an on-site 

daily clinic and academic facilities for trainee 

doctors and other medical staff as well as a 

state-of-the-art auditorium. As part of the 

contract, a sports field on the allocated land 

was rebuilt at an alternative site. As part of 

government’s expanded public works 

programme, the construction team also 

implemented wide-reaching upliftment and 

training initiatives for local labour.

 – The division secured a further contract 

from the Department of Public Works 

involving repair work to the nurses’ college 

residences for the Thaba Tshwane 

Department of Defence: SAMHA College. 

This R164 million, 24-month contract will 

finish in March 2012.

 – The division, in joint venture, is constructing 

the Trompsburg Regional Hospital, to service 

the needs of communities south of 

Bloemfontein. The contract is valued at 

Buildings

Contribution to group revenue

Buildings 

12%
Supplying critical mass in targeting larger 

projects
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Basil Read Campus epitomises group values

Bulk earthworks for phase 2 of the Basil Read Campus began late in January 

2011, with completion in March 2012. The campus comprises two main 

buildings and the plant yard. Reflecting the group’s focus on skills transfer, 

phase 2 includes a multi-function training area to train semi- and unskilled 

workforces.

Green design was uppermost in our design and planning stages. By including 

a basement level, we were able to reduce the surface parking required and 

increase landscaped areas and green spaces around the buildings. This in turn 

reduced solar radiation and stormwater run-off. 

Only indigenous plants were used during the landscaping process, reducing 

overall water consumption and increasing the biodiversity of the area. 

Rainwater from the roof is collected in basement storage tanks for irrigation, 

reducing pressure on the municipal water supply. 

The second phase continues the green building aspects incorporated into 

phase 1. The building is designed to let in as much natural light as possible, 

motion sensors on lights reduce power consumption and reduce the 

buildings’ carbon footprints. Given the amount of groundwater on site, two 

sumps were installed over three metres underground with water pumped to 

garden irrigation systems and car-wash bays. Certain finishes include recycled 

materials.

R256 million and will be completed by the 

end of November 2012.

Medupi miscellaneous buildings 

Work has now started on the contract to 

construct various buildings at Medupi power 

station over a period of 15 months. This 

R235,6 million project includes the following 

buildings:

 – Medical station, ambulance garage and fire 

station to be housed in one building. 

 – Canteen facility. 

 – Double-storey main office complex to 

accommodate 200 people, including an 

auditorium for 40 people, tea rooms, board 

rooms, store rooms, reception area, archive 

area and library, totalling 3 800m².

 – Compressor house building.

 – Ash dump workshop and office. 

Basil Read Campus 

Construction of phase 2 of the Basil Read 

Campus, the group’s new head office complex 

in Boksburg, was completed in March 2012. 

This state-of-the-art building contains many 

green features including water tanks to catch 

and recycle water and motion-sensor lighting 

to save on energy costs. 

Key contracts over the last year
–  South Africa: R1,6 billion contract for around 

70 buildings at Eskom’s new Kusile power 

station in a joint venture.

–  South Africa: R236 million contract for the 

construction of miscellaneous buildings at 

Medupi power station.

–  South Africa: Natalspruit Hospital project, 

involving a R1,5 billion, 760-bed facility for 

the Department of Public Works.

–  South Africa: Basil Read Campus 

phase 2 completed.

What we do:

–  The division is active in South Africa’s major centres and 

specialises in hospitals, offices, shopping centres, schools 

and industrial buildings.
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What we do
–  Basil Read Mining has become the contract 

mining partner of choice for projects in 
southern Africa, reflecting its exceptional 
safety record, growing capabilities and 
world-class resources.

–  Blasting & Excavating (B&E) provides drilling 
and blasting, load-and-haul and crushing 
services to the construction, quarrying, 
civil engineering and mining industry with 
experience in all major southern African 
countries including Uganda, Zambia, 
Mauritius and Madagascar.

Basil Read’s mining division remains a stable 

performer in the group, with ongoing 

contracts locally, and in Botswana. This division 

plays an important role in the group by 

balancing fluctuations in the construction 

sector. Rising commodity prices have boosted 

mining production significantly in the past year, 

resulting in a plethora of goods contracts for 

capable service providers. The South African 

mining industry has long been hampered by 

road and rail constraints, security of power 

supplies and, most recently, water management 

issues. Investments on the scale now being 

discussed by government will go a long way 

towards addressing these challenges and 

ensuring the domestic industry is able to 

capitalise on the next commodities boom. 

Basil Read Mining is well placed to participate 

in that upswing. 

Outlook

Basil Read Mining is well placed to participate as 

conditions improve in the southern African 

mining industry. It continues to work closely 

with group subsidiary TWP to extract synergies 

and has extended its services into the junior 

mining sector. In addition to building strategic 

relationships with local partners in the countries 

in which we operate, opportunities are also 

being explored further afield. 

Performance

The recovery in the mining sector will take 

time to develop fully, although demand is up 

virtually across the board. As such, activity 

levels increased significantly in the review 

period. For the year, Basil Read’s mining 

division reported revenue of R930,7 million 

(2010: R801,7 million) and operating profit of 

R107,7 million (2010: R111,3 million) at a 

margin of 11,6% (2010: 13,9%). The division 

has a very promising order book of R2 billion 

(2010: R1,3 billion). Capital expenditure of 

around R400 million during the year reflects 

the division’s ongoing investment in new plant 

and equipment. Further expenditure has been 

approved for 2012. Basil Read Mining and 

B&E also obtained their separate ISO 9001, 

ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 accreditations 

during 2011 illustrating the continued drive for 

safety and quality above the industry standards.

Basil Read Mining

Despite recent conditions in the South African 

mining industry, the division maintained its base 

of expertise by carefully managing both its 

Contribution to group revenue

Mining 

15%
Steady growth in a capital-intensive 

industry
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owner-mining on all its activities at Rössing, 

our contract ended in February 2012. 

De-establishment started in December 2011, 

with most of the plant being absorbed by the 

Beeshoek project.

Cut 8 phase 2 Jwaneng diamond mine, Botswana

Building on earlier work at Jwaneng for the 

Debswana Diamond Company, Basil Read was 

part of the Majwe Mining joint venture 

awarded a five-year multi-billion rand mining 

service contract for Cut 8 phase 2. Work 

started in June 2011 and includes mine 

scheduling, drilling and blasting, truck-and-

shovel waste removal and limited ore mining. 

In total, the contract involves moving over 

156 million cubic metres of material over the 

full term. Basil Read Mining expects to gain 

significant experience in the 280- to 

350-tonne equipment range, including the 

necessary maintenance that will form part of 

this contract. Leighton’s international 

expertise, combined with the country and 

client knowledge of Basil Read Mining and 

Bothakga Burrow, will ensure the successful 

execution of this ground-breaking project. 

Jwaneng mine is in south-central Botswana, 

about 120km west of Gaborone. 

people and their deployment. This pool of 

specialist skills is a decided advantage in an 

industry characterised by an ongoing shortage 

of core skills and intense competition. Solid 

long-term contractual agreements and good 

client relationships are added advantages. The 

heightened focus on safety, which includes a 

sophisticated system for notification and sharing 

knowledge, continues to produce benefits.

Beeshoek mine, Postmasburg

Basil Read has joined hands with Concor Mining 

in an equal joint venture and has secured a 

three-year contract worth R720 million for 

Assmang’s Beeshoek mine. This is the first 

mining contract for Basil Read Mining in the 

Northern Cape. Mobilisation started in 

November 2011 and mining in January 2012.

Rössing uranium mine, Namibia

The division continued to work on a further 

contract extension at Rössing uranium mine 

in Namibia for owner Rio Tinto, one of the 

world’s largest mining houses. While 

production in the first half of the year was 

under pressure following an illegal strike, 

production for the balance of the year was 

excellent. As Rio Tinto has moved to 

Trekkopje mine, Namibia

Work continued on the R1 billion project 

at Trekkopje mine, 140km north-east of 

Swakopmund in the Namib desert. This is a 

24-month joint venture for client Areva, a 

French company, whose core business is 

nuclear power plants and enriching and 

extracting uranium. Contract work includes 

constructing a 4km by 1km maxi leach pad, 

seven solution ponds and crushing the filter 

material. At peak operation, there will be 

800 employees with over half living on site. 

Basil Read’s share of the joint venture is 33,3%.

Blasting & Excavating

Blasting & Excavating (B&E) has provided 

drilling and blasting, load-and-haul and crushing 

services to the construction, quarrying, civil 

engineering and mining industry since 1972. 

As a leading drill and blast specialist contractor, 

the company has executed projects in all major 

southern African countries including Uganda, 

Zambia, Mauritius and Madagascar.

B&E again recorded an acceptable performance 

for the year, given sharply higher competition 

and price sensitivity. This company, with its 

established track record, is well placed to 

Mining
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Key contracts over the last year
–  South Africa: Joint venture contract at 

Beeshoek mine for Assmang.

–  South Africa: R121 million contract 

extension at Venetia mine for Debswana.

–  Botswana: The Majwe Mining Joint Venture, 

consisting of Leighton International, Basil 

Read Mining and Bothakga Burrow secured 

the multi-billion rand contract for Jwaneng 

Cut 8 phase 2 from Debswana Diamond 

Company, an equal joint venture between 

De Beers and the government of Botswana. 

–  Botswana: Execution of Cut 8 contract 

mining phase 1 at Jwaneng Diamond Mine 

valued at R500 million.

–  Namibia: Contract at Rössing uranium mine 

for Rio Tinto.

participate in South Africa’s planned 

infrastructure upgrade.

De Beers Venetia mine

B&E has been doing bulk and precision drilling 

at Venetia diamond mine, near Musina in 

Limpopo, for three years. During the year, B&E 

secured a new contract at this mine, valued at 

R300 million. In addition, Basil Read Mining 

secured Venetia’s waste-removal contract as 

well as the maintenance of tailings and 

aggregates. Basil Read Mining and B&E are now 

providing this client with the full service that 

our other mining clients enjoy.

De Beers Voorspoed mine

Work started at this mine in October 2011, 

and the division has subsequently secured a 

one-year contract with very good potential 

for expansion. 

Uitvlugt mine

The project at Uitvlugt mine for Highveld 

Steel and Vanadium continues to perform well. 

Although the client continues to work on 

securing the remaining mining permits, the end 

of our contract will depend on the closing of 

the dam wall and the fill rate.
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What we do

–  TWP is a leading engineering and project 

management firm particularly in the EPCM 

(engineering, procurement and construction 

management) arena. The focus geographies 

are Africa, South America and Australia.

–  Basil Read Matomo is a unique turnkey 

entity providing a full service to the mining 

sector focusing on EPC (engineering, 

procurement and construction) delivery.

The multi-disciplinary TWP engineering group 

is now entrenched into the Basil Read 

structure, creating an enlarged group uniquely 

equipped to offer a full service to the world’s 

leading building environment and mining 

sectors, particularly in the engineering, 

procurement and construction management 

(EPCM) arena. 

With a team of over 1 200 engineering 

professionals and architects, TWP provides a 

broad spectrum of services including resource 

identification, bankable feasibility studies, mine 

and production planning, process engineering, 

project execution, delivery and handover.

The scale of these complementary activities is 

supporting Basil Read’s stated intention of 

tendering for larger contracts, pursuing 

international acquisitions and competing 

globally. 

Outlook
The mining industry should remain buoyant 

through 2012. Demand is outstripping supply 

in most commodities and, compounding this, 

many projects have to be executed to 

replace mining output, let alone increase it. 

TWP’s chosen geographies of South America, 

Africa and Australasia should all record 

significant growth over the year. 

Infrastructure development, on the back of 

mining activity, is expected to be significant, 

particularly in developing countries.

Performance
Reflecting a solid turnaround, the engineering 

division reported revenue of R1,1 billion 

(2010: R663,4 million) and an operating profit 

of R82,9 million (2010: loss of R12,3 million). 

Around 30% of this turnover came from 

outside South Africa. The divisional order 

book of R2,6 billion, almost double the level in 

2010, is defined as an 18-month order book, 

although a number of contracts will continue 

well beyond this period. These have not been 

included in the divisional order book.

After a relatively slow start in the first two 

months of 2011, the workload ramped up 

significantly in most TWP companies and 

performance for the year surpassed all 

expectations. The increased workforce reflects 

a deliberate strategy to maintain capacity 

during the downturn, sacrificing short-term 

profitability for long-term gains as a large 

portion of current work is in feasibility stage. 

Much of this will translate into project 

execution, which will require further growth 

to cater for the work at hand.

TWP
Founded over 30 years ago, TWP is a leading 

engineering consultancy, with particular 

expertise in the mining sector. Its largest 

subsidiary, TWP Projects, is fully accredited 

against ISO 9001:2000 and OHSAS 18001, with 

ISO 14000 accreditation awarded in April 2011.

Contribution to group revenue

Engineering 

18%
Solid turnaround and strong order book
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Underground infrastructure installation and 

commissioning at Impala Platinum’s 20 shaft 

is largely complete. TWP Projects also 

secured the feasibility project for Impala’s 

18 shaft. 

Other shaft-sinking projects under way 

include Wesizwe Platinum’s Frischgewaagd-

Ledig mine, Royal Bafokeng Platinum/Anglo 

Platinum’s Styldrift project, and Anglo 

Platinum’s Thembelani project.

A number of new mining projects were 

secured during the year, including Venetia shaft 

(De Beers), Black Rock expansion (Assmang) 

and a number of coal projects.

TWP is also completing a number of feasibility 

studies with blue-chip companies moving into 

execution in the Democratic Republic of 

Congo, Zambia, Mozambique, Zimbabwe, 

Botswana and Tanzania.

International operations are steadily gaining 

momentum. The branch in Australia (now 50% 

owned) returned to profitability during the 

year, while the Peru office secured a number 

of projects – including a gold plant in 

Colombia – and increased its staff 

complement to over 140 people.

The TWP process division continued to 

perform well on various contracts for ENRC 

and Gold Fields. The Burnstone gold plant and 

Black Rock plant were completed and closed 

out contractually. 

TWP Projects is the biggest EPCM 

(engineering, procurement, and construction 

management) organisation in Africa, with 

offices in South Africa, Zambia, Namibia, 

Mozambique, Australia and Peru.

TWP Projects continues to expand locally and 

internationally in the mining and infrastructure 

sectors, with its Peru office recording a profit 

in its first year. TWP, together with Basil Read, 

has extended its service to include a full 

turnkey solution including design, project 

management and construction across virtually 

the entire spectrum of engineering for the 

built environment. 

Within South Africa’s borders, the mining 

division of TWP Projects is currently 

managing a significant number of shaft 

projects, including its flagship – Impala 17 shaft 

– the biggest shaft-sinking project under way 

in the world.

This world-class platinum project is scheduled 

to be commissioned in 2015 and it will take a 

further three years to develop the mine to 

full production. The project involves sinking 

three shafts concurrently, with the main shaft 

being deepest at nearly 2 000m. Although this 

is one of the most complex and challenging 

projects undertaken by TWP to date, it is also 

one of the most successful, having met all 

deadlines amid a number of accolades. During 

the year, the project recorded major safety 

milestones after working one million fatality-

free shifts and 8,5 million fatality-free hours. 

The TWP long-term incentive scheme was 

introduced, and is proving effective as both a 

retention and incentive tool. 

Basil Read Matomo Projects
During the year, we incorporated the solid base 

of skills in Basil Read Turnkey Projects into 

Matomo Projects to create a unique process 

design and project execution company. A large 

proportion of its work during the year was in 

the PGM/chrome tailings recovery field, 

including the very successful Pan African 

Resources’ Phoenix project. A number of new 

projects were secured.

TPS.P Architects
TPS.P Architects, a wholly owned subsidiary 

of TWP, is a highly experienced professional 

practice renowned for its design and service 

levels. Its extensive portfolio of completed 

projects spans South Africa and Africa, and 

includes commercial, industrial, retail, 

educational, residential, hotel and leisure 

facilities, as well as numerous projects for the 

mining industry.

TPS.P maintained turnover levels for the year 

in a very difficult construction market. 

Basil Read Energy 
Given the South African government’s 

commitment to having at least 10 000GWh of 

renewable energy in use in the country by 

2013, a sizeable potential market is being 

developed. 

Engineering
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Key contracts over the last year
–  Democratic Republic of Congo: Basil Read 

Matomo will provide full EPCM services to the 

Mongbwalu project. 

–  Philippines: TWP Australia completed the 

EPCM contract to develop plant and associated 

infrastructure at the Siana gold project in the 

Surigao Gold District.

–  South Africa: TWP is completing feasibility 

studies for major shaft projects, many of 

which will go into execution phase in 2012. 

–  Mining Projects: TWP has a number of  

high-profile, long-term mining projects. 

–  Process Projects: TWP and BR Matomo 

managed a number of large process projects 

including various process plants for ENRC 

in Zambia and the DRC, as well as Anglo 

Platinum. 

–  Infrastructure: Work ramped up significantly 

for Kumba’s Sishen expansion. 

–  Energy: Focus on securing two renewable 

energy projects as part of the first two 

phases of the government roll-out plan.

Basil Read Energy acquired a 35% stake in 

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd which has been named as 

a preferred bidder for the supply of alternate 

energy by the Department of Energy and is 

currently in the process of developing a wind 

farm in the Nelson Mandela Bay metropolitan 

area, Eastern Cape. 

The group is also investing in future projects in 

the alternative energy sector and has submitted 

a bid for a solar powered development in 

Beaufort West, in conjunction with the  

BW Energy Corporation, which if successful 

could translate into a further R1,5 billion 

construction contract.

TWP Investments (TWPI)
TWPI is the investment arm for the mining and 

processing segment of the TWP group. Its 

mandate is to invest in mining and processing 

projects from an equity perspective while 

creating new pipeline opportunities for the group. 

TWPI is reviewing a significant number of 

projects in South Africa and Africa. Its most 

advanced project is the Lehating manganese 

project in the Northern Cape, a high-grade 

robust project for the export market. The 

feasibility study is being completed and the 

Lehating project will go to financial closure in 

the second half of 2012. In addition, TWPI is 

reviewing gold, copper and nickel possibilities  

in Africa.
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What we do

–  Basil Read Developments is a leader in 
creating new sustainable cities of affordable 
housing in mixed-use integrated 
developments. The division also develops 
industrial parks and lifestyle developments. 

Basil Read Developments has entrenched 

its reputation for developing sustainable 

communities, reflected in its Gauteng flagship 

project, Cosmo City – the first mixed-use, 

fully integrated sustainable human settlement 

in South Africa. 

Although the smallest of Basil Read’s divisions, 

it has the largest socio-economic impact with 

a total economic impact of over R60 billion 

during construction affording over 116 000 

employment opportunities. For the group, this 

division is strategically significant, given its 

focus on sustainable development and the 

secondary work it creates for group 

companies. Some R3 billion in work, not yet 

included in the group’s order book, will be 

created for other Basil Read divisions over 

the life of current projects.

Given that government has reaffirmed its 

commitment to eradicating informal 

settlements, with a concomitant effect on job 

creation and poverty reduction, this division 

remains a strategic part of the group.

Performance

Basil Read Developments contributed revenue 

of R38,3 million (2010: R24,2 million) and 

operating profit of R9,1 million (2010: 

R4,7 million). Divisional performance 

continued to improve during the year after 

the first recorded sales of stands at Klipriver 

Business Park, Johannesburg’s southern 

industrial spine.

However, 2011 was a difficult year for the 

division overall. The affordable housing 

development sector continues to be 

constrained by slow progress among 

provinces and municipalities in allocating and 

spending resources on key high-impact 

projects which the division has invested in or 

has tendered for. In addition, the banking 

sector has tightened lending criteria to home 

owners. Nonetheless, progress has been made.

At Malibongwe Ridge, an extension to Cosmo 

City, all regulatory approvals were received by 

the end of 2011. The division is in the process 

of pegging stands in the development.

Savanna City, south of Johannesburg, is a 

1 462-hectare project – the largest private 

affordable urban lifestyle development of its 

kind in South Africa – which is being 

developed in partnership with the Old Mutual 

group which will ultimately be larger than 

Cosmo City. With a total value of R9,7 billion, 

Savanna City will take 13 years to complete, 

creating 55 000 jobs during construction and 

around 13 000 permanent jobs post 

construction. Work on extension 1 (almost 

Contribution to group revenue

Developments 

1%
Strategic significance to the broader 

group
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the market. Rolling Hills will be a 

contemporary estate with diverse offerings 

and a mix of freehold, sectional title, 

retirement, eco village, hotel and conference 

opportunities. 

In Cape Town, the division’s involvement in the 

Garden Cities development was terminated at 

the request of the land owners who opted to 

pursue the project alone. Basil Read 

Developments was instrumental in securing 

the development’s regulatory approvals. 

At Phakisa, near Welkom in the Free State, the 

environmental impact assessment for phase 1 

was approved. Disappointingly, the provincial 

1 000 stands) commences in September 2012. 

In total, Savanna City will provide almost 

18 500 housing units, 16 schools, 

32 institutional sites, nine municipal facilities 

and municipal services, and nine business and 

retail facilities. 

The Basil Read group has been involved in 

a proposed lifestyle development called 

St Micheil’s located on the major N4 route to 

Mpumalanga. To secure capital already spent 

on this project, the group bought out the 

other shareholder and in May 2011 tasked 

Basil Read Developments with bringing this 

project to fruition. Post year-end, the project 

was rebranded as Rolling Hills and launched to 

government failed to meet its obligations to 

this development, resulting in all work being 

delayed and possibly stopped. 

Klipriver Business Park, a pivotal spine between 

Johannesburg, Meyerton and Ekurhuleni, was 

affected by delays in proclamation, which meant 

sales could only begin in the latter part of 2011. 

Sales are now taking place and the number of 

enquiries is encouraging.

Allied to its housing initiatives, the division 

established Basil Read Developments – “Green 

Projects” to ensure sustainable and 

environmentally friendly developments. This 

continues to set new standards for 

Developments

Total impact of current developments

Developments Houses

Total impact during
 construction (ZAR)
Direct, indirect and

 induced impact

Employment 
during construction

Direct, indirect 
and induced impact

Total 
impact post-

 construction (ZAR)
 Direct, indirect and 

induced impact

Employment post- 
construction

Direct, indirect and 
induced impact

Savanna City 18 486 28,4bn 54 900 12,7bn 12 700 

Cosmo City 12 500 15,9bn 30 924 20,2bn 22 643 

Malibongwe Ridge 5 265 5,7bn 11 100 3,9bn 5 600 

Phakisa Estate 9 550 10,1bn 19 133 15,43bn 9 320

Total 45 801 60,1bn 116 057 52,23bn 50 263 
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Key developments over the last year
–  South Africa: First recorded sales at 

Klipriver Business Park, an industrial 

development gateway to Johannesburg’s 

southern industrial corridor.

–  South Africa: Malibongwe Ridge has achieved all 

approvals and will break ground during 2012.

–  South Africa: Savanna City received all 

regulatory approvals.

–  South Africa: Basil Read Developments takes 

over project management and launches 

Rolling Hills.

–  South Africa: COP17 Conference, Basil Read 

Developments delivered two papers to an 

international audience on energy efficient 

affordable housing. 

–  Kenya, Tanzania, Rwanda, Uganda, Zambia: 

Relationships established with financiers and 

local developers with a view to expanding 

further into Africa. Basil Read Developments 

was invited to present two papers at a recent 

housing finance conference in Arusha, Tanzania.

developments in South Africa. One of its many 

achievements, recognised at the December 

2011 COP17 conference in Durban, was the 

design-and-build of the ‘green’ and energy 

efficient early childhood development centre 

initiated by the students of Cornell University 

from the USA, at Cosmo City. 

To date
 – Nurseries are propagating 500 000 trees 

and shrubs to plant on new developments 

and create vegetable gardens – 75 000 

successful plantings.

 – A solar water heater programme is aimed 

at installing solar heating on all breaking 

new ground and finance-linked houses. 

 – House designs are maximising energy 

efficiencies, including lighting, insulation and 

other greening technologies.

 – Energy-efficient lights are provided 

throughout each development.

Outlook

There is great potential for integrated 

residential developments in the low/middle-

income category, both in South Africa and 

across the continent. An appropriate strategy 

is being developed.
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During the year, Basil Read received numerous accolades 

for its performance and initiatives to advance sustainability 

– both in the group and in its communities. Among these 

wwaas our inclusion as a best employer in the CRF 2011/12 

rrannkkiinngggsss.
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Basil Read endorses the value and application 

of good corporate governance and standards 

as recommended in the code of corporate 

practices and conduct in King III and the 

Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited. 

Corporate governance is a permanent item on 

the board’s agenda and the board accepts the 

inclusive approach to good corporate 

governance set out in King III. 

The board and individual directors accept their 

responsibility to ensure that the principles set 

out in King III are observed. The board is of the 

Compliance assessment and explanations

 Recommendation Key Note

 Chapter 1 – Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship

The board should provide effective leadership based on an ethical foundation # Standardising and aligning codes of conduct and 

ethics policies across the group will be completed  

in 2012

The board should ensure that the company is and is seen to be a responsible 

corporate citizen

The board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed effectively # Measuring adherence to ethical standards will be 

monitored once all policies have been standardised 

across the group

 Chapter 2 – Board and directors

The board should act as the focal point for and custodian of corporate governance

The board should appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are 

inseparable 

The board and its directors should act in the best interests of the company 

The board should consider business rescue proceedings or other turnaround 

mechanisms as soon as the company is financially distressed as defined in the 

Companies Act

n/a It has not been necessary to consider business 

rescue proceedings

The board should elect a chairman of the board who is an independent  

non-executive director.  The CEO of the company should not also fulfil the  

role of chairman of the board 

The board should appoint the chief executive officer and establish a framework for 

the delegation of authority 

# The formalisation of the group CEO’s role and 

function is under way

The board should comprise a balance of power, with a majority of non-executive 

directors.  The majority of non-executive directors should be independent

Directors should be appointed through a formal process 

view that the group complies, as far as 

applicable, with provisions in the code and that 

the group’s corporate philosophy is consistent 

with the principles of King III: 

 – The roles of the chairman and chief 

executive officer are separate.

 – An independent non-executive director is 

elected as chairman.

 – The remuneration and audit and risk 

committees are chaired by independent 

non-executive directors who act 

independently.

King III
The board, via its governance structures, 

initiated a process to review the status 

and identify any gaps between the 

recommendations of King III and the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008 compared to 

existing practices in the group.  The following 

table reflects the findings of this review 

process.

Corporate governance

Key: Compliant      # Partial compliance     * Under review     n/a Not applicable
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 Recommendation Key Note

The induction of and ongoing training and development of directors should be 

conducted through formal processes

# Given the experience of Basil Read’s board 

members, it has not been necessary to have a 

formal induction process. In future, a formal 

induction process will be followed

The board should be assisted by a competent, suitably qualified and experienced 

company secretary 

The evaluation of the board, its committees and the individual directors should be 

performed every year 

The board should delegate certain functions to well-structured committees but 

without abdicating its own responsibilities 

# By year-end, the group had appointed a social and 

ethics committee as required by the Companies 

Act 71 of 2008. The size and nature of the group 

does not warrant that the audit and risk committee 

is separated

A governance framework should be agreed between the group and its subsidiary 

boards

Companies should remunerate directors and executives fairly and responsibly

Companies should disclose the remuneration of each individual director and certain 

senior executives

Shareholders should approve the company’s remuneration policy * The approval of the group’s remuneration policy by 

shareholders is tabled for consideration at the 

upcoming annual general meeting

 Chapter 3 – Audit committees

The board should ensure that the company has an effective and independent audit 

committee 

Audit committee members should be suitably skilled and experienced independent 

non-executive directors

# Refer to the audit and risk committee report on 

page 80

The audit committee should be chaired by an independent non-executive director

The audit committee should oversee integrated reporting

The audit committee should ensure that a combined assurance model is applied to 

provide a coordinated approach to all assurance activities

The audit committee should satisfy itself of the expertise, resources and experience 

of the company’s finance function 

The audit committee should be responsible for overseeing of internal audit

The audit committee should be an integral component of the risk management 

process 

The audit committee is responsible for recommending the appointment of the 

external auditor and overseeing the external audit process 

The audit committee should report to the board and shareholders on how it has 

discharged its duties 

 Chapter 4 – The governance of risk

The board should be responsible for the governance of risk 

The board should determine the levels of risk tolerance 

The audit and risk committee should assist the board in carrying out its risk 

responsibilities 

The board should delegate to management the responsibility to design, implement 

and monitor the risk management plan 

The board should ensure that risk assessments are performed on a continual basis

The board should ensure that frameworks and methodologies are implemented to 

increase the probability of anticipating unpredictable risks 

The board should ensure that management considers and implements appropriate 

risk responses

The board should ensure continual risk monitoring by management

The board should receive assurance regarding the effectiveness of the risk 

management process

# Assurance regarding the effectiveness of the risk 

management process is being investigated

The board should ensure that there are processes in place enabling complete, timely, 

relevant, accurate and accessible risk disclosure to stakeholders 
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 Recommendation Key Note

 Chapter 5 – The governance of information technology

The board should be responsible for information technology (IT) governance

IT should be aligned with the performance and sustainability objectives of the 

company

The board should delegate to management the responsibility for the implementation 

of an IT governance framework

The board should monitor and evaluate significant IT investments and expenditure

IT should form an integral part of the company’s risk management

The board should ensure that information assets are managed effectively

Audit and risk committee should assist the board in carrying out its IT responsibilities 

 Chapter 6 – Compliance with laws, rules, codes and standards

The board should ensure that the company complies with applicable laws and 

considers adherence to non-binding rules, codes and standards

The board and each individual director should have a working understanding of the 

effect of the applicable laws, rules, codes and standards on the company and its 

business

Compliance risk should form an integral part of the company’s risk management 

process 

The board should delegate to management the implementation of an effective 

compliance framework and processes

 Chapter 7 – Internal audit

The board should ensure that there is an effective risk based internal audit

Internal audit should follow a risk based approach to its plan

Internal audit should provide a written assessment of the effectiveness of the 

company’s system of internal controls and risk management

The audit and risk committee should be responsible for overseeing internal audit

Internal audit should be strategically positioned to achieve its objectives 

 Chapter 8 – Governing stakeholder relationships

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect a company’s 

reputation 

The board should delegate to management to proactively deal with stakeholder 

relationships 

The board should strive to achieve the appropriate balance between its various 

stakeholder groupings, in the best interests of the company

Companies should ensure the equitable treatment of shareholders

Transparent and effective communication with stakeholders is essential for building 

and maintaining their trust and confidence

The board should ensure that disputes are resolved as effectively, efficiently and 

expeditiously as possible

Requests for information in terms of the Promotion of Access to Information Act 

(PAIA)

n/a No requests for information in terms of the PAIA 

were received

 Chapter 9 – Integrated reporting and disclosure

The board should ensure the integrity of the company’s integrated annual report

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be integrated with the company’s 

financial reporting

Sustainability reporting and disclosures should be independently assured # Independent assurance on sustainability reporting 

and disclosures will be obtained in subsequent 

integrated annual reports

Key: Compliant      # Partial compliance     * Under review     n/a Not applicable
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Board of directors
Basil Read has a unitary board structure, 

which comprises three executive directors, 

two non-executive directors and three 

independent non-executive directors. The 

chairman is one of the independent non-

executive directors. In line with King III, the 

composition of the board reflects a good 

balance between executive and non-executive 

directors with the majority of non-executive 

directors being independent to ensure an 

appropriate balance of power and authority so 

that no individual or group can dominate the 

board’s decision-making.

 Meeting Directors Attended Apologies

24 March 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

ML Heyns

MDG Gouveia

NJ Townshend

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

6 April 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

ML Heyns

MDG Gouveia

NJ Townshend

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

26 May 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

ML Heyns

MDG Gouveia

NJ Townshend

CP Davies   

SS Ntsaluba  

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

25 August 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

ML Heyns

MDG Gouveia

NJ Townshend

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

In appointing new directors, the board 

considers its own requirements, including the 

need for specific skills and expertise to achieve 

balance and meet the group’s strategic 

objectives. Each appointment of a new director 

requires the unanimous approval of the board 

and is subject to confirmation by shareholders 

at the annual general meeting.  

The board is responsible for directing the 

management of the group’s business affairs, 

including the following key responsibilities:

 – Review and approve corporate strategy.

 – Ensure compliance with the relevant law 

and regulations.

 – Approve all acquisitions and major 

investment decisions.

 – Identify and monitor key risk areas.

 – Safeguard group assets.

 – Monitor operational performance.

 – Review and approve annual budgets and 

business plans.

 – Oversee the group’s reporting and 

communication process.

 – Approve the nomination of directors and 

appointment of the chief executive officer.

 – Oversee succession planning.

The board meets at least once every quarter. 

Attendance at board meetings held during the 

year is set out below.
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Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee comprises 

three non-executive directors with the 

majority being independent, including the 

chairman. Members are CP Davies (chairman), 

GR Sibiya and TA Tlelai. The committee 

operates under an approved charter.

The committee meets at least three times 

during the year or as frequently as required. 

Attendance at committee meetings in the 

review period is set out below.

 Meeting Directors Attended Apologies

2 February 2011 CP Davies (chairman)

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

20 July 2011 CP Davies (chairman)

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

5 October 2011 CP Davies (chairman)

GR Sibiya

TA Tlelai

The board retains effective control over the 

group and monitors the implementation of 

strategies and policies by the executive 

management team through various committees 

and processes. The information provided to the 

board is sufficient to enable directors to 

consider decisions on material matters.

The group operates against a business plan 

compiled by the executive management team 

and approved by the board of directors.

All directors have access to the advice and 

services of the company secretary, and 

unrestricted access to all records, assets and 

employees of the group, as well as to each 

committee and its chairman. 

During the year, directors completed a 

self-assessment of their performance. These 

questionnaires were evaluated by a third party, 

which confirmed that the directors had met 

their responsibilities for the review period.

Board committees
Specific responsibilities have been formally 

delegated to board committees with defined 

terms of reference, with transparency and full 

disclosure from these committees to the board.

Audit and risk committee

The audit and risk committee comprises three 

non-executive directors namely GR Sibiya 

(chairman), CP Davies and SS Ntsaluba, the 

majority of which are independent. 

The committee meets at least four times 

during the year or as frequently as required  

to review the financial statements, scope of 

external audit functions, risk management and 

the effectiveness of management information, 

internal controls and corporate governance 

procedures to report to the board on its 

findings. Attendance at audit and risk 

committee meetings held during the year is 

set out below.

The committee is responsible for considering 

the appointment of the external auditor and 

reviewing the nature, scope and cost 

effectiveness as well as independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors. The 

committee is responsible for reviewing the 

nature and extent of non-audit services and 

recommending to the board that the external 

auditors provide such services. The committee 

 Meeting Directors Attended Apologies

23 March 2011 GR Sibiya (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

25 May 2011 GR Sibiya (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

24 August 2011 GR Sibiya (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

1 November 2011 GR Sibiya (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

is also responsible for reviewing the group’s 

accounting policies and statutory compliance 

to ensure adequate changes are made, where 

appropriate.

The audit and risk committee has met with 

the executive financial director and is satisfied 

that Donny Gouveia meets all the 

requirements to fulfil the role of financial 

director of Basil Read Holdings Limited.

 The board is satisfied that the audit and risk 

committee has fulfilled its responsibilities 

under its terms of reference. 

Refer to page 80 for the audit and risk 

committee’s report for the year ended 

31 December 2011.

The committee’s responsibilities and 

objectives are to assess and approve the 

board’s remuneration strategy for the group 

and determine the conditions of employment. 

The committee is also responsible for 

establishing the policy for, and operation of, 

the group’s share incentive scheme. 

Directors who are members of the 

remuneration committee are excluded from 

discussions on the review of their own 

remuneration.

The committee is satisfied that executive 

directors are remunerated according to their 

responsibilities and performances. 

Remuneration philosophy

Basil Read’s philosophy is to encourage 

sustainable long-term performance. The purpose 

of remuneration is to attract, retain, motivate 

and reward staff to achieve the group’s 

objectives. Remuneration is reviewed at 

appropriate intervals to motivate staff to 
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perform to a required standard and to retain 

their services by offering and maintaining at least 

market-related remuneration in line with their 

performance and outputs for particular jobs.

Remuneration increases are granted for all 

staff annually in January and March, considering 

individual performance and output and 

appropriate market increases.

Non-executive directors

The committee considers and recommends 

fees for non-executive directors after taking 

into account duties performed and market 

trends. Non-executive directors receive a 

fixed remuneration for their services based on 

their participation in board meetings and 

other committees. Non-executive directors 

do not receive incentive bonus payments nor 

do they participate in the group’s share 

incentive scheme. Details of fees earned by 

non-executive directors during the year are 

provided on page 113.

Executive directors

The objectives of the remuneration policy are:

 – To attract and retain high-calibre directors 

and executive management, while balancing 

the group’s primary objective of sustainable 

growth. 

 – To motivate executive management to 

manage and lead the business successfully 

and to drive strong long-term organisational 

growth in line with the strategy and 

business objectives.

 – To provide competitive and balanced, 

performance-related remuneration, 

consisting of both fixed and variable 

components.  

 – To drive successful organisational 

performance by incorporating both 

short- and long-term incentives.

 – To ensure that the interests of the 

executive management are aligned with 

those of shareholders by linking 

remuneration directly to company 

performance.

 – To ensure there is transparency and fairness 

in executive remuneration policy and 

practices, and at the same time recognise 

that remuneration is a critical aspect of 

human resource management.

Remuneration structure

Fixed/guaranteed remuneration

Guaranteed remuneration takes into account 

market realities, having regard for the need for 

Basil Read to attract, motivate and retain 

executives. 

The chief executive officer recommends to the 

remuneration committee, the remuneration of 

the senior executives based on their direct 

accountability and responsibility for the 

operational management, strategic direction, 

decision-making and demonstrated leadership, 

taking cognisance of the relevant market data 

and overall performance of the company, the 

division in which the executive is located and 

the executive’s own performance. 

The board:

 – Decides the remuneration of the chief 

executive officer, having taken into 

consideration market/survey data, company 

performance and the chief executive’s 

officer performance. 

 – Decides on the recommendation for 

general increases on an annual basis. 

Short Term Incentive (STI) Scheme 

The payment of annual performance bonuses 

under the Basil Read Short Term Incentive 

Scheme is contingent on the achievement of 

the budgeted turnover as well as profit after 

tax and is structured to ensure that the 

shareholders receive the targeted return on 

their investment.

The STI Scheme for executives provides for 

an annual performance bonus for the following 

levels: 

 – Chief executive officer – The board decides/

approves the chief executive officer’s STI 

based on achievement of the key 

performance areas contained in the 

performance recognition system which 

includes the achievement of a pre-agreed 

profit after tax as well as the achievement 

of transformation targets as set out in the 

numerical goals matrix.

 – Senior executive – Incentives are based on 

a combination of individual, divisional and 

group performance. These are 

recommended by the chief executive officer.

The threshold for the incentive bonus 

payments to senior executives are determined 

by an agreed profit after tax margin – the 

company performance measure. Under trading 

conditions that warrant it, the chief executive 

officer, in his discretion, can decide on an 

ad hoc basis to award additional amounts to 

ensure the continued sustainability of the 

organisation and to ensure retention. 

STI bonuses become payable after the release 

of the annual audited financial statements.

Long Term Incentive (LTI) Scheme

The Long Term Incentive Scheme for the chief 

executive officer will be in terms of the five- 

year agreement already in place, covering the 

period 2009 to 2013 which has been approved 

by the board and noted in the integrated 

annual report to shareholders (page 112).

The Long Term Incentive Scheme for all other 

senior executives is under review. Currently, 

ad hoc share options are awarded to senior 

executives and other staff who may be eligible 

to participate.

The current employee share incentive scheme 

(share options) is designed to achieve the 

following objectives:

 – The alignment of the interests of 

participants with those of the company 

over the long term.

 – To motivate participants to strive for 

achievement which is value enhancing to 

the company’s shareholders. 

 – To reward employees for their efforts and 

contribution towards creating value.

 – To motivate participants to retain long-term 

employment with the company.

The chief executive officer recommends 

allocations to eligible participants for approval 

by the board, in terms of the rules of the 

share incentive scheme.

Details of the remuneration of executive 

directors appear on page 112.

Details of the options awarded to executive 

directors appear on page 114.

Chairman’s committee

The chairman’s committee comprises the 

chief executive officer and three non-

executive directors, two of whom are 

independent. The approved charter for this 

committee focuses on ensuring balanced and 

well-structured recommendations to the 

board by: 

 – Serving as the nominations committee to 

consider and recommend the composition 

of the board and its subcommittees, and 

new directors.

 – Considering succession planning for the 

board, CEO and company secretary. The 

committee will also assist the CEO in 

considering the financial director and other 

executive directors who may serve on the 

board.

 – Functioning as the investment committee 

responsible for considering group 

acquisitions, mergers and disposals relative to 

capital structure of the proposed deal, before 

making a recommendation to the board.

Deliberations by this committee will embrace 

the board charter, King III, the Companies Act 

and the memorandum of incorporation of 

Basil Read Holdings Limited. 

Meetings are scheduled monthly or as required 

by the chairman. The attendance at the 

chairman’s committee meetings held during 

the period under review is set out on the 

next page.
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model is applied to provide a coordinated 

approach to all assurance activities. The 

combined assurance provided by management, 

internal and external assurance providers 

during the year has been sufficient to satisfy the 

group audit and risk committee that significant 

risk areas in the organisation have been 

adequately addressed and suitable controls 

exist to mitigate and reduce these risks.

Insurance 
Marsh (Pty) Ltd and Aon (Pty) Ltd, the world’s 

leading insurance brokers and risk adviser, are 

brokers to the Basil Read group. Insurances 

are renewed annually. We continually review 

our insurance portfolio in light of the 

company’s growth, changing risk profile and 

global best practice. We are again satisfied that 

our level of cover is commensurate with good 

corporate governance and the expectations of 

our shareholders. 

Code of ethics
At Basil Read, we place trust in our employees 

and believe that, inherently, each one knows 

and understands the difference between right 

and wrong. To formalise this approach and 

clarify any potential grey areas, however, we 

have issued a code of ethics. 

For appropriate behaviour to be entrenched 

in a company, we believe senior management 

must consistently demonstrate ethical 

behaviour and practices in all their dealings. 

Basil Read has a code of business conduct to 

which all senior managers have pledged their 

commitment. This is renewed annually.

Financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing 

financial statements that fairly present the 

state of affairs of the group at the end of each 

financial period.

The board ensures the consistent use of 

appropriate accounting policies, supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgements and 

estimates.

The board recognises its responsibility for 

complying with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and has prepared 

the financial statements set out in the 

integrated annual report accordingly.

Compliance
In recent years, the regulatory landscape has 

changed dramatically, with no industry immune 

to increased compliance pressures to improve 

governance structures and practices in their 

businesses. These pressures are placed on 

the group by both local and international 

regulators.  At Basil Read we are committed 

to high standards of corporate governance 

and business ethics in all our activities, and this 

remains the cornerstone of our business. 

 Meeting Directors Attended Apologies

21 February 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

ML Heyns

10 March 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

ML Heyns

19 July 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

ML Heyns

4 August 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

ML Heyns

26 October 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman)

CP Davies

SS Ntsaluba

ML Heyns

Social and ethics committee

The new Companies Act requires a social 

and ethics committee to be established. This 

committee was duly formed by the board and 

comprises two directors, one of whom is a 

non-executive director, three prescribed 

officers and two senior staff members. 

Members are TA Tlelai (chairman), DJ Glover, 

NJ Townshend, EG Grace, CJ Erasmus, 

A Fourie and A Naidoo.  

The committee will monitor the following 

functions as set out by the Companies Act:

 – Social and economic development. 

 – Corporate citizenship.

 – Environment, health and public safety.

 – Consumer relationships.

 – Labour and employment.

Governance, risk and compliance 
The board is responsible for corporate 

governance, risk management and legal and 

regulatory compliance in the group. The board 

has delegated this responsibility to the audit 

and risk committee which meets four times a 

year and provides leadership and guidance 

over governance, risk management and 

compliance across the group. Basil Read’s risk 

management report appears on page 82.

Auditing
External audit

The primary responsibility of the group’s 

external auditors is to express an opinion on 

whether the financial statements are fairly 

presented. The external auditors were also 

formally engaged by the board to perform 

other services on behalf of the group. Fees for 

these services are disclosed in note 8 to the 

financial statements and include:

 – Advice on tax issues including transfer 

pricing, VAT and capital gains taxation.

 – Factual findings reports for tender 

documentation.

 – Due-diligence investigations on acquisition 

targets.

 – Other advisory services on certain 

acquisition targets.

The external independent auditors have also 

reviewed non-financial aspects of this 

integrated annual report to ensure 

consistency with their knowledge of the 

business, particularly those aspects embodied 

in King III. They do not, however, express an 

opinion on these aspects.

Unless otherwise stated, the non-financial 

aspects of this financial report have not been 

subject to external validation.

Internal audit

The group outsources its internal audit function 

to Grant Thornton, whose work is guided by 

the group’s risk register, management and 

previous audit findings. During the year, several 

follow-up reviews were undertaken to ensure 

previous findings have been addressed.  

Combined assurance model 
King III introduced the combined assurance 

model, in terms of which assurance is provided 

at three levels, ie management assurance, 

internal assurance providers and external 

assurance providers. The group audit and risk 

committee ensures the combined assurance 
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The group now operates in 22 countries 

across three continents. Each country has a 

unique legal, financial and taxation regime 

which needs to be complied with at either 

subsidiary or holding company level.  

Throughout this year we have focused on 

reinforcing our commitment to being a 

responsible corporate citizen. Accordingly, 

during the year we introduced programmes to 

improve compliance to King III, the Consumer 

Protection Act, Competition Act and 

Promotion of Access to Information Act. 

These programmes have been rolled out 

across the group. In addition, all key staff have 

been trained on their responsibilities to 

uphold the requirements of the Competition 

Act.  All directors in the group have been 

trained on their responsibilities and duties as 

directors in terms of the new Companies Act.

After the Companies Act 71 of 2008 became 

effective in 2011, we initiated a process of 

aligning the group’s constitutional 

documentation to the requirements of the 

Act. This process of drafting and obtaining 

approval from shareholders on the 

memorandum of incorporation has begun.  

A group-wide anti-corruption policy is being 

developed to demonstrate our commitment 

to eradicating corruption in the countries in 

which we operate. This policy has been 

developed taking into account the United 

Kingdom’s Bribery Act of 2010.

The group continues to engage with the 

competition authorities to resolve matters 

raised in its investigation of the construction 

sector.  After considering the projects flagged 

by the competition authorities, an appropriate 

provision was raised.

Tip-offs Anonymous
Tip-offs Anonymous is an independently 

managed hotline facility designed to enable 

our employees and stakeholders to report 

possible incidents of fraud or corruption 

without fear of retribution. In 2011, we 

relaunched the facility through an awareness 

drive including face-to-face sessions across the 

group, a poster campaign and regular articles 

in various group newsletters.

During the year, six contacts were made with 

the hotline facility, of which two required 

further investigation by an independent 

external service provider.  No substance 

was found to the allegations.

Company secretary
The company secretary is appointed by the 

board with duties that include providing 

guidance to directors on their duties and 

ensuring awareness of all relevant legislation 

and statutory requirements. The company 

secretary’s statement of compliance is set out 

on page 108 of the financial statements.

The company secretary is suitably qualified 

and experienced and is responsible for, among 

others, the duties stipulated in section 88 of the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008.

All directors have access to the advice and 

services of the company secretary, who is 

responsible to the board for ensuring that 

board procedures are followed.

All directors are entitled to seek independent 

professional advice about the affairs of the 

group at the group’s expense.

Going concern
The board of directors confirms that the 

group has adequate resources to continue to 

operate for the foreseeable future and will 

remain a going concern in the year ahead.

Share dealings
Basil Read operates two closed periods from 

31 December and 30 June each year until the 

publication of its year-end and interim results, 

respectively. To ensure that dealings are not 

carried out at a time when other price-

sensitive information may be known, directors 

and named officers must at all times obtain 

permission from the chairman before dealing in 

the shares of the company. Dealings in company 

shares by directors and named officers are, as 

required, disclosed to the JSE and published on 

the Stock Exchange News Service (SENS).

Stakeholders
The directors recognise the importance of 

strong relationships with all stakeholders 

whose needs are balanced against the group’s 

accountability to its shareholders. The group 

subscribes to a policy of open and timely 

communication in accordance with the JSE 

Listings Requirements.

Corporate responsibility
Basil Read is committed to being a responsible 

corporate citizen in the communities and 

environment in which it operates. The group is 

equally focused on maintaining positive 

relationships with all stakeholders, the 

wellbeing of the environment and upholding 

universal human rights. 

We understand that our continued success 

depends on economic performance, and our 

investment in corporate, social and 

environmental sustainability.

Code of business conduct 

In all our dealings with employers, suppliers, subcontractors, stakeholders and 

among ourselves, we at Basil Read are committed to upholding the principles 

of:

 – Respect for human dignity, human rights and social justice.

 – Non-discrimination.

 – Transparency.

 – Honesty.

 – Fairness.

 – Accountability and responsibility. 

Accordingly, we undertake to:

 – Respect and uphold the laws of the countries in which we operate. 

Unethical payments, business dealings or participation in fraudulent acts 

such as bribery or asset misappropriation will not be tolerated.

 – Avoid any potential conflict of interest in all our dealings. We will perform 

our duties diligently and to the best of our ability, in the best interests of 

the company and all stakeholders.

 – Refrain from deriving any personal advantage from our dealings. We will 

not accept gifts, hospitality or other favours which could be considered 

inappropriate or unwise, and which could be perceived as placing the 

recipient or the company under some kind of obligation.

 – Only use company funds, property and assets for legitimate business 

purposes.  Improper use of the company’s electronic communication systems 

– computer systems, email and internet access – will not be tolerated. 

 – Respect the dignity of all employees, their right to freedom of association, 

to be rewarded fairly and to realise their full potential. Harassment of any 

kind, particularly sexual harassment, will be severely dealt with. 
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the adherence of internal audit to its annual 

plan.

The audit and risk committee believes its 

objectives were met during the review period. 

Where weaknesses in specific controls were 

identified, management undertook to 

implement appropriate corrective actions.

Memberships 

During the 2011 financial year, membership of 

the committee comprised two independent 

non-executive directors and one non-

executive director.

Ms Given Sibiya was appointed chairman of 

the committee on 24 March 2011. Given is 

a chartered accountant with 20 years of 

experience in accounting and auditing, both 

internal and external. She is considered 

suitably qualified to carry out the duties 

required of chairman.  

Mr Charles Davies continued to serve on the 

committee in the year under review. Charles 

has extensive management experience at 

executive level and continues to serve on 

various boards in a non-executive capacity.

Mr Sango Ntsaluba was appointed to the audit 

and risk committee on 24 March 2011.  

 – To perform those duties prescribed by the 

act, the JSE and King III. 

The committee performed the following 

activities:

 – Received and reviewed reports from both 

internal and external auditors on the 

effectiveness of the internal control 

environment, systems and processes.

 – Reviewed the reports of both internal and 

external auditors detailing concerns arising 

out of their audits and requested 

appropriate responses from management.

 – Made appropriate recommendations to the 

board on corrective actions to be taken as 

a result of audit findings.

 – Considered the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors and 

ensured that the scope of additional 

services provided did not impair their 

independence.

 – Reviewed and recommended for adoption 

by the board financial information that is 

publicly disclosed. For the year, this included:

ended 31 December 2011; and

ended 30 June 2011.

 – Considered the effectiveness of internal 

audit, approved the one-year operational 

strategic internal audit plan and monitored 

Audit and risk  
committee report
for the year ended 31 December 2011

The committee is pleased to present its report 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 

as recommended by the Companies Act 71 of 

2008 (the act).

The committee’s operation is guided by a 

formal detailed charter that is in line with 

King III and the act and is approved by the 

board as it is amended. The committee has 

discharged all its responsibilities as contained 

in that charter.

Objective and scope

The overall objectives of this committee are:

 – To assist the board in discharging its duties 

relating to safeguarding assets and the 

operation of adequate systems and controls.

 – The control of reporting processes and 

preparation of accurate reporting of the 

financial statements in compliance with 

legal requirements and accounting 

standards.

 – To provide a forum for discussing business 

risk and control issues and developing 

recommendations for consideration by the 

board.

 – To oversee the activities of internal and 

external audit.
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it complies, in all material aspects, with the 

requirements of the act and International 

Financial Reporting Standards. The committee 

has therefore recommended the annual 

financial statements as set out on pages 110 

to 193 for approval to the board. The board 

has subsequently approved the financial 

statements, which will be open for discussion 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

 

Given Sibiya

Chairman of the audit and risk committee

R250 000 are not required to be approved by 

the committee. 

Meetings were held with the auditor where 

management was not present, and no matters 

of concern were raised.

The committee has reviewed the performance 

of the external auditors and has nominated, 

for approval at the annual general meeting, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the external 

auditor for the 2012 financial year. 

Mr F Lombard assumed the role of designated 

auditor for the 2011 financial year and will 

continue for the 2012 financial year.

Financial director review

The committee has reviewed the performance, 

appropriateness and expertise of the chief 

financial officer,  Mr MDG Gouveia, and 

confirms his suitability for appointment as 

financial director in terms of the JSE Listings 

Requirements.

Annual financial statements

The audit and risk committee has evaluated 

the integrated annual report for the year 

ended 31 December 2011 and considers that 

Sango is a chartered accountant with more 

than 20 years of experience. Sango will remain 

a member of this committee until a suitably 

qualified independent non-executive director 

can be appointed.

Details of committee membership appear on 

page 76.

External audit

The committee has satisfied itself through 

enquiry that the auditor of Basil Read 

Holdings Limited is independent as defined by 

the act. The committee, in consultation with 

executive management, agreed to an audit fee 

for the 2011 financial year. The fee is 

considered appropriate for the work that 

could reasonably have been expected at that 

time.  Audit fees are disclosed in note 8 to the 

financial statements.

A formal procedure governs the process by 

which the external auditor is considered for 

providing non-audit services. Each engagement 

letter for non-audit work in excess of 

R250 000 is reviewed by the committee in 

advance of this work. Routine work 

assignments, including auditor letters required 

for tendering purposes, below the value of 

Summary
–  The committee has fulfilled its obligations 

for the review period.

–  Where required, the committee is 

monitoring management actions to enhance 

the control environment.

Given Sibiya

Independent 

non-executive 

director
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 – Liquidity management.
 – Project awarding.
 – Entering new markets.

Basil Read again employed Grant Thornton to 
carry out the internal audit function.  Areas 
for audit are identified from the company risk 
register.  Audits carried out in Basil Read 
operations in 2011 covered payroll, 
subcontractors, human resources, business 
acquisitions, insurance cover, critical financial 
controls in B&E and Valente Brothers, business 
continuity and project performance 
monitoring. All concerns raised were 
addressed and recommendations implemented 
where necessary. Internal audit has not 
identified any fatal flaws in our processes and 
procedures. 

Given the rapid growth in employee numbers, 
coupled with acquisitions, our biggest challenge 
remains educating and training our employees in 
our policies, procedures and practices. 

Tip-offs Anonymous enables our employees 
and stakeholders to report possible incidents 
of fraud or corruption without fear of 
retribution. In 2011, six calls were received, 
of which only two required further 
investigation. 

Basil Read continues its membership of the 
Engineering and Construction Risk Institute 
(ECRI), an initiative started by the World 
Economic Forum. ECRI provides a platform 
for sharing risk management best practices 
across the engineering and construction 
industry. ECRI also provides an introductory 
and advanced course in engineering and 
construction risk management held at 
Stellenbosch University, which targeted 
members of staff attend. All ECRI’s best 
practices and procedures are readily 
accessible on the company intranet. 

Goals for 2012
During 2011, the Tip-offs Anonymous line 
was relaunched across the group and this 
awareness drive will continue going forward. 
The process of stabilising and embedding the 
enterprise risk management methodology 
was started and 2012 will see a fully 
integrated risk methodology and taxonomy 
for the group. 

Risk management

Effective risk management is central to the 
group maintaining a competitive advantage 
and adapting to changes in the internal and 
external environments. The underlying 
principles of an integrated enterprise-wide 
risk management system ensure risk 
management forms part of all strategic, 
business process and operational activities.  

Basil Read regards risk as the impact of 
uncertainty on the objectives of its key 
processes and activities. Hence, a holistic 
approach to managing uncertainty, 
representing both risk and opportunity, has 
been adopted in the group. By better 
understanding and managing risk, we are able 
to add value, reduce cost and be more 
informed in our decisions while providing 
greater clarity and certainty to our employees, 
customers and stakeholders at large. 

The group uses a hybrid risk management 
process which assesses risk from a top-down 
as well as a bottom-up approach. Risk 
assessments are performed continuously at 
four levels in the group:

Enterprise: Conducted bi-annually at 
enterprise level by the group’s 
executive committee, board of 
directors and sector advisers.

Operational: Conducted every quarter by 
the management team of each 
functional level, business unit and 
operating entity.

Project: Conducted monthly by the 
relevant project teams and at 
specific completion points 
with the broader project 
management team and divisional 
management teams.

Tender 
evaluation:

As part of the tendering process, 
a detailed risk assessment is 
performed on the proposed 
project.

Risks are evaluated in terms of probability of 
occurrence and impact on the business across 
several matrixes. The key risks that the group 
faces can be categorised into the following 
(in no particular order):
 – Project selection and execution.
 – Project management and reporting.

Goals for 2012:
 – Embedding the risk methodology across the 
group.  Once embedded enterprise risk 
management systems will be introduced to 
support the process. 

 – Development of a legal framework.

seminars – aligning our procedures with 

ISO 31000.

developed and kept live on all new 

projects.
 – Continuation of governance and compliance 
training.

Information and technology governance
The group’s audit and risk committee is 
responsible for oversight of the group’s 
information technology (IT) governance.  
IT governance and strategy development are 
effected through the new IT steering 
committee, while day-to-day management of 
the group’s IT infrastructure and systems rests 
with a number of management committees 
across the group. The steering committee 
reports directly to the audit and risk 
committee as recommended in King III.

During the year, a group chief information 
officer was appointed to manage the group’s 
IT infrastructure and systems. 

The IT steering committee has been tasked by 
the audit and risk committee to develop a 
group-wide IT governance framework. In 
addition, the steering committee will report 
into the group audit and risk committee 
bi-annually on the following key areas:
 – IT risk management
 – IT investment
 – Information security

IT governance structures will be developed 
further during the 2012 year. Once fully 
operational, the group’s internal auditor will 
provide assurance to management and the 
audit and risk committee on the effectiveness 
of IT governance. 
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Construction sector BBBEE scorecard
As a sector, we believe the codes of good 

practice on broad-based black economic 

empowerment for the construction sector 

(the construction charter) implemented in 

June 2009 are addressing inequalities in the 

sector. In time, this will unlock potential and 

enhance growth – for the ultimate benefit of 

the entire South African nation.

The charter is a framework for the 

construction sector to address broad-based 

transformation, enhance capacity and increase 

productivity to meet global best-practice 

standards. Its implementation will be 

monitored by the construction charter 

council, which will have executive capacity and 

will provide the necessary links to government 

institutions.

Basil Read is committed to the transformation 

of the South African construction industry 

to be far more representative of the 

demographics of the country. We acknowledge 

that transformation is a journey and not 

something that can be achieved overnight. 

The critical areas are skills development, 

employment equity and management control 

and we are pleased with the improvement 

shown in these areas. The building blocks we 

put down today will form the path to a 

transformed company in future.

To drive this process in all Basil Read entities, 

a dedicated transformation performance 

monitoring manager was appointed in 2010. 

Stakeholder engagement

As the concept of sustainability becomes 

entrenched in the wider Basil Read group, 

management is focusing on a more formalised 

stakeholder identification and engagement 

process. While we have long been committed 

to complete transparency for our 

shareholders, we are extending this to all 

stakeholders, acknowledging that their input 

and support are invaluable in our continued 

progress. 

As part of this process, during the year, we 

introduced open days and roadshows. 

These were extremely well received by all 

stakeholders. The open days involve members 

of our executive management team hosting a 

mixed group of stakeholders at a range of 

sites in our various divisions, giving them the 

opportunity to interact with Basil Read 

management and learn more about the group’s 

operations. During the year, sites visited 

included the Jwaneng Mine in Botswana and 

Impala Platinum’s new shaft developments in 

Rustenburg.

Basil Read’s business is to build the roads, 

bridges and power stations on which our 

economy and our society depend. Our impact, 

however, goes way beyond infrastructure. In 

this section we elaborate on the achievements, 

challenges and disappointments of our social 

and environmental performance for the 

review period. 



84

Sustainability CONTINUED

Our people

Social performance
Basil Read takes great pride in its history  

as a competitive employer, consistently 

contributing to improving skills in the 

construction sector to meet the demands and 

challenges of the future. Over almost 60 years, 

Basil Read has become a leading local 

construction and engineering group – largely 

due to its highly regarded and talented staff. 

These are also the people behind the group’s 

staunch commitment to innovation, quality 

and service excellence.

To retain this talent base, we developed and 

introduced a number of key drivers in 2011 

to ensure sustainability over the longer term. 

Broadly, these are talent management and 

succession planning, combined with 

appropriate training and development, 

remuneration benchmarking and 

performance recognition. Our dedication 

to recognising and developing individual 

potential, equality and performance-based 

advancement is coupled with a broader 

objective of contributing to the growth of 

the sector through the exchange of skills and 

transfer of knowledge.

In 2011, the group recorded revenue of 

R6,2 billion with a record order book 

extending beyond 2013. Given our rapid 

expansion, we understand the need to 

develop  a sustainable pool of skills to meet 

these commitments.

At year-end, the group had 6 493 permanent 

employees. Basil Read’s staff complement has 

risen more than eightfold in recent years, in 

tandem with significantly greater legislative 

and reporting requirements. To manage this 

more effectively, human resources processes 

were streamlined in 2010 for improved 

efficiencies and performance, and better 

alignment to the group strategy. As a result, 

human resources management in Basil Read 

has moved from a reactive environment to a 

proactive team, focused on partnering with 

the business to strengthen capacity and 

capability. 

With an annual investment of over R20 million 

in training and development (direct spend 

excluding time, travel or accommodation 

costs), our group spends almost double the 

leviable amount – as defined by the 

construction sector scorecard – on related 

initiatives. These range from executive and 

management development, to learnerships, 

adult basic education and training (ABET) and 

various mentorship programmes.  Around 70% 

of this amount is allocated to individuals from 

disadvantaged backgrounds. 

Bursary programme
The Basil Read bursary programme supports a 

number of students entering our fields each 

year, particularly civil engineering, quantity 

surveying, building and financial management. 

Basil Read takes an active interest in the 

progress of each candidate, arranging help 

if required, and providing vacation work 

so students can gain practical experience. 

On completion, graduates are guaranteed 

positions in the group, which ensures our skills 

base is constantly replenished with new talent.

Basil Read currently has 61 full-time bursary 

students who are required to work on various 

group sites in their mid- and year-end 

vacations. Of the existing bursars, 19 qualified 

at the end of 2011 and have taken up 

permanent employment in various parts of 

the group.

Quantity surveyors play an extremely 

important role in this industry, but they are 

becoming a very scarce profession. While the 

quantity surveying industry seems to attract a 

large number of black women, the challenge 

appears to be long-term retention of these 

candidates. Basil Read is taking steps to 

encourage people in this direction through its 

bursary programme aimed at both universities 

and universities of technology, raising 

Basil Read bursary programme

Discipline

Number of 

candidates Male Female Qualification

Civil 29 22 7

NDip civil engineering (2 females, 7 males)

BSc civil engineering (5 females, 13 males)

BTech civil engineering (1 male)

BTech structural engineering (1 male)

Mechanical 3 3 – BSc mechanical engineering 

Mining 1 1 – BSc mining engineering 

Quantity 

surveying 12 7 5

BSc quantity surveying (4 females, 5 males)

BTech quantity surveying (1 females, 2 males)

Chemical/

process 3 2 1

BSc chemical engineering (1 female)

BSc process (1 male)

BSc metallurgy (1 male)

Construction/

building 8 3 5

BSc construction management (2 females)

NDip building (1 female, 4 males)

BSc housing and development (1 male)

BCom 2 2 – BCom general HR 

Social sciences 1 1 – BSocSci 

Accounting 1 – 1 BTech 

IT 1 1 – NDip

Total 61 42 19
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borders. This year will see the roll-out of many 

programmes to further support the group’s 

strategic direction.

NQF 4 foreman development programme 

The student foreman development 

programme is Basil Read’s flagship training 

course for learners who have passed grade 12. 

This is a three-year programme, preceded by a 

stringent selection process after which 

students complete three months’ theoretical 

and skills training at the beginning of each year. 

They are then placed on various construction 

sites in group divisions to complete their 

practical training. After exposure to all 

divisions in their first and second years, 

students can specialise in any of the group’s 

divisions in their final year.

While addressing the shortage of middle 

managers in our industry, this course also 

empowers learners in other fields. 

This year sees the completion of the first 

students (NQF 4) and 16 will join Basil Read. 

Following the decision to ensure cross-

discipline exposure, each student has been 

exposed to all the divisions in construction 

and mining.

The academy also offers artisan training 

(carpentry) in conjunction with the 

Construction Education and Training 

Authority (CETA), a three-year programme 

with an NQF level 3 equivalent qualification.

Basil Read’s engineering subsidiary, TWP, 

initiated an in-house draughting training 

programme some years ago, and more 

recently decided to create an accredited 

facility.  After an intense, almost two-year 

process of developing content and fitting out a 

facility, this is now a fully accredited resource 

under the Construction SETA, offering training 

at NQF level 3.  TWP is thus able to ensure a 

well-qualified supply of draughting staff of the 

highest calibre. To date, TWP has trained 

more than 30 learners from disadvantaged 

technical high schools and many are now 

employed in its draughting office.

A new multi-function training facility has been 

constructed as part of the Basil Read Campus 

in Boksburg, Gauteng. This sophisticated 

facility will offer real-time training to sites 

across South Africa and even those outside its 

awareness and on-site training to encourage 

people in the company to become quantity 

surveyors.

Given prevailing conditions in the construction 

sector, we have suspended our bursary 

programme for 2012 and will review this 

when markets improve. 

Basil Read Training Academy
The group’s industry-leading in-house 

programmes and learnerships offer a strategic 

combination of theory and practical on-site 

experiences under the aegis of the Basil Read 

Training Academy.

With a strong focus on technical training, the 

academy is setting new standards in training in 

the civil and building construction sectors. 

Potential candidates for learnerships are 

sourced from institutions for further 

education and training (FET). The selection 

process is rigorous, enabling Basil Read to 

select the best-possible candidates, and the 

results reflect the success of the candidates 

on these programmes.

Recognising the shortfall in official foreman 

training, Basil Read has introduced two 

much-needed courses. For students, there is 

a foreman development programme 

(NQF level 4) and for those already in the 

field, the foreman programme (NQF level 5). 

Sustainable development
Highlights

 – Implementing world-class human resources 

practices.

 – Considerable improvement in disabling-

injury frequency rate (down from 0,58 in 

2009 to 0,4).

 – Carbon footprint determined for group.

Lowlights

 – Missing our safety target, albeit  

marginally (target DIFR 0,3 against 

actual 0,4).
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junior foremen who completed the NQF 4 

learnership. We started the programme in 

March 2011 with 10 students.

Adult basic education and training 
Basil Read has offered formal adult basic 

education and training (ABET) courses for 

three years now. We are working with 

accredited providers, employees and 

members of our communities so that 

participants can acquire communication, 

numeracy and life skills to prepare them for 

learnerships and further education and 

training courses. The courses are proving 

their worth to people with little formal 

primary or secondary schooling as well as 

those who have been out of the educational 

environment for some time.

NQF 3 health and safety learnership

Recognising the need to develop our existing 

safety representatives and safety officers from 

the building division, we put 19 through 

laboratory tests and specific psychometric 

assessments. We enrolled the top 12 on the 

NQF 3 health and safety learnership, which was 

started in May 2011. They attend theoretical 

training for three days every month at Tjeka 

Training in Henley-on-Klip. The learnership is a 

two-and-a-half-year programme.

NQF 5 management learnership

Given the work being done at NQF levels 3 

and 4 with the foreman development 

programme, we identified the particular need 

to develop the skills of our existing general 

foremen and site agents and to upskill our 

NQF 3 learnership programmes 

In 2010, Basil Read gave over 150 technical 

high-school graduates from KwaZulu-Natal 

the opportunity to enrol in a building and 

civil construction learnership with the 

Training Force Construction Academy in 

Pietermaritzburg and Durban. Candidates 

were drawn from technical high schools in 

and around those cities, based on the 

recommendation of each school’s life 

orientation teachers. Basil Read tested the top 

30 candidates from this group and enrolled 

14 on the carpentry apprenticeship and two 

on the foreman development programme.

In addition to formal training programmes, 

informal skills training takes place among 

communities near our various sites. Most 

recently, this included bricklaying and carpentry.

Learnership programmes

 Course Start date Number Programme duration

NQF 3 health and safety Started May 2011 12 students 2½ years 

NQF 4 foreman development  Group 1 started February 2010  16 students 3 years 

Group 2 started June 2010 16 students 3 years 

Group 3 started September 2010 16 students 3 years 

NQF 4 internal foreman  Group K started May 2011 9 students 3 years 

NQF 5 management programme  Started March 2011 10 students  3 years 
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Adjacent to the Basil Read Campus, the new 

multi-function training centre will offer 

real-time training to sites to take training 

down to site level (both virtually and through 

e-learning). 

Basil Read’s ability to attract and retain talent 

is, in large part, due to the fact that it offers 

employees a multi-faceted career in the group, 

competitive remuneration packages and 

generous bonuses for high performers. We 

aim for a staff turnover rate of under 10% – at 

year-end, this was around 6%, underscoring 

the effectiveness of our retention strategies. 

The group recently introduced E-Serve, an 

employee and manager self-service system 

that gives our people easy access to payslips, 

leave applications, updating of personal details 

and résumés, and an online performance-

management system. Managers are able to 

search a database for particular skills and 

experiences, have access to a dashboard 

containing critical people metrics and have 

access to team calendars, salary, performance 

and talent information, as well as being able to 

consolidate information across the group 

from one central system. Cognisant of the fact 

that a significant number of our people are on 

site and without access to computers, salary 

information can be received and queries 

raised through E-Serve via sms. We are also 

able to track turnaround on queries and 

requests.

As part of the process of continuous 

improvement, during the year, we 

commissioned independent follow-up reviews 

to internal audits conducted in earlier years 

(human resources in 2010 and payroll and 

wages in 2009). The objective was to 

ascertain the extent to which Basil Read had 

implemented action plans to address the 

findings of these audits. The 2011 review 

found that over 80% of the findings on human 

within the group, Basil Read is able to offer 

staff not just a job but a career and the focus 

has thus been on building career maps, 

allowing employees to better manage their 

careers.  

Technical development is a particular focus 

of the centres of excellence given that the 

strength of technical skills in the group is a 

strategic advantage. The company supports 

employees in furthering their technical 

education or project-management 

qualifications. All technically qualified staff are 

encouraged and supported to attain their 

professional status.  Employees also have the 

opportunity to be seconded to any one of 

Basil Read’s numerous subsidiaries and can 

move between divisions within the company. 

This ease of movement is important to enable 

our people to obtain their professional 

registration and build experience that 

supports promotion.

An online performance recognition system 

was designed in 2011 and is being rolled out 

across the business, the first year of 

assessment being 2012. This system focuses on 

group, divisional and individual performance 

and is aimed at driving business success, and 

complementing and supporting the talent 

audit process. 

Transformation initiatives are focused on 

developing and growing talent internally to 

take up more senior positions to better 

reflect the demographics of the regions in 

which we operate. In this respect, we have 

made great strides in not only developing a 

pipeline of people but also identifying talent 

early and developing and promoting staff 

internally.  

Our employee relations initiatives ensure a 

consistent approach when dealing with staff, 

focusing on fair processes and procedures.  

ABET courses and participants are 

identified on starting up a site and, where 

there are sufficient participants, ABET 

training is put in place. The ABET course 

duration is 12 months or until the 

candidate is competent. 

Best employer certification
The CRF Institute has certified Basil Read 

as a best employer for 2011/12. The CRF 

Institute is an international research and 

media group specialising in human resources, 

strategy and leadership research that works 

with blue-chip and Fortune 500 clients around 

the globe.

For an organisation to be awarded this 

accolade, the CRF Institute administers a 

survey into the formal and informal policies 

and practices currently used in the 

organisation and benchmarks these against 

a body of international research. This survey 

is completed by the human resources 

executive team. Our goal was to achieve 

CRF certification of the policies and practices 

that form the framework under which our 

people are managed and led. Basil Read 

therefore elected to go through a human 

resources management and policy audit, 

earning certification as a best employer 

because over 100 policies and practices either 

measure up to or exceed international 

standards of best practice.

This is just one of our initiatives aimed at 

delivering a superior employment experience 

to staff to better align to organisational 

objectives, improve productivity and margins, 

and secure the profitability and sustainability 

of our group in years to come.

Proactive career development 
The Basil Read centres of excellence focus 

on remuneration and reward, ensuring 

competitive remuneration practices across the 

group, consistent agreements and employment 

practices, talent management and 

development. The annual talent audit provides 

insight into the depth and spread of skills and 

ensures a strong succession pipeline. 

These centres of excellence are tasked with 

developing best-in-class processes, staying 

abreast of new trends, analysing data, 

understanding trends and developing 

responses to new directions. They allow the 

company to better understand, manage and 

enhance its people capability. Given the 

diversity of businesses and technical disciplines 

Group training expenditure (R)

Basil Read – total spend

TWP – total spend

HDSA – 70% training 
spend required

HDSA – 70% training
spend actual

ABET, bursaries and 
learnerships

R14 420 964

R6 000 000

R4 888 346

R8 800 496

R11 434 954
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by the Amabubesi Investments and Metallon 

consortium. Although Metallon has since 

divested its stake, the latest shareholding 

analysis shows that over 25% of the group is 

held by black shareholders with unrestricted 

voting rights. We are investigating proposals to 

increase this percentage.

The empowerment status of key subsidiaries 

is externally verified each year. At present, 

Basil Read (Pty) Ltd is a level 3 value added 

(135%) contributor, well placed to participate 

in large contracts for major parastatals and 

state-owned entities. Given our ongoing 

organic and acquisitive growth, we are 

concentrating on consolidating and 

standardising processes to ensure this level is 

sustainable before aiming higher.

We understand, however, that lasting and 

broad-based black economic empowerment is 

a journey. While the group scores well in some 

areas – ownership, preferential procurement, 

enterprise and socio-economic development 

– we face industry-wide challenges in 

management control, employment equity and 

skills development. These are the cornerstones 

of transformation in the local construction 

industry. We trust that the new construction 

charter will support an industry-wide effort to 

accelerate this process.

Bolstering the role of women in construction

Because Basil Read believes in empowering women in the construction 

industry, we partnered with Khuthaza to take a group of black female 

engineers on a site visit to our waste water treatment plant construction in 

Sunderland Ridge in Centurion to broaden their career experience. 

As a non-profit organisation, Khuthaza interacts with government, industry 

role-players and other stakeholders to initiate and encourage transformation. 

Its programmes are aimed at developing talent and contractors regardless 

of whether the women are students or professionals. Much of Khuthaza’s 

work falls under enterprise development. Through its contractor 

development programmes, for example, it is empowering women for entry 

and development in the construction industry. The programme provides 

participants with skills, exposure, networks and knowledge to improve their 

own companies and efficiency in the industry.

Exposing participants to large construction projects is a crucial learning 

tool. Khuthaza and Basil Read are therefore working together to develop 

the capacity of the industry through contractor development and practical 

experience. 

A dedicated employee relations team focuses 

on assisting sites to manage any disciplinary 

action or grievance as laid out in the policy, 

and raises awareness of the responsibilities 

and rights of both employer and employee on 

site. It also disseminates information about 

current trends and practices in the field to 

management. This is supplemented by formal 

courses on industrial relations developments 

and legislation to encourage line managers to 

assume greater, but informed, responsibility for 

these issues at site level. 

Training on employee relations has been 

added to the foreman development 

programmes and candidates are required to 

write an exam and pass with 80% or more.

Black economic empowerment and 
employment equity 
Basil Read fully supports the objectives of 

South Africa’s Broad-Based Black Economic 

Empowerment Act 53 of 2003 and its 

associated codes of good practice. Since 2009, 

the group has reported against the statutory 

construction industry scorecard, which shows 

steady progress in most areas.

Basil Read became the first truly black-owned 

construction company in South Africa in 2005, 

when over 50% of the company was acquired 

resources had been adequately or partially 

addressed. Steady progress is being made on 

closing the few gaps in the payroll audit.

We are incrementally creating an equitable 

working environment for our people and 

developing their full potential. As a group, we 

committed to playing a role in South Africa’s 

transformation beyond legislative 

compliance; this commitment guides our 

initiatives as we embed people stewardship 

and sustainable development into every 

facet of our business. 

Basil Read plant operators
Basil Read has one of the best plant teams in 

the field and this reputation is protected by 

closely monitoring the comprehensive training 

programmes in place for all mechanics and 

plant operators.

Industry initiatives
In 2009, representatives from the construction 

industry met with the Department of 

Education to examine ways of addressing skills 

shortages in the sector and uplifting 

educational standards. The industry pledged its 

involvement in the country’s further education 

and training (FET) colleges. 

As part of this commitment, Basil Read is 

working with the Tshwane South College in 

Atteridgeville, Pretoria in support of its 

three-year national certificate (vocational) 

course, which comprises classroom work and 

practical, on-site training. The course carries a 

national qualifications framework (NQF) 

level 4 certification, roughly corresponding to 

junior foreman. Each successful year of study 

is equivalent to one NQF level. 

Basil Read provided funding for ten students 

to start this course and takes a group 

of students each year for the practical 

component of the course. Each student 

is assigned to a Basil Read site to gain a better 

understanding of how the theoretical 

knowledge they are acquiring is practically 

applied.

Employee relations
Basil Read continues to enjoy sound labour 

relations.  At all levels of management, our 

people ensure they understand the 

company’s industrial relations policies and 

procedures, and implement them fairly and 

correctly.
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Enterprise development
Basil Read is making steady progress with 

initiatives focused on enterprise development, 

building on a proven approach of identifying 

and developing suitable companies through 

assistance and mentoring. 

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd offers quality 

construction services primarily to the North 

West, Mpumalanga and Limpopo provinces. 

Established in 2003 by Basil Read and its 

empowerment partner, Bokhoma Mpha, this 

80% black-owned and 100% black-managed 

company is making steady progress, with 

projects reaching the R300 million mark in 

value during the year. Its flagship projects 

include the much-praised Hlanganani Flats at 

Cosmo City in joint venture with Basil Read 

for the Johannesburg City Council. BR-Tsima’s 

services include construction contracting for 

roads, civil engineering, spatial planning and 

building. It also offers structural engineering 

and design-and-build contracts. Recognising 

the needs of the communities it serves, 

BR-Tsima is involved in various social 

upliftment programmes such as township 

services and socio-economic development.

Transformation in action 
During the year, Basil Read (Pty) Ltd and TWP 

Projects (Pty) Ltd were independently ranked 

as level 3 broad-based black economic 

empowerment contributors, and value-added 

suppliers (enabling clients to claim 135% of 

every rand spent with these companies 

towards their own BBBEE rating). 

We also made progress on transformation 

within the group when TWP launched its 

profit-share scheme for employees, which has 

driven significant growth and has again been 

approved for the current year.

Training transforms schools

For Roadcrete Africa, an initiative that started as a contract requirement for 

the expanded public works programme has become an unparalleled success 

benefiting an entire community.

As part of the Malibongwe dual-carriageway upgrade in Randburg, Roadcrete 

has also concluded a comprehensive training programme that has equipped 

hundreds of local community members (previously unemployed) with the 

skills to find long-term employment. 

Over 130 beneficiaries attended various courses, covering individually 

selected training modules from NQF level 1 to 3.  Almost half the learners 

were subsequently employed by Roadcrete. Training beneficiaries received a 

stipend for each day they attended skills courses, which included theoretical 

training and practical on-site experience rebuilding dilapidated local schools. 

This was supported by essential life skills training such as personal finance, 

health and HIV awareness.

This approach ensured the safety and personal development of learners 

while equipping them with skills that can be used to secure jobs and identify 

possible long-term career paths. 

Percentage of HDSA per occupational category

Top management

Senior management

Professionally qualified
and experienced specialists

and mid management

Skilled technical and
academically qualified workers,

junior management, supervisors,
foremen and superintendents

Semi-skilled and
discretionary decision making

Unskilled and
defined decision making

24.5%

17.9%

29.0%

72.2%

95.0%

98.0%
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Safety achievements during the year

In the review period, significant working periods free of lost-time injuries were recorded by:

 – Wesiswe-Ledig project 459 days

 –  Chambishi CuSep 240 days

 – Kumba bucket and bowl 198 days

 – Kumba housing and infrastructure 378 days

 –  Grootegeluk plant workshop  800 000 hours

 –  Thembelani 2 shaft project 277 days

 –  South Deep  177 days

 – LoM Hydromet process plant  257 days

 –  Impala 17  350 days

 – Cut 8 contract mining 1 million hours

 –  Venetia drill and blast 1 million hours

 – Goldfields Metallurgical plant upgrade 1 million hours

 –  TWP Sishen Kumba projects – various over 1 000 days

 – TWP’s Impala shaft 17 team recorded one million fatality-free shifts worked, translating into 8,5 million fatality-free 

hours worked, with 50 companies involved on site

 – TWP process and mining projects recorded zero fatalities for 2011

Safety and health 

In keeping with international best practice, 

Basil Read’s risk, safety, health, environmental 

and quality practices have been incorporated 

into a transversal SHERQ division. This 

ensures a risk-driven approach to safety, health 

and environmental practices on project sites 

and the incorporation of all these activities 

into the quality management system for the 

consistent maintenance of quality standards.

The SHERQ approach supports the 

governance requirements of guidelines such as 

King III and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 

and forms the basis of the integrated 

certification of the Basil Read group under the 

international ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and 

OSHAS 18000 standards.  Both project and 

operational risk are managed according to the 

ISO 31000 guideline on risk, ensuring Basil 

Read remains at the forefront of managing risk 

–  both on an enterprise level and within 

projects for our clients.

We believe all workplace injuries and illnesses 

are preventable. This is driven by:

 –  An uncompromising commitment to zero 

harm.

 –  Active involvement of all stakeholders.

 –  Continuous improvement of our systems, 

procedures and standards.

 –  Applying industry best practice.

 –  Continuously training and developing our 

people on risk and safety awareness.

The group applies a ‘do it right first time’ 

principle on every project, with the SHERQ 

system functioning as the procedural tool 

during project management.  As such, Basil 

Read fully complies with the requirements of 

the International Standards Organisation (ISO) 

and the relevant SHE legislation, ie 

Occupational Health and Safety Act, Mine 

Health and Safety Act, National Environmental 

Management Act, etc.

Basil Read successfully completed the NQA 

surveillance audit and retained its certification 

for ISO 9001, OHSAS 18001 and ISO 14001 

with the fewest findings recorded in the 

company’s history. The certification audit is 

scheduled for November 2012. 

In August 2011, Basil Read Mining/Blasting & 

Excavating achieved ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and 

OHSAS 18001 certifications, underscoring 

their total alignment to the group and 

commitment to compliance.

All controls and procedures are formalised 

against a comprehensive quality and safety 

management system, and certified under the 

following international and national 

accreditations: ISO 9001:2008, OHSAS 

18001:2007 and ISO 14001:2007.

The implementation of the annual SHERQ 

improvement plan for the group is closely 
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monitored through monthly feedback to the 

chief executive officer and senior executives. 

Any identified shortcomings are immediately 

addressed and incorporated as goals for 

continual improvement.

Safety
The driving force behind project delivery, 

teamwork, operational discipline and overall 

business excellence in Basil Read’s operations 

remains SHERQ (safety, health, environment, 

risk management and quality).

The group regularly introduces and drives 

training and information initiatives aimed at 

increasing awareness of occupational health, 

safety, environmental and quality among 

subcontractors, management and our 

employees. 

As a group, Basil Read has adopted the slogan 

because we care. This is being rolled out in 

2012 to reinforce our commitment to SHERQ 

and all related elements. The cornerstones of 

this approach are care, innovation and 

excellence. 

At TWP, this initiative was fully implemented 

during the year at all process and mining 

projects, with a total of 938 observations 

submitted during this period.  Analysis of 

information reaffirms that most incidents are 

related to unsafe acts caused by human 

behaviour.

Safety posters highlighting a specific topic are 

distributed throughout the company each 

month to ensure ongoing safety awareness 

and serve as discussion topics with employees 

during toolbox talks.

The health and safety support function in the 

group gained new momentum during the year 

with the continuous behaviour-based safety 

training programme now implemented on 

52 sites throughout South Africa. The Basil 

Read induction booklet and DVD were 

revised and are being distributed to the 

various sites for implementation in 2012.

In recent years, the disabling-injury frequency 

rate (DIFR) has dropped from 0,58 in 2009 to 

0,43 in 2011. While this falls short of the 

target set at 0,3 for the review period, it does 

show a marked improvement on results for 

2010:

 –  Lost-time injuries down from 54 to 32.

 –  Reportable incidents down from 14 to 10.

 –  Fatalities down from five to one.

The recorded fatality happened during an 

operator changeover at our Sierra Leone 

project, when an unauthorised person 

operated a bulldozer causing the death of the 

actual operator. The site was closed and the 

necessary corrective and disciplinary measures 

put in place before work resumed.

At TWP, the DIFR dropped from 1,18 in 2010 

to 1,13 in 2011:

 –  Lost-time injuries down from 44 to 40.

 –  Reportable incidents were flat at 17 for 

2011.

 –  Zero fatalities for 2010 and 2011.

Understanding that over 90% of all accidents 

are caused by human behaviour, decreasing 

at-risk behaviour remains key in our group. 

Equally, we believe behaviour-based safety is 

not a programme, it is a process. Because we 

are serious about continually reducing 

work-related injuries, our focus is on making 

safety a way of life.

This approach requires a systematic 

attitudinal change that puts safety uppermost 

in every employee’s mind, reinforced by peer 

support and evaluation, and a full-time 

behaviour-based safety champion to ensure a 

smooth roll-out and continuation of the 

programme. In addition, full-time SHERQ 

practitioners are part of the management 

team in each division, assuring Basil Read 

clients of the highest levels of quality and 

professionalism on each project.

Basil Read’s zero-harm approach is promoted 

from the top down and bottom up throughout 

the company. Wherever possible, safer 

practices are adopted and lessons learnt 

shared across the group.

Safety milestones during 
the year

–   We have established a safety 

executive committee with 

representation across the group 

to ensure standardisation and to 

initiate and drive our strategic 

plans in 2012.

–   In the buildings division, our 

Trompsburg site won the Master 

Builders Association trophy for 

best safety achievement in the 

Free State.

–   Various sites received client 

awards for no lost-time injuries 

without a lost-time injury.
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inducted through our human resources 

system and then on site for site-specific 

induction. Ongoing induction and training on 

the SHERQ management system ensures all 

employees, particularly new employees, 

understand and can meet their responsibilities. 

In addition, an induction DVD is distributed to 

all sites. This greatly reduces time spent on the 

induction process and frees our safety 

personnel to focus on areas where they can 

add more value.

A Flagman training DVD has been developed 

to assist our remote sites in ensuring traffic 

safety is maintained throughout each project. 

Legal compliance, subcontractor management 

and risk assessment training is continually 

provided to all project managers, supervisors 

and foremen to ensure a clear understanding 

of their legal responsibilities.

Health
Basil Read has had a health monitoring 

programme in place since 2006 to ensure all 

employees are fit and healthy for their specific 

roles and responsibilities. Regular medicals are 

conducted on site by a professional third party.

In recent years, we have expanded entry and 

exit medicals for all group and subcontractor 

employees to develop a clear understanding of 

the key occupational health risks faced by our 

group, which include:

 –  Noise-induced hearing loss.

 –  Vibrating equipment.

 –  Dust.

 –  Substance abuse.

 –  Vision impairment (particularly stress-

related).

 –  Fatigue.

Specific programmes are in place to address 

these risks, from enforced rest periods to 

counter the effects of fatigue to six-week 

suspension periods with counselling before 

retesting in the case of identified substance 

abuse.

HIV/Aids
Acknowledging the seriousness of HIV/Aids in 

the workplace and in our operating areas, the 

Basil Read group is working towards being 

a model in the marketplace. This includes 

positively influencing customers, suppliers and 

competitors in their response to this 

challenge.

Results of specific objectives set for 2011

 –  Adopting international reporting standards 

– this will now take place in 2012. 

 –  100% compliance with the Basil Read safety 

and environmental legal audit results – 

average achieved was 90%.

 –  90% compliance with the Basil Read SHERQ 

management system group audit results – 

average achieved was 84%.

 –  At least 90% score on resident engineer 

assessments – average achieved was 84%.

 –  Average 90% score per site on client 

assessments – average achieved was 87%.

 –  Entrench behaviour-based safety – 

programme rolled out to 52 sites.

 –  Safety DIFR of less than 0,3 – as a group we 

achieved 0,43.

 –  Improving subcontractor compliance with 

Basil Read’s SHERQ requirements. 

Subcontractors are audited monthly and a 

permit-to-work system has ensured their 

legal compliance prior to starting activities.

Objectives in 2012

 –  Adopting international reporting standards. 

 –  Continuous improvement of the SHERQ 

management system. 

 –  100% compliance with Basil Read safety and 

environmental legal audits.

 –  Minimum of 90% compliance with the Basil 

Read SHERQ management system group 

audit.

 –  Resident engineer assessments – minimum 

score of 90% per assessment.

 –  Client assessment – minimum score of 90% 

per assessment.

 –  Continuous reduction of DIFR to a target 

of less than 0,1.

 –  Reviewing our subcontractor evaluation 

system for effective management and 

feedback into the estimating process.

 –  Introducing client expectation 

questionnaire.

The zero-harm approach extends to our 

subcontractors. A permit-to-work system was 

introduced in 2010. Both the project manager 

and site safety manager must sign off that any 

subcontractors are both legally compliant and 

have the necessary competencies prior to 

starting work.

Compliance 
Statutory and internal compliance is 

monitored monthly through legal compliance 

audits, internal and group audits. Against a 

target of 90% compliance, SHEQ group audits 

recorded an average of 84%, and legal 

compliance audits an average of 90%. The 

target for 2012 has been set at 90% for 

group audits and 100% for legal compliance 

audits.

Basil Read’s history of compliance underscores 

our commitment to a working environment 

that does no harm:

 –  In 1998, we were one of the first local 

construction companies to be certified to 

ISO 9001:1994.

 –  In 2003, Basil Read was the first local 

construction company to achieve 

ISO 9001:2000 certification.

 –  Also in 2003, we were assessed and 

certified as meeting the requirements of 

OHSAS 18001:1999.

 –  In 2009, Basil Read successfully completed 

its reassessment on ISO 9001:2008 and 

OHSAS 18001:2007 certification with 

NQA, an international certification body. 

The group was also certified to ISO 

14001:2007 standards, a global benchmark 

of environmental best practices. 

To ensure continuous improvement, resident 

engineer and employer questionnaires are 

completed for all sites. The responses 

received, coupled with results from internal 

and external group audits, reinforce the 

benefits of an integrated system and group-

wide commitment to implementing the 

SHERQ system. 

Safety training
The induction process has been streamlined 

to ensure that all new employees are firstly 
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Environment

Highlights
 – Basil Read retained its ISO 14001  

accreditation in 2011.

 – TWP received ISO 14001  

accreditation in March 2011.

 – Group carbon footprint for 2011  

determined.

 – Group signed an energy-efficiency  

leadership network pledge.

 – Green building design at new  

head office.

The group’s commitment to green building 

extends to the intelligent design of the Basil 

Read Campus buildings, which will house all 

construction and mining divisional staff and 

subsidiary companies at the head office in 

Boksburg. Although the buildings have not yet 

been officially rated by the Green Building 

Council of South Africa, they encompass 

world-class green building standards.

The campus buildings are positioned on a 

north-south orientation to maximise the use of 

natural light and for optimum efficiency when 

options such as solar power are implemented. 

All buildings use solar heaters for hot-water 

supply. Glazing (high-performance double 

glazing) has been limited to the eastern and 

western facades to minimise solar heat gain 

into the building, reducing the workload on 

the air-conditioning system. 

The building has been designed to be more 

energy efficient than standard commercial 

office buildings by using: 

 –  A high ratio of external glazing to reduce 

dependency on artificial light.

 –  Large overhangs to shade glazing as far as 

possible. 

 –  Motion-operated light sensors. 

 –  Energy-efficient light fittings. 

To save water, toilets are fitted with 

dual-flush systems; taps are electronically 

operated to supply required amounts only. 

Rainwater from the roof and groundwater 

from the subsoil drainage system is collected 

in storage tanks in the basement and used for  

irrigation, alleviating pressure on the 

municipal water supply. In the landscape 

design, we planted only indigenous flora and 

succulents to minimise water use. The 

inclusion of basement levels has reduced 

surface parking and increased the amount 

of landscaped and green spaces around the 

building. This ultimately reduces hard 

surfaces, solar radiation and stormwater 

runoff.

Maintaining international standards and 

compliance 
Understanding the direct and indirect impact 

of construction activities on our environment, 

we again made solid progress in environmental 

management during the review period. The 

global standards in place at Basil Read are 

reflected in our ISO 14001 accreditation, 

which was confirmed early in the review 

period. 

In recent years, environmental considerations 

have become far more important in planning 

projects. While Basil Read’s clients are 

responsible for completing the mandatory 

environmental impact assessments and 

developing an appropriate environmental 

management plan, we supplement the client’s 

plan with our own stringent framework to 

ensure the best possible environmental 

practices on each site.

Basil Read has also proactively developed an 

environmental checklist, based on ISO and 

OHSAS standards, for all tenders. In addition, 

we have our own environmental management 

plans for specific group developments such as 

Rolling Hills.

During the year, Basil Read received no fines 

for non-compliance in any of its operations. 

No major spills were recorded at any of our 

sites.

Carbon footprint for the Basil Read 

group
In 2011, the group initiated an independent 

assessment of its baseline carbon footprint. 

This was compiled according to ISO 14064:1 

standards, as well as Greenhouse Gas 

Protocol guidelines (www.ghgprotocol.org), 

and covered only activities over which Basil 

Read has control. By applying these principles, 

the greenhouse gas (GHG) inventory 

constitutes a true and fair representation of 

the company’s GHG emissions.

In line with international best practice, data 

was collected on direct emissions (Scope 1), 

energy indirect emissions (Scope 2) and other 

indirect emissions (Scope 3). Direct emissions 

are those from sources owned or controlled 

by the company. An indirect GHG emission is 

the consequence of the company’s activities 

but occurs at sources owned or controlled by 

another company. While the boundaries of 

Scope 1 and 2 emissions are clearly defined, 

Scope 3 presents more of a challenge. This 

additional voluntary disclosure requires 

surveying an organisation’s entire supply chain, 

as well as those of its suppliers. Basil Read 

elected to include Scope 3 emissions in its 

carbon footprint in the interests of accurate 

and transparent reporting.

We also elected to adopt the conservative 

approach of excluding the carbon dioxide 

absorbed by vegetation on areas either owned 

by Basil Read or site rehabilitation. Given the 

extensive tree-planting activities of our 

developments division, this may become 

pertinent in future.

Our baseline carbon footprint quantifies and 

reports emissions associated with the 

following activities:

 –  Scope 1: fossil fuel consumption – diesel, 

petrol.

 –  Scope 2: use of national grid electricity.

 –  Scope 3: business travel (road and air).



94

Sustainability CONTINUED

The 2009 baseline carbon footprint was 

calculated at 76 736 tonnes CO
2
-e, with 

an emissions intensity of 16,46 tonnes  

CO
2
-e/R1 million revenue. The 2011 carbon 

footprint has increased to 222 092 from 2009. 

This is directly attributable to including  

Scope 3 emissions in the 2011 figures. In 

addition, there was a 46.2% CO
2
-e/R1 million 

revenue increase in tonnes from 2009.

The breakdown of emission sources is shown 

below. Given the dominance of surface mining 

and roads and earthworks in group 

operations, the entities with the highest 

emissions are our roads division (39%) and 

Basil Read offices (26%) which includes 

subsidiary companies. The Basil Read 

operations are divided into permanent 

operations (offices) and temporary operations 

(construction sites) as shown alongside.

Scope 1 and 2 emissions of divisions in Basil Read

Temporary operations – Scope 1 and 2

Basil Read plant  6 740.1

 162.0

 9 069.2

 3 623.1

 3 264.3

 5 599.0

 31 185.0

SprayPave

Roadcrete

Roads

Civils

Buildings

Mining

B
u
si

n
es

s 
u
n
it
s

Business division

Tonnes of CO
2
-e

Permanent operations – Scope 1 and 2

TWP Projects  1 800.0

 1 434.1Head office*

B
u
si

n
es

s 
u
n
it
s

Business division

Tonnes of CO
2
-e

*  Head office includes Basil Read, Durban, Valente Brothers and Newport Construction offices
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Emission intensity

Year Employee intensity Financial intensity

2009 16,65 16,46

2011 39,30 36,65

Overall emission scopes and emission 

sources of Basil Read

The results of the 2011 carbon footprint have 

highlighted Scope 3 activities (road travel and 

air travel) as the largest contributor. The major 

emission source is directly and indirectly 

associated with burning fuel (diesel and 

petrol). Business travel increased significantly 

in 2011 compared to 2009. 

Effects of climate change

Global climate change has been identified as a 

risk where detrimental weather events and 

temperature extremes will have a direct effect 

on our construction operations, rendering 

sites unworkable (flood events) and affecting 

All emissions

Scope 1  – 28%
Scope 2 – 2%
Scope 3 – 70%

Emission sources – Scope 1 and 2

Diesel  – 92%
Petrol – 2%
Electricity – 6%

the health and safety of our workforce. Our 

operations in the civils, roads and buildings 

divisions particularly are highly vulnerable to 

short- and long-term effects of climate change.

As the group is a significant contributor to 

greenhouse gas emissions (including mining 

operations), these impacts are identified and 

reported in group risk registers. Managing 

these impacts is carried out at source 

(operational construction sites). 

Although not solely attributed to climate 

change effects, risks associated with extreme 

weather are factored into our risk analysis 

and response; this is reflected in the risk 

assessment at each of our operations and 

updated as risks become more prevalent. In 

addition to risk assessments, an early-warning 

weather system is being successfully used by 

the roads division. This has proved useful in 

managing working times and conditions in 

light of extreme weather (heavy rains and 

potential for flooding) that directly affects 

production.

Basil Read is interacting directly and 

indirectly with policy makers to encourage 

further action on mitigation and/or 

adaptation. This includes representation on 

several groups providing input and advice on 

sustainable practices in business:

 –  Institute of Directors’ sustainable 

development forum: a multi-disciplinary 

team of experts aiding the business sector 

on sustainable development practices by 

drafting and distributing position papers 

ranging from business response to climate 

change to ethical business practices.

 –  Climate leadership programme: this is a 

Germany-funded initiative encouraging 

south-south interaction between South 

Africa and Indonesia to cultivate the 

climate leaders whose interaction will aid 

in developing sustainable solutions for 

climate change in the cities of emerging 

countries.

 –  National Business Initiative: voluntary 

group of leading national and multinational 

companies, working towards sustainable 

growth and development in South Africa 

through partnerships, practical 

programmes and policy engagement 

through evidence-based experience and 

research in key areas. 

Objectives in 2012 

 –  10% carbon footprint reduction across the 

group.

 –  Sites will complete a sustainability report 

each month to assist in managing our 

carbon footprint. The report will provide 

detailed information on waste disposal, 

recycling, use of resources (water, electricity, 

fuel and include LPG gas), environmental 

incidents/achievements and community 

initiatives.

Quality
Internal audits are conducted at sites 

throughout the year on the effectiveness of 

the group’s quality assurance system, based on 

the requirements of ISO 9001:2008. Against a 

target of 90% compliance, the quality group 

audits recorded an average of 85%.

The yearly surveillance audit for OHSAS 

18001, ISO 14001 and ISO 9001 was 

conducted in November 2011 over a five-day 

period. All three audits had positive outcomes, 

with only a few minor non-conformances 

recorded, and continued certification to all 

three standards confirmed. 

Objectives in 2012

 –  Roadcrete aims to obtain ISO 9001 and 

OHSAS 18001 certification.
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Go for Gold

Given the urgent need to develop a healthy skills pool in the construction 

environment, Basil Read has supported the Go for Gold initiative over the 

past two years. To date, the group has contributed over R1,5 million.

Go for Gold, a non-profit organisation, was launched in 1999 to increase 

the number of qualified, suitably equipped young people from disadvantaged 

communities to enter the engineering, building and construction industries. 

The programme, comprising four integrated phases, aims to build confidence, 

develop skills and empower young people through education, training and 

mentoring so that they may find employment in the built environment. In 

phase 1, grade 11 and 12 pupils attend tutorials for mathematics, science, 

life skills and computer skills. Phase 2 involves a one-year job shadowing/

internship, incorporating essential building programmes. In phase 3, students 

complete their tertiary education or learnership in preparation for their 

careers, and phase 4 marks the start of permanent employment. In addition 

to addressing the critical skills required to progress to the next phase, the 

programme includes life skills, communication training and mentoring. 

All beneficiaries are black youth and, at any point, at least 50% are women. 

Most candidates enter the programme with a low sense of self-worth and 

self-belief, often coming from communities where they are surrounded by 

social decay, gang activities and substance abuse. Through Go for Gold, they 

are able to obtain a qualification, gain permanent employment, and become 

role models in their communities and schools. 

The built environment, in turn, benefits from highly motivated, suitably 

equipped candidates and new talent entering the field.

Eleven students were assisted with tertiary bursaries in 2011. This was 

directly due to the Basil Read donation as the Go for Gold bursary fund 

would only have covered the cost of two bursaries. The group’s contribution 

also covered two weeks of basic induction training at the beginning of the gap 

year in 2012. 

For Basil Read, corporate social investment is 

more than just a responsible business practice 

– it is about investing in the future. The group, 

which has a long history of aligning itself with 

meaningful and sustainable programmes that 

leave an enduring legacy, is committed to 

forming significant and lasting partnerships 

with its beneficiaries. With its ongoing support 

aligned to its core business objectives, Basil 

Read aims to make a difference in the lives of 

the communities in which it operates.

We believe that for corporate social 

investment (CSI) to be truly effective in making 

a lasting and meaningful difference to the lives 

of underprivileged people and to the overall 

economic wellbeing of the country, it needs to 

be well-managed and underpinned by the 

principle of sustainability.

To ensure our initiatives fulfil real needs, a 

dedicated committee identifies projects that 

are sustainable and reflect the values of our 

group.

Corporate social 
investment
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Health 
Many employees contribute in their personal 

capacity by volunteering time, cash donations 

or participating in individual fundraising 

efforts. One of Basil Read’s subcontract 

administrators participated in a gruelling 

1 188km marathon expedition over 19 days 

for the Sunflower Fund. This organisation 

raises funds and awareness for the plight of 

those suffering from leukaemia and other 

life-threatening blood disorders. The Basil 

Read group and several staff members 

contributed towards this expedition, raising 

R65 000.

The group also supports other health-related 

initiatives, including:

 –  CHOC (children’s haematology oncology 

clinics) provides direct practical help to 

children with cancer, from diagnosis stage: 

the group sponsored an employee who 

completed the CHOC Cows cycling 

fundraiser.

A home of her own

In November 2011, Basil Read improved the quality of life for 

Ntombilezi Phungula, or Mama Phungula as she is affectionately 

known, when she was handed the keys to her new home in 

KwaDumisa by President Jacob Zuma. 

Despite severe hardships, including a massive stroke in 2004 that left 

her paralysed and bedridden, Mama Phungula has devoted herself to 

supporting her six orphaned grandchildren. They shared a self-built 

one-roomed rondavel in the remote area of KwaDumisa, solely on a 

state old-age pension. 

Mama Phungula was selected as a beneficiary of an upliftment 

project by the Jacob Zuma Foundation, which addresses the needs 

of the most impoverished members of the rural community in line 

with its mission statement of breaking the cycle of intergenerational 

poverty. Touched by her plight, Basil Read Construction, in 

association with the foundation, funded and constructed a new 

home for Mama Phungula and her grandchildren. 

As we believe we can make a real difference for fellow South 

Africans living in impoverished circumstances, we established the 

Basil Read corporate social investment (CSI) project for KwaZulu-

Natal. We are investing the bulk of our social investment resources 

in initiatives where it will have the greatest impact.

Basil Read is also in the final stages of completing a new primary 

school in Jozini, northern KwaZulu-Natal, where children attended 

classes in dilapidated mud structures belonging to a church group. 

In conjunction with the provincial department of education, 

Nondabuya Primary School was identified as a beneficiary of the 

group’s CSI project. The school will be ready in March 2012 and, as 

with Mama Phungula’s home, the work was undertaken by a local 

contractor under the supervision of Basil Read. The new school 

will benefit 270 children and teachers, and incorporated sustainable 

building elements to make it warmer in winter, cooler in summer 

and capable of recycling rainwater for irrigation.

By focusing on areas where we have real strengths – schools and 

housing developments – we aim to measurably improve living 

conditions for the rural poor through a strategic bias towards select 

rural development projects. 

Highlights

 – Cornell University students design Cosmo 

City crèche.

 – Strong support for education initiatives.

 – Empowering entrepreneurial women.
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Education

US students create Cosmo City’s first sustainable crèche
Education Africa, a non-profit organisation aimed at providing disadvantaged 
South Africans with an opportunity for better education, invited students from 
Cornell University in New York City to design and build the new crèche in 
Cosmo City. With over 70 000 expected residents, a formal childcare centre for 
Cosmo City was identified as a pressing need and will enable trained educators 
to implement early child development programmes.

During the research phase, the Cornell team consulted with educators, 
visited landmark crèches in Gauteng, and encouraged participation from local 
community members in actual construction or in outreach activities, such as 
mural painting, gardening, playground building, finishing and landscaping.

In addition to the design, the Cornell students raised US$170 000 for the 
project.

Already actively involved in bringing Cosmo City to life, from planning and 
construction, right to fruition, Basil Read assisted the student team with 
construction management; it also provided on-site safety measures, transport 
and construction supervision. 

To manage costs effectively, Cornell sent 30 volunteers to work with local 
workers, community members and skilled craftsmen. The new crèche was 
designed around the principle of sustainability, cooling and heating naturally 
without excessive electricity use for lighting and temperature control. Materials 
used create employment opportunities through non-mechanised production 
techniques using small amounts of electricity. The crèche was completed in 
August 2011 and opened in January 2012.

Skills development

Women in the construction industry
Basil Read believes in empowering women in the construction industry and 
recently partnered with Khuthaza to take a group of 70 emerging female 
engineers on a site visit to the Sunderland Ridge waste water treatment project. 
This broadened their career experience and gave them valuable insight into 
construction work in progress.  

As a non-profit organisation, Khuthaza interacts with government, industry 
role-players and other stakeholders to encourage change, partnership and 
transformation. Through a number of initiatives, it contributes to creating a 
foundation for sustainable change. Khuthaza’s programmes are aimed at women 
who are students or professionals to develop talent and contractors. It also 
hopes to build bridges through industry facilitation, advocacy, information 
dissemination and support. 

A great deal of Khuthaza’s work falls within the scope of enterprise 
development, particularly through its contractor development programmes. In 
2011, Basil Read’s financial and technical support played a significant role in these 
programmes, particularly important in a sluggish economy when it is difficult for 
emerging contractors to gain exposure to practical on-site experience. 

One of the components of the programme is to expose the participants to 
large construction projects, and build networking opportunities. The partnership 
between Khuthaza and Basil Read will see the companies working together to 
invest in the capacity of the industry through contractor development, building 
on the willingness of established companies to share their time and skills with 
emerging contractors.

During the site visit, a senior contracts manager from Basil Read fielded 
delegates’ questions on concrete placing, construction methodology and, more 
importantly, opportunities for emerging contractors in South Africa.
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Doxa Deo Foundation
In a new partnership with the Doxa Deo Foundation, Basil Read committed 
to contributing to the education funds of two of its education institutions 
for 2011. The foundation represents a number of non-profit organisations 
committed to uplifting vulnerable children through educational programmes 
and other welfare and development initiatives.

Basil Read has contributed to the operational costs of the POPKids Crèche 
based at POPUP skills development centres and the Doxa Deo Edendale 
School in Mamelodi.  

POPUP is a skills development programme based in Salvokop, a community 
on the outskirts of Pretoria largely characterised by poverty and other social 
challenges. Recognising the significant need, particularly in the lives of young 
children, this organisation established POPKids to care for children as young 
as 12 months up to five years. The POPKids facility can accommodate up to 
77 children daily in a safe and loving environment. A holistic development 
programme has also been established to develop and stimulate children 
spiritually, emotionally, educationally, physically, psychologically and socially. 
The programmes are built on a structured routine that provides security 
and stability for the children. In addition POPKids also provides two healthy 
meals per day, weekly occupational therapy sessions, clothing, free medical 
services and extra food parcels to families in need.

The crèche cares for inner-city children, providing healthy meals, clothing and 
medical services, and its programmes are designed to stimulate educational, 
emotional and spiritual development.

The Doxa Deo Edendale School comprises a primary and high school, as well 
as the Makhulong child and youth care centres. The school has 670 children 
enrolled, all from previously disadvantaged communities. Often these children 
have faced severe poverty and sometimes extreme abuse. The youth centres 
also provide two foster homes for around 20 children. In June 2011, Basil 
Read staff members assisted with building renovations at the Edendale 
school – the first of many planned participation days. 

The Doxa Deo Makhulong Children’s Homes is another of the initiatives that 
Basil Read contributes to as part of its corporate social investment. In this 
instance, the group contribution was used to pay school fees and fund other 
activities to improve the lives of these children.

Ambassadors in sport 
Bringing hope and opportunity to youth 

through football is the primary goal of the 

global Ambassadors in Sport initiative. Basil 

Read has been involved with the South African 

project since 2008.

A community-based non-profit and public-

benefit organisation, the flagship project is the 

Hope Academy programme being run across 

South Africa. These projects are intensely 

focused on helping disadvantaged children 

reach their full potential both on and off the 

football field.

This year, Basil Read made a commitment to 

support the organisation on a monthly basis, 

with the specific goal of developing a new 

Hope Academy in Mamelodi. Ambassadors in 

Sport has been conducting a feasibility survey 

in the township and conducting community 

football events. In August 2011, several Basil 

Read staff members participated in the 

Ambassadors in Sport Match for a Day to help 

raise awareness and additional funds for this 

initiative.

Basil Read funding was used to support a 

coaching clinic for over 100 children, an 

ongoing weekly football programme and an 

annual football tournament for a dozen 

community teams.

The broader group
Some Basil Read subsidiaries also have active 

CSI programmes under way, although an 

increasingly coordinated group-wide approach 

is being used. In most cases, subsidiary 

activities are targeted at specific needs in local 

communities.

Basil Read Mining

De Beers Venetia mine, together with one of 

its contractors, Basil Read subsidiary Blasting 

& Excavating, helped renovate the local Alldays 

Combined School, working with members of 

the local community. This school falls in the 

Blouberg municipal area and has more than 

400 learners.
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Index to Global Reporting Initiative indicators

This index includes the 2009 GRI guidelines (G3.1) and 2010 construction and real estate sector supplement

GRI 

element Topic Page

Strategy and analysis

1.1 Statement from CEO 28

1.2 Key impacts, risks and opportunities 12

Organisational profile

2.1 Name Cover

2.2 Primary products 2/3

2.3 Operational structure 2/3

2.4 Location of head office 201

2.5 Countries of operation 4 – 7

2.6 Nature of ownership 193

2.7 Markets served 2 – 3

2.8 Scale of organisation 2 – 3

2.9 Significant changes to organisation n/a

2.10 Awards 71

Report parameters

3.1 Reporting period 1

3.2 Date of previous report 1

3.3 Reporting cycle 1

3.4 Contact points 201

3.5 Process for defining report content 1

3.6 Boundary of report 1

3.7 Limitations 1

3.8 Basis for reporting on joint ventures, etc 110

3.9 Data measurement techniques and assumptions 1

3.10 Explanation of restatements 1

3.11 Significant changes to scope, boundary or methods 1

3.12 GRI index 100

3.13 Policy and practice on external assurance 1, 78

Key:  n/a Not applicable

    nr Not reported
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GRI 

element Topic Page

Governance, commitments and engagement

4.1 Governance structure 75

4.2 Status of chairperson 75

4.3 Independent non-executive directors 75

4.4 Mechanisms for stakeholders to interact with board 35

4.5 Link between compensation and performance 76 – 77

4.6 Process for avoiding conflict of interest 79

4.7 Expertise of board 75

4.8 Policies on economic, environmental and social performance 30, 77

4.9 Procedures for board oversight of economic, environmental and social performance 77

4.10 Board performance 76

4.11 Precautionary approach 77

4.12 External principles endorsed 1

4.13 Membership of industry associations and advocacy groups 95

4.14 Stakeholder groups 83

Identify and report stakeholder groups engaged at organisational level versus those engaged at project/asset level 83

4.15 Basis for identification 83

4.16 Approach to stakeholder engagement 83

4.17 Topics and concerns raised, response 83
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GRI 

element Topic Page

Economic

EC1 Economic value generated and distributed 106

EC2 Financial implications, risks and opportunities due to climate change and other sustainability issues 93, 95

EC3 Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations 167

EC4 Significant financial assistance from government Zero

EC5 Standard entry-level wage compared to local minimum wage 77

EC6 Policy, practices, and spending on local suppliers 88

EC7 
Procedures for local hiring, proportion of senior management and all direct employees, contractors and subcontractors 

hired from local community
89

EC8 Development and impact of infrastructure investments and services for public benefit n/a

EC9 Significant indirect economic impacts 96

Materials

EN1 Materials used by weight, value or volume nr

EN2 Percentage recycled and re-used input materials 95

Energy

EN3 Direct consumption by primary energy source 94

EN4 Indirect consumption by primary source (in gigajoules (GJ) and kilowatt hours (kWh), using recognised conversion factors) 94

CRE1 Building energy intensity n/a

EN5 Energy saved from conservation and efficiency improvements 94

EN6 Reductions from energy-efficient or renewable energy-based products and services 94

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption, reductions achieved 94

Water

EN8 Total water withdrawal by source (m3/year) nr

EN9 Sources significantly affected by withdrawal nr

EN10 Percentage and volume recycled and re-used nr

CRE2 Building water intensity nr

Biodiversity

EN11 Location and size of land owned, leased, managed or next to protected areas, areas of high biodiversity value n/a

EN12 Description of significant impacts of activities n/a

EN13 Habitats protected or restored n/a

EN14 Strategies, actions and plans for managing impacts on biodiversity n/a

EN15 IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species in areas affected by operations n/a

Key:  n/a Not applicable

    nr Not reported
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GRI 

element Topic Page

Emissions, effluents, and waste

EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight 94

EN17 Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions 94

CRE3 GHG gas emissions intensity from building energy 94

CRE4 Greenhouse gas emissions intensity from new construction and redevelopment activity 94

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, reductions achieved 94

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances n/a

EN20 NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions by type and weight n/a

EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination (planned and unplanned in m3/yr) nr, 95

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method nr, 95

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills nr, 95

EN24 Waste transported under terms of Basel Convention (Annex I, II, III, VIII) n/a

EN25 
Identity, size, protected status, and biodiversity value of water bodies and related habitats significantly affected by 

discharges of water and runoff
n/a

CRE5
Land remediated and in need of remediation for the existing or intended land use, according to applicable legal 

designations
n/a

Products and services

EN26 
Initiatives to enhance efficiency and mitigate environmental impacts of real estate and infrastructure assets, extent of 

mitigation
93

EN27 Percentage of products sold and packaging materials reclaimed by category n/a

Compliance

EN28 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations Zero

Transport

EN29 Significant impacts of transporting products, and members of workforce 95

EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and investments by type nr

Social performance: labour practices and decent work

LA1 Workforce by employment type, employment contract, gender and region 84

LA2 Number and rate of new employee hires and employee turnover by age group, gender, and region 87

LA3 Benefits for full-time employees not provided to temporary/part-time employees nr

LA15 Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, by gender nr
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GRI 

element Topic Page

Labour/management relations

LA4 Percentage employees covered by collective bargaining agreements 88

LA5 Minimum notice period on significant changes, including specified in collective agreements nr

Occupational health and safety

LA6 Percentage workforce represented in formal joint H&S committees to monitor and advise on programmes 91

LA7 
Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, absenteeism, work-related fatalities broken down by employees, 

supervised employees and independent contractors
91

CRE6
Percentage of organisation operating in verified compliance with internationally recognised health and safety 

management system, eg OHSAS 180001 or equivalent
90

LA8 
Education, training, counselling, prevention, and risk-control programmes to assist workforce members, their families or 

community members with serious diseases
92

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions 92

Training and education

LA10 Average hours of training per year per employee, by gender and by employee category nr

LA11 Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning that support continued employability 85

LA12 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews nr

Diversity and equal opportunity

LA13 
Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per category: gender, age group, minority group 

membership, and other indicators of diversity 
nr

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category nr

Social performance: human rights

Investment and procurement practices

HR1 % and # of significant investment agreements with human rights clauses or human rights screening nr

HR2 % significant suppliers and contractors screened on human rights and actions taken nr

HR3 Total hours and percentage employee training on aspects of human rights relevant to operations nr

Non-discrimination

HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken Zero

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

HR5 Operations where right to freedom of association and collective bargaining at significant risk, actions to support rights Zero

HR6 Operations with significant risk for incidents of child labour, measures to eliminate Zero

HR7 Operations with significant risk of forced or compulsory labour, measures to eliminate Zero

Security practices

HR8 Percentage security personnel trained in policies/procedures on human rights relevant to operations nr

Indigenous rights

HR9 Number of violations involving rights of indigenous people and actions taken Zero

HR10 Percentage and number of operations subject to human rights reviews and/or impact assessments n/a

HR11 Number of grievances related to human rights filed, addressed and resolved through formal mechanisms Zero

Key:  n/a Not applicable

    nr Not reported
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GRI 

element Topic Page

Social performance: society

Community

SO1 Percentage of operations with implemented local community engagement, impact assessments, and development programmes 100%

SO9 Operations with significant potential or actual negative and positive impacts on local communities 96

SO10
Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in operations with significant potential or actual negative impacts on 

local communities
96

CRE7 Number of persons voluntarily and involuntarily displaced and/or resettled by development, broken down by project Zero

Corruption

SO2 Percentage and number of business units analysed for risks related to corruption 72, 79

SO3 Percentage of employees trained in anti-corruption policies and procedures 78

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption 79

Public policy

SO5 Public policy positions and participation in public policy development and lobbying nr

SO6 Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to political parties, politicians, and related institutions n/a

Anti-competitive behaviour

SO7 Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust and monopoly practices, outcomes 79

Compliance

SO8 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations 79

Social performance: product responsibility 

Customer health and safety

PR1 
Lifecycle stages in which impacts of real estate and infrastructure assets are assessed for improvement, percentage of 

significant products and services categories subject to such procedures 
n/a

PR2 
Number non-compliances with regulations and voluntary codes on health and safety impacts of real estate and 

infrastructure assets (only to operation, refurbishment and demolition of assets) during lifecycle, by type of outcomes
n/a

Products and service labelling

PR3 
Type of information required (eg building and infrastructure components and materials), % of significant products 

concerned 
n/a

CRE8
Type and number of sustainability certification, rating and labelling schemes for new construction, management, 

occupation and redevelopment
90, 93

PR4 Incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes on labelling Zero

PR5 Practices related to customer satisfaction including results of surveys measuring customer satisfaction 90, 93

Marketing communications

PR6 Programmes for adherence to laws, standards, and voluntary codes 90, 93

PR7 Incidents of non-compliance Zero

Customer privacy

PR8 Substantiated complaints on breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data n/a

Compliance

PR9 Significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning provision and use of products and services n/a
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2011 2010

 73% Employees 61%

 5% Providers of capital 8%

 4% Government 7%

 17% Retained for re-investment 23%

 1% Management 1%

Value added statement 

The value added statement measures performance in terms of value added by the group through the collective efforts of management, employees 

and the providers of capital. The statement shows how value added has been distributed to those contributing to its creation.

 2011 
 R’000 %

 2010 
 R’000 %

Value added during the year

Total revenue  6 230 456  5 389 769 

Contract revenue  6 000 764  5 196 208 

Other revenue  229 692  193 561 

Cost of materials, subcontractors and other services  (4 070 347)  (3 645 564)

Value added from trading operations  2 160 109 98,93%  1 744 205 96,51%

Interest income  23 284 1,07%  63 068 3,49%

Total value added  2 183 393 100,00%  1 807 273 100,00%

Distributions during the year

Management

Salaries, retirement and other benefits  22 462 1,03%  22 769 1,26%

Employees

Salaries, retirement and other benefits  1 602 331 73,38%  1 106 789 61,24%

Providers of capital

Interest on borrowings and dividends paid  112 418 5,15%  136 792 7,57%

Government

Taxation  81 580 3,74%  119 370 6,60%

Total distributions  1 818 791 83,30%  1 385 720 76,67%

Retained for re-investment  364 602 16,70%  421 553 23,33%

Depreciation  267 039  221 325 

Income retained in the business  97 563  200 228 

Total distributions  2 183 393 100,00%  1 807 273 100,00%

Notes

Income retained in the business

Breakdown of income retained in the business is as follows:

Controlled income from operations  97 127  208 951 

Share of profit/(loss) of associates after taxation  6 708  (188)

Non-controlling interests  (6 272)  (8 535)

 97 563  200 228 

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries. 

The financial statements presented on pages 110 to 193 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and 

include amounts based upon judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported 

by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS that they consider to be applicable have been followed. The directors are satisfied that 

the information contained in the financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the group at year-end. 

The directors also prepared the other information included in the integrated annual report and are responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with 

the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with reasonable accuracy the 

financial position of the group companies to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the relevant legislation.

Basil Read Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries operate in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly reviewed. 

This incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are 

safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the directors have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going 

concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. These financial statements support the viability of the company and the 

group.

The group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, audited the financial statements and their report is presented on page 109. The preparation of 

the financial statements was supervised by the financial director, Donny Gouveia.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 22 March 2012 and are signed on their behalf by:

SLL Peteni ML Heyns

Chairman Chief executive officer

22 March 2012 22 March 2012

Directors’ responsibility statement

Certificate by company secretary

In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), that for the year ended 

31 December 2011, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required of a public company 

in terms of the Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

E Kruger

Company secretary

22 March 2012
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED

We have audited the consolidated annual financial statements and annual financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited, which comprise the 

consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated and separate income statements, and the statements 

of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information, and the directors’ report, as set out on pages 110 to 193.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Basil Read Holdings Limited 

as at 31 December 2011, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc

Director: FJ Lombard

Registered auditor

Johannesburg

22 March 2012

Report of the independent auditors
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Directors’ report

The directors present their 27th annual report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of the company and of the group for the year ended 

31 December 2011.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Basil Read is one of the top construction companies in South Africa. The company is listed on the JSE Limited and its subsidiary companies are active in the 

areas of civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed integrated housing developments, property development, bitumen distribution, opencast mining, 

blasting and engineering and project management solutions. These subsidiaries operate throughout Africa and internationally.

DIVIDENDS

A dividend of 30 cents per share was declared and paid during the year under review, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010. No dividend was 

declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change to the issued share capital of the company in the year under review.

OPERATING RESULTS

The financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company and that of the group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out on  

pages 118 to 192.

The group made a profit after taxation of R135 million (2010: R252 million) during the year under review.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The group acquired property, plant and equipment to the amount of R648 million (2010: R423 million) during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 1 January 2011, the group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R94 million. The company 

is a property-owning company.

On 1 June 2011, the group disposed of 30% of the share capital of Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R2 million, thereby giving the 

group an effective 70% interest in the company.

On 30 September 2011, the group acquired the remaining 12,5% of the share capital of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd for no consideration, thereby giving the group 

an effective 100% interest in the company.

On 30 September 2011, the group disposed of 50% of the share capital of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R5,7 million. The jointly 

controlled entity was renamed TWSP (Pty) Ltd.

On 31 December 2011, the TWP group disposed of its full 74% share held in TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd for no consideration.

The information relating to the company’s financial interest in its subsidiaries and joint ventures is set out in notes 15, 39, 41, 42, 43 and 45 to the financial 

statements.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

During the 2011 financial year, the group acquired a 35% share in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd, a provider of alternative energy sources for a purchase consideration 

of R10 million.

For more information on the group’s investments in associates refer to notes 16 and 40 to the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Interest-bearing borrowings comprise bank borrowings, instalment sale agreements and a domestic medium-term note programme. Other borrowings 

comprise the amount due to former shareholders of the companies that the group has acquired over the last few years. During the year borrowings 

increased due to new instalment sale agreements entered into to fund capital expenditure and an increase in the domestic medium-term note programme. 

The increase in borrowings was partly offset by the repayment of banking loans and amounts due to former shareholders of acquired companies.

For more information on the group’s borrowings, refer to notes 27 and 28 to the financial statements.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

On 13 February 2012, the group concluded an agreement for the sale of 100% of Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd, a property-owning subsidiary, for a 

sale consideration of R66,3 million. The agreement was concluded with Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd, a related party in relation to the group. In terms 

of the agreement, Basil Read further agreed to acquire 50% of Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd for a purchase consideration of R44,4 million. 

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd is the owner of the Basil Read head office campus.

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Details of shareholder categories are set out on page 193 of this report.

DIRECTORATE

The following were directors of the company during the year under review:

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni Independent non-executive director, chairman

Marius Lodewucus Heyns Chief executive officer, managing director

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

Nigel John Townshend Executive director

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba Non-executive director 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai Non-executive director 

Charles Peter Davies Independent non-executive director 

Given Refilwe Sibiya Independent non-executive director
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Directors’ report CONTINUED

DIRECTORS’ AND HIGHEST EARNERS’ EMOLUMENTS INCLUDING PRESCRIBED OFFICERS

Cash portion 

of package

R 

Benefits*

R 

Incentive 

bonus

R 

Gain on 

share options

 exercised

R 

Total

R 

Executive directors

2011

Paid by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 095 395  464 534  8 251 061  –    11 810 990 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  1 861 517  306 497  1 500 000  –    3 668 014 

 4 956 912  771 031  9 751 061  –    15 479 004 

Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd

Nigel John Townshend  2 618 673  457 750  1 400 000  –    4 476 423 

 7 575 585  1 228 781  11 151 061  –    19 955 427 

2010

Paid by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 120 594  459 753  9 173 039  –    12 753 386 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  1 587 464  258 973  2 000 000  –    3 846 437 

 4 708 058  718 726  11 173 039  –    16 599 823 

Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd

Nigel John Townshend  2 629 748  410 650  256 368  –    3 296 766 

 7 337 806  1 129 376  11 429 407  –    19 896 589 

* Benefits include the group’s contribution towards medical aid and provident fund.

In addition to the above remuneration, Marius Lodewucus Heyns has an agreement with the group that should he meet certain annual criteria, an additional 

deferred bonus will accrue to him.

The aggregate base amount of the deferred bonus which will accrue and be paid on 31 March 2014 will be R50 million plus accrued interest and shall be 

calculated by the group’s remuneration committee in five equal annual tranches in accordance with the following criteria, applied annually:

 – Headline earnings per share increasing by at least a percentage equal to the spot rate as at 30 September of each year of the RSA Five Year Retail Bond 

rate plus 50%. The spot rate applicable to the 2011 results was 9%. The spot rate that applies to the 2012 financial year is 8%. 

 – Cash flow from operating activities to be cash generative in each year.

 – The criteria will carry equal weight in the determination of the amount of the deferred bonus.

 – Should the criteria not be met in any one financial year, the deferred bonus will be reduced by an amount equal to that year’s tranche. 

 – The remuneration committee may recommend to the board and the board may, in their discretion, relax the criteria in any given year should they deem it 

necessary and appropriate.

Mr Heyns must remain in the employ of the group for the five-year period covered by the deferred bonus. If he leaves, unless for reasons of ill health, at any 

time during this period, none of the deferred bonus becomes due and payable.

Mr Heyns did not meet the criteria for the 2011 financial year and accordingly no provision was created in the 2011 financial year for payment of this 

deferred bonus.

Mr Heyns did not meet the criteria for the 2010 financial year and accordingly no provision was created in the 2010 financial year for payment of this 

deferred bonus.

Mr Heyns met the criteria for the 2009 financial year and accordingly a R10 million provision was raised in the 2009 financial year for payment of this 

deferred bonus.
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Services 

as director

R

Total

R

Non-executive directors

2011

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  735 000  735 000 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#   360 500  360 500 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai#  294 000  294 000 

Charles Peter Davies  602 500  602 500 

Given Refilwe Sibiya  514 500  514 500 

  2 506 500  2 506 500 

2010

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  796 000  796 000 

Lungisa Brian Dyosi#*   164 500  164 500 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#   259 000  259 000 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai#   283 500  283 500 

Charles Peter Davies  585 000  585 000 

Ntombekaya Yvonne September^  441 000  441 000 

Given Refilwe Sibiya  343 000  343 000 

  2 872 000  2 872 000 

* Resigned 6 May 2010.
^ Deceased 6 January 2011.
# Paid to the companies that these directors represent.

Directors’ fees for the 2011 financial year were paid according to the following table:

 Member

R 

 Chairman

R 

With effect from 1 January 2011

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 

Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 

Audit/risk committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 

Audit/risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Chairman’s committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Ad hoc meetings – per day  17 500 –

Directors’ fees are reviewed annually. It is proposed that directors’ fees remain unchanged as follows:

With effect from 1 January 2012

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 

Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 

Audit/risk committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 

Audit/risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Social and ethics committee – retainer 70 000 130 000

Social and ethics committee – per meeting 7 000 14 000

Chairman’s committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Ad hoc meetings – per day  17 500  –   

These fees have been waived by the executive directors. Fees are paid quarterly in arrears.
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Directors’ report CONTINUED

Cash portion 

of package

 R 

Benefits*

 R 

Incentive 

bonus

 R 

Gain on 

share options

 exercised

 R 

Total

 R 

Highest earners including prescribed officers

2011

Paid by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Christopher John Erasmus#  1 862 126  305 003  1 500 000 –  3 667 129 

Antonie Fourie#  1 332 280  151 999  1 600 000 –  3 084 279 

Two next highest earners 4 805 804 619 371 2 400 000 – 7 825 175

 8 000 210  1 076 373  5 500 000 –  14 576 583 

Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd

Digby John Glover#  1 994 891  302 694  1 500 000 –  3 797 585 

 9 995 101  1 379 067  7 000 000 –  18 374 168 

2010

Paid by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Christopher John Erasmus#  1 537 374  241 334  1 300 000 –  3 078 708 

Antonie Fourie#  1 313 235  138 206  1 300 000 –  2 751 441 

Two next highest earners 3 862 825 714 189 5 666 667 – 10 243 681

 6 713 434  1 093 729  8 266 667 –  16 073 830 

Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd

Digby John Glover  1 889 142  266 131  180 476 –  2 335 749 

 8 602 576  1 359 860  8 447 143 –  18 409 579 
* Benefits include the group’s contribution towards medical aid, provident fund and expatriate costs.
# Prescribed officers.

     

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EQUITY-SETTLED INSTRUMENTS

Executive directors

The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011:

 Number 

 Average 

strike price 

 Average 

exercise price 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  380 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  380 000  13,95 

347 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance vesting over a period of one year.

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  105 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  105 000  13,95 

93 750 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance vesting over a period of one year.
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The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010:

 Number 

 Average 

strike price 

 Average 

exercise price 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2010  380 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year –  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010  380 000  13,95 

315 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2010 with the balance vesting over a period of two years.

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2010  105 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year –  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010  105 000  13,95 

82 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2010 with the balance vesting over a period of two years.

Prescribed officers

The prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011:

 Number 

 Average 

strike price 

 Average 

exercise price 

Christopher John Erasmus

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  145 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  145 000  13,95 

132 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance vesting over a period of one year.

Antonie Fourie

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  90 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  90 000  13,95 

80 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance vesting over a period of one year.
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The prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010:

 Number 

 Average 

strike price 

 Average 

exercise price 

Christopher John Erasmus

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2010  145 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010  145 000  13,95 

120 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2010 with the balance vesting over a period of two years.

Antonie Fourie

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2010  90 000  13,95 – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010  90 000  13,95 

70 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2010 with the balance vesting over a period of two years.

The equity-settled instruments’ terms are detailed in note 36.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE CAPITAL 

The interests, direct and indirect, of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Direct Indirect

2011

Number

2010

Number

2011

Number

2010

Number

Beneficial

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  32 070  32 070 – – 

Nigel John Townshend – –  9 337 047  9 337 047 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba  6 986  6 986  2 776 939  3 068 760 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai – –  2 774 953  3 068 760 

Christopher John Erasmus  147 628  147 628 – – 

Digby John Glover – –  1 282 275  1 282 275 

186 684 186 684  16 171 214  16 756 842 

Shares held by associates – – – – 

186 684 186 684  16 171 214  16 756 842 

The company’s directors did not trade in shares between year-end and the date the financial statements were authorised for issue.

Directors’ report CONTINUED
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS IN SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The direct interests of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows: 

 Number 

of unissued

 shares 

% of 

unissued

shares

% held 

once shares

 issued

2011

Direct

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,11  0,31 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  105 000  5,56  0,08 

Christopher John Erasmus  145 000  7,67  0,12 

Antonie Fourie  90 000  4,76  0,07 

2010

Direct

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,11  0,31 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  105 000  5,56  0,08 

Christopher John Erasmus  145 000  7,67  0,12 

Antonie Fourie  90 000  4,76  0,07 

The right to the unissued shares is in terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme. For further details, refer to note 36(e).

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc will continue in office in accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act. At the annual general meeting, shareholders will 

be requested to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the group’s auditors for the 2012 financial year. 

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary during the 2011 financial year was Enna Kruger. Enna resigned effective 5 April 2012. Merchantec Capital (Pty) Ltd was appointed on 

17 April 2012 as the group’s company secretary.

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Basil Read Campus

7 Romeo Street

Hughes Extension

Boksburg

1459

POSTAL ADDRESS

Private Bag X170

Bedfordview

2008
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Consolidated income statement

Notes

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000

Revenue  6 230 456  5 389 769 

Contracting revenue  6 000 764  5 196 208 

Other revenue – development fees  21 843  24 191 

Other revenue – construction materials and services  207 849  169 370 

Contracting and other costs  (5 044 751)  (4 237 060)

Other administrative and operating overheads  (651 556)  (522 838)

Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets  (267 039)  (221 325)

Other income 7  146  252 

Profit on sale of subsidiaries 43  24 475 –

Amortisation of intangible assets  (10 785)  (39 303)

Operating profit 8 280 946 369 495

Impairment of goodwill  (32 403)  –   

Interest received 9  23 284  63 068 

Foreign exchange gains 9  10 294  6 138 

Interest paid 9  (69 585)  (68 587)

Profit before share of profit from associates and jointly controlled entities  212 536  370 114 

Share of (losses)/profits from jointly controlled entities 15  (2 957)  1 662 

Share of profits/(losses) from associates 16  6 708  (188)

Profit before taxation  216 287  371 588 

Taxation 10  (81 580)  (119 370)

Net profit for the year  134 707  252 218 

Net profit for the year attributable to the following:

Equity shareholders of the company  140 979  260 753 

Non-controlling interests  (6 272)  (8 535)

Net profit for the year  134 707  252 218 

Earnings per share (cents) 11  113,88  210,63 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 11  113,88  210,63 
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Notes

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000

Net profit for the year  134 707  252 218 

Other comprehensive income for the year  6 129  (2 697)

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  5 014  (8 622)

Movement in fair value adjustment reserve 18  1 297  6 222 

Deferred tax effect on other comprehensive income 17  (182)  (297)

Total comprehensive income for the year  140 836  249 521 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the following:

Equity shareholders of the company  144 886  259 463 

Non-controlling interests  (4 050)  (9 942)

Total comprehensive income for the year  140 836  249 521 
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Notes

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets  2 152 469  1 854 008 

Property, plant and equipment 13  1 166 213  873 390 

Intangible assets 14  799 995  843 183 

Investments in jointly controlled entities 15  58 051  20 423 

Investments in associates 16  17 042  1 413 

Deferred income tax assets 17  68 985  79 335 

Available-for-sale financial assets 18  42 183  36 264 

Current assets  2 680 501  2 430 905 

Inventories 19  42 857  47 700 

Development land 20  398 686  351 938 

Contract and trade debtors 21  1 308 188  898 323 

Receivables and prepayments 22  139 725  95 144 

Investments in jointly controlled entities 15  16 580  –   

Current income tax assets  58 428  26 250 

Cash and cash equivalents 23  716 037  1 011 550 

Non-current assets held for sale 24  66 767  92 558 

Total assets  4 899 737  4 377 471 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves  1 814 820  1 708 885 

Stated capital 25  948 668  948 667 

Retained earnings  860 499  758 472 

Other reserves  5 653  1 746 

Non-controlling interests 26  22 901  6 404 

Total capital and reserves  1 837 721  1 715 289 

Non-current liabilities  592 847  439 156 

Interest-bearing borrowings 27  519 234  337 658 

Other borrowings 28  19 649  26 188 

Deferred income tax liabilities 17  53 964  75 310 

Current liabilities  2 469 062  2 219 938 

Trade and other payables 30  1 593 253  1 553 622 

Current income tax liabilities  46 651  42 351 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 27  508 071  339 733 

Current portion of other borrowings 28 –  99 103 

Loans from associates 16  37 876  –   

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 29  220 903  152 235 

Bank overdraft 23  62 308  32 894 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale 24  107  3 088 

Total equity and liabilities  4 899 737  4 377 471 
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

 Share 

capital 

 R’000 

 Treasury

 shares 

 R’000 

 Foreign

 currency

 translation

 reserve* 

 R’000 

 Fair value

 adjustment

 reserve

R’000

 Equity-

 settled 

share-based

 payment

 reserve

 R’000 

 Retained

 earnings

 R’000 

 Total

 attributable

 to owners

 of the

 parent 

 R’000 

 Non-

controlling

 interests 

 R’000 

 Total

equity

 R’000 

Balance at 1 January 2010  948 687  (20)  2 757  279  –    549 213  1 500 916  (1 212)  1 499 704 

Capital contribution from  

non-controlling interests  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    20 588  20 588 

Transactions with non-controlling  

interests (refer note 42)  –    –    –    –    –    (697)  (697)  (3 361)  (4 058)

Total comprehensive income  

for the year  –    –    (7 215)  5 925  –    260 753  259 463  (9 942)  249 521 

Share-based payment  –    –    –    –    1 193  –    1 193  –    1 193 

Reallocate equity-settled 

share-based payment  –    –    –    –    (1 193)  1 193  –    –    –   

Dividends paid  –    –    –    –    –    (51 990)  (51 990)  331  (51 659)

Balance at 31 December 

2010  948 687  (20)  (4 458)  6 204  –    758 472  1 708 885  6 404  1 715 289 

Movement in shares  

held by the trust  –    1  –    –    –    –    1    –    1 

Disposal of subsidiary 

 (refer note 43)  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    15 704  15 704 

Transactions with non-

controlling interests  

(refer note 42)  –    –    –    –    –    (2 353)  (2 353)  4 843  2 490 

Total comprehensive income 

for the year  –    –    2 792  1 115  –    140 979  144 886  (4 050)  140 836 

Share-based payment  

(refer note 36)  –    –    –    –    545  –    545  –    545 

Reallocate equity-settled 

share-based payment  –    –    –    –    (545)  545  –    –    –   

Dividends paid  –    –    –    –    –    (37 144)  (37 144)  –    (37 144)

Balance at  

31 December 2011  948 687  (19)  (1 666)  7 319  –    860 499  1 814 820  22 901  1 837 721 

*  The foreign currency translation reserve is the result of exchange differences arising from the translation of the group’s foreign operations to the group’s presentation currency, the rand.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (35 865)  203 461 

Cash generated by operating activities 31  166 424  420 072 

Net finance (costs)/income 9  (36 007)  619 

Dividends paid 32  (37 019)  (51 558)

Taxation paid 33  (129 263)  (165 672)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (99 291)  (123 095)

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 13  (211 910)  (223 375)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  39 506  87 469 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 42 –  (3 637)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interest parties 26 –  20 588 

Disposal of subsidiaries 43  101 106 –

Advances made to jointly controlled entities 15  (526)  (1 794)

Advances recovered from jointly controlled entities 15  4 462 –

Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 15  (56 449) –

Dividend received from jointly controlled entities 15 –  2 500 

Acquisition of associate 16  (10 000)  (127)

Advances made to associates 16  (5 689)  (91)

Advances recovered from associates 16  44 831  – 

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial asset 18  (4 628)  (4 628)

Disposal of available-for-sale financial asset 18  6 –

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (174 909)  (320 076)

Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 27  303 603  252 465 

Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings 27  (389 689)  (495 354)

Repayments of other borrowings 28  (88 824)  (77 187)

Proceeds from issue of shares – net of costs 18  1 –

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (14 838)  (3 439)

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (324 903)  (243 149)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  978 656  1 221 805 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – AT THE END OF THE YEAR  653 753  978 656 

INCLUDED IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS PER THE STATEMENT 

OF FINANCIAL POSITION 23  653 729  978 656 

INCLUDED IN THE ASSETS OF DISPOSAL GROUP 24  24 –

 653 753  978 656 
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF PREPARATION

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Companies Act 

of South Africa.

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale investments and 

financial instruments fair valued through profit and loss. The following principal accounting policies are in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and are used by the group. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

 The accounting policies detailed below have been consistently applied to the company financial statements detailed on pages 188 to 192.

  Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2011

  During the financial year, the following new and revised accounting standards, amendments to standards and new interpretations were adopted by the 

group, none of which had a material impact on the group:

 – IAS 1 (Improvement) – Presentation of financial statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)

 – IAS 24 – Related party disclosures (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)

 – IAS 27 (Improvement) – Consolidated and separate financial statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010)

 – IAS 32 (Amendment) – Financial instruments: Presentation (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010)

 – IAS 34 (Improvement) – Interim financial reporting (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)

 – IFRIC 14, IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction (effective for financial periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2011)

 – IFRS 3 (Improvement) – Business combinations (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010)

 – IFRS 7 (Improvement) – Financial instruments: Disclosures (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)

 Standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to published standards effective in 2011 but not relevant

 – IAS 39 (Improvement) – Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010)

 – IFRIC 13 (Improvement), IAS 19 – Customer loyalty programmes (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)

 – IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity investments (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010)

 – IFRS 1 (Amendment) – First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010)

 – IFRS 1 (Amendment) – First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011)

 – IFRS 1 (Improvement) – First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011)

 These standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements did not have a material effect on the group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

  Standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to published standards that are not yet effective and not adopted by 

the group

  Certain new standards, amendments, interpretations and improvements to existing standards have been published that apply to the group’s accounting 

periods beginning on 1 January 2012 or later periods but have not been early adopted by the group. These standards, amendments, interpretations and 

improvements are:

 – IAS 1 (Amendment) – Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012)

 – IAS 12 (Amendment) – Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012)

 – IAS 19 (Amendment) – Employee Benefits (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IAS 27 (Amended) – Separate Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IAS 28 (Amended) – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IAS 32 (Amendment) – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014)

 – IFRS 7 (Amendment) – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – IFRS 9 Transitional Disclosures (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015)

 – IFRS 7 (Amendment) – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective for financial periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2013)

 – IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015)

 – IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 – IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

 Management is currently reviewing the impact of these standards on the group.

 HOLDING COMPANY INVESTMENTS

 Basil Read Holdings Limited’s investment in subsidiaries is recognised at cost, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

 GROUP ACCOUNTING

 Subsidiaries

  Subsidiaries, which are those entities (including the Share Incentive Trust) in which the group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights 

or otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies, are consolidated. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 

currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the group controls another entity.

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and are no longer consolidated from the date that control 

ceases.

  The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of 

subsidiaries is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities incurred at the date of acquisition. The consideration 

transferred includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are 

expensed as incurred. 

  On acquisition, the group recognises the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities assumed, at their fair value. On an acquisition by 

acquisition basis, the group recognises non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate 

share of the acquiree’s net assets. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 GROUP ACCOUNTING (continued)

 Subsidiaries (continued)

  The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest, and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity 

interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised but tested for 

impairment annually. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly 

in profit and loss. 

 Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.

  If a subsidiary uses accounting policies other than those adopted in these consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar 

circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

 Transactions and non-controlling interests

  The group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the group. For purchases from 

non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 

subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

 Associates

  Associates are entities over which the group has significant influence but does not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 

50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The 

group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss. 

  The group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition equity 

movements are adjusted against the cost of the investment. Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the group and its associates are 

eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset. When 

the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the group does not recognise further losses, unless the group 

has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associates.

 Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

 Jointly controlled entities

  Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the equity method of accounting. Under this method the group’s share of the post-

acquisition profits or losses of jointly controlled entities is recognised in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition equity movements are 

adjusted against the cost of the investment. Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the group and its jointly controlled entities are 

eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of 

the asset.

 Jointly controlled operations and assets

  The group’s interest in jointly controlled operations and assets is accounted for by proportionate consolidation. The group combines its share of the 

joint ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the group’s financial 

statements.

  Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the joint venture, except where unrealised losses provide evidence 

of an impairment.

 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 Functional and presentation currency

  Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 

which the entity operates (the functional currency). The group’s financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is the company’s 

functional and presentation currency.

 Transactions and balances

  Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 

exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges 

and qualifying net investment hedges.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

 Group companies

  The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 

currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 – Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position.

 – Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of 

the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the date of the 

transaction).

 – Equity items are translated at the closing rate.

 – All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

  On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency 

instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, exchange differences that 

were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 

the closing rate.

 OTHER INVESTMENTS

  The group classifies its investments in equity securities as available-for-sale. Management re-evaluates such designation on a regular basis. Investments are held 

for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity, and are included in non-current assets unless management has the express 

intention of holding the investment for less than 12 months from the statement of financial position date, in which case they are included in current assets.

   Purchases of investments are recognised at cost on the trade date, which is the date that the group commits to purchase the asset. Cost of purchase 

includes transaction costs. Investments are subsequently carried at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair 

value of these investments are included in equity. The fair value of listed investments are based on quoted market prices. Fair values for unlisted equity 

securities are estimated using applicable price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios refined to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer. Equity 

securities for which fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognised at cost less impairment.

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Property, plant and equipment (except for investment properties) are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. Immovable properties are classified as either owner-occupied property or investment property and are accounted for accordingly.

  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item and includes transfers from equity of any gains or losses on 

qualifying cash flow hedges of currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment further 

includes the initial estimate of the costs of its dismantlement, removal or restoration of the site on which it was located.

 Depreciation is calculated to write off the assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives on the following basis:

 – Owner-occupied buildings – Straight-line basis over 20 years.

 – Major plant and equipment – Straight-line basis over periods ranging from two to 15 years.

 – Other plant and equipment – Straight-line basis over periods ranging from three to five years.

 – Furniture and fittings – Straight-line basis over periods ranging from three to five years.

 – Freehold property is not depreciated.

  Residual values and useful lives are assessed annually and any effect of changes in residual values and useful lives are accounted for as a change in 

estimate, prospectively.

  Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are included in operating profit.

  Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations is 

included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset.

 BORROWINGS

  Borrowings are recognised initially as the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the 

income statement over the period of the borrowings as interest. Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS

  Borrowing costs, incurred in respect of property developments or capital work in progress, that require a substantial period to prepare assets for their 

intended use, are capitalised up to the date that the development of the asset is ready for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are recognised in the 

income statement as incurred.

 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Goodwill

  Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the 

date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in 

investments in associates and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.

  Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill 

are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

  Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of 

cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

 Contract-based intangibles

  Contract-based intangibles represent construction contracts existing at date of acquisition and are recognised at fair value. Amortisation is calculated 

using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the contract-based intangible over the period of the related contracts, which range between one 

and ten years.

 Marketing-related intangibles

  Marketing-related intangibles represent the value of the trademarks and trade names existing at date of acquisition and are recognised at fair value. 

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the marketing-related intangibles over 20 years.

 LEASED ASSETS

 Finance leases

  Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance 

leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased plant and equipment or the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance 

outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance 

cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability for each period. The plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the useful life of the asset unless ownership is not 

assured, in which case the item of plant and equipment is depreciated over the lease term.

 Operating leases

  Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 

made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is 

terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made by the lessee by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the 

period in which termination takes place.

 IMPAIRMENT

  Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 

its recoverable amount which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 

at the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.

 INVENTORIES

  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost basis. Net realisable value is 

determined on the latest replacement cost for consumable goods. 

 DEVELOPMENT LAND

  Development land is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is assigned by specific identification and includes the cost of acquisition, 

development and borrowing costs during development. When development is completed, borrowing costs and other charges are expensed as incurred.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 LONG-TERM CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS AND CONTRACT REVENUE RECOGNITION

 Revenue and costs

  Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is 

recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. When the outcome of a construction contract can be 

estimated reliably and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, contract revenue is recognised over the period of the contract. When it is 

probable that total costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

  The group uses the “percentage of completion method” to determine the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in a given period. The stage of 

completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the statement of financial position date as a percentage of total estimated 

costs for each contract and physical completion. Costs incurred in the year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from contract 

costs in determining the stage of completion. They are presented as inventories, prepayments or other assets, depending on their nature.

  The group presents as an asset (work in progress) the gross amount due from customers for contract work for all contracts in progress for which costs 

plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceeds progress billings. Work in progress, progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions 

are included within contract debtors and retentions.

  The group presents as a liability (advance payments received for contract work) the gross amount due to customers for contract work for all contracts 

in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses).

 Contract debtors

  Contract debtors comprise progress billings certified to date less payments received. Retention debtors are also raised as part of debtors at the time. 

Contract debtors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision 

for impairment. A provision for impairment of contract debtors is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect 

all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.

 OTHER REVENUE RECOGNITION

  Other revenue represents amounts receivable for project management services, development fees and subsidies receivable for the development of 

low-cost housing. It also includes amounts receivable for the supply of construction-related goods and services.

 Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

 Other revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred and the amount can be reliably measured.

  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the period to maturity, 

when it is determined that such income will accrue to the group. 

 Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

 DEFERRED TAXATION

  Deferred taxation is provided on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 

tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method. Deferred taxation 

liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial recognition, other than in a business 

combination, of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit not the accounting profit.

  The carrying amount of a deferred taxation asset is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

  Deferred taxation is calculated at the taxation rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred 

taxation is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 

taxation is also charged or credited directly to equity.

  Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal enforceable right to offset and when the deferred taxation relates to the same fiscal 

authority.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, investments, contract debtors, receivables, trade 

payables, leases and borrowings. The particular recognition methods are disclosed in the individual policy statements or notes to the financial 

statements.

 HEDGE ACCOUNTING

  For financial reporting purposes forward exchange contracts are designated as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges as appropriate and are designated 

at group level as hedges of foreign exchange risk on specific assets, liabilities or future transactions.

  When forward exchange contracts are entered into as fair value hedges, no hedge accounting is applied. All gains and losses on such contracts are 

recognised in the income statement.

  Where a derivative instrument is designated as a cash flow hedge of an asset, liability or expected future transaction, the effective part of any gain or 

loss arising on the derivative instrument is classified as a hedging reserve in the statement of changes in equity until the underlying transaction occurs. 

The ineffective part of any gain or loss is immediately recognised in the income statement.

  When the expected future transaction results in the recognition of an asset or liability, the associated gain or loss is transferred from the hedging reserve to the 

underlying asset or liability. Other cash flow hedge gains or losses are recognised in the income statement at the same time as the hedged transaction occurs.

  Other derivative financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value on the date that the contract is entered into and are subsequently measured 

at their fair value with resulting gains or losses being accounted for in the income statement.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  Cash and cash equivalents are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, 

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and bank balances, net of bank overdrafts.

 PROVISIONS

  Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of 

resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

  Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle that obligation at the statement of financial position date, 

and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

  Pension obligations

  Group companies have various pension schemes in accordance with the local conditions and practices in the countries in which they operate. A defined 

benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided based on a function of various factors such as age, years of 

service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a privately administered pension insurance plan under which the group pays fixed contributions 

into a fund and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 

benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

  

  The liability in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date 

less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for actuarial gains/losses and past service cost. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 

every three years by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined 

by the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates approximating the terms of the related liability.

  The group has elected to apply the corridor method in terms of which the portion of actuarial gains and losses recognised is the excess over the 

greater of:

 a. 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the previous reporting period (before deducting plan assets); and

 b. 10% of the fair value of any plan assets at the same date,

 divided by the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the fund.

 The application of the corridor method is subject to “paragraph 58 limit”.

  The “paragraph 58 limit” ensures the asset to be recognised on the group’s statement of financial position is subject to a maximum of the sum of any 

recognised actuarial losses, past service costs and the present value of any economic benefits available to the group in the form of refunds or reductions 

in future contributions.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

 Termination benefits

  Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee 

accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either 

terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination 

benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

 Leave pay

 Accrual is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long-service leave as a result of services rendered by employees.

 Share-based payments

  Share options are granted to employees in terms of the scheme detailed in note 34. The net cost of share options, calculated as the difference between 

the fair value of such options at grant date and the price at which the options were granted, are expensed over their vesting periods. Non-market 

vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest.

  The fair value of options granted is determined by using the European Binomial simulation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 

which the options were granted and any market vesting conditions.

  At each statement of financial position date, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact 

of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

 Options exercised are equity settled through a fresh issue of shares.

 DIVIDENDS

 Dividends are recorded in the group’s financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the group’s shareholders.

 SEGMENT REPORTING

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating 

decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive 

committee that makes strategic decisions.

 Intersegment transfers

  Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment results include transfers between business segments. Such transfers are accounted for based on 

commercial terms and conditions at market-related prices. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

 Segment revenue and expenses

 All segment revenue and expenses are directly attributable to the segments and are disclosed at the operating profit level.

 Segment assets and liabilities

  Segment assets include all operating assets and consist principally of property, plant and equipment, inventory, contract debtors and retentions and 

receivables and prepayments.

 Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of interest-bearing borrowings, trade and other payables and taxation.
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2.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

  FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS 

  The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 

adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. From time to time, the group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

 

  Risk management is carried out by financial management under policies approved by the board of directors. This function identifies, evaluates and, in certain 

circumstances, hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the group’s various operating divisions. The board provides principles for overall risk management, 

as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess 

liquidity. 

 

  a. Market risk 

   i.  Foreign exchange risk 

    The group operates mainly in sub-Saharan Africa, Australia and South America and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 

currency exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments 

in foreign operations. The group is subject to transaction and translation exposure due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. 

 

    Management requires that group companies and divisions manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. The group 

companies and divisions are required to report potential foreign currency risk exposure to the centralised group treasury. The group 

treasury will assess the risk and the possible financial impact using various scenario planning techniques. To manage foreign exchange risk 

arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, group treasury may use forward contracts, transacted with 

various financial institutions. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are 

denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

 

    The group treasury’s risk management policy is to assess the anticipated cash flows of each contract individually and to hedge an appropriate 

percentage of these cash flows so as to match costs and revenues in each foreign currency. 

 

    The group has certain investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising 

from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies. 

 

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, 

post-tax profit for the year would have been R5,4 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 

of US dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalents, contract debtors, loans from associates and trade and other payables. 

 

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the British pound with all other variables held constant, 

post-tax profit for the year would have been R8,5 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 

of British pound-denominated cash and cash equivalents. 

 

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Australian dollar with all other variables held constant, 

post-tax profit for the year would have been R3,0 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 

of Australian dollar-denominated loans to jointly controlled entities. 

 

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Botswana pula with all other variables held constant, 

post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,5 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 

of Botswana pula-denominated other borrowings. 

 

    The group did not have any foreign exchange exposures at 31 December 2010. 

 

   ii.  Interest rate risk 

    As the group has no significant interest-bearing assets other than cash and cash equivalents, the group’s income and operating cash flows are  

substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. 

 

    The group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk, 

which is partially offset by cash held at variable interest rates. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. 

The group maintains its borrowings at variable interest rates. During 2011 and 2010, the group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in 

the functional currency. 

 

    A 100 basis points movement in the prime rate would result in a 14% change in interest charged. 

 

    In 2010, a 100 basis points movement in the prime rate would have resulted in a 17% change in interest charged. 
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2.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

  FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued)

  a. Market risk (continued)

   iii. Price risk 

    The group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the group and classified on the consolidated statement of 

financial position as available-for-sale financial assets. To manage this price risk the group diversifies its portfolio, in accordance with limits set 

by management. 

 

    The group holds limited direct investments in the equity of other entities and instead invests in unit trust products that are diversified in 

terms of the entities invested in and have a minimum guaranteed return at the end of the investment term. The underlying equities are 

publicly traded and are included in the All Share Index as quoted by the JSE Limited (JSE).  

 

    The group’s investments in equity of other entities that are publicly traded are included in the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) at the 

London Stock Exchange (LSE) and the AltX Index at the JSE. 

 

    The group is exposed to materials price risk because of the fluctuation in the price of various raw materials, including diesel, steel, cement 

and rubber. More than 80% of the contracts that the group enters into provide for escalation in the prices of raw materials. In these cases, the 

price risk is borne by the client. In the case of fixed price contracts, the group is exposed to price risk. To minimise this risk, price curves are 

determined for each type of raw material and the expected movement in the cost of raw materials is built into the cost of the contract.

 

    To minimise the exposure to price risk for the group as well as all clients, the group may enter into supplier agreements for the supply of raw 

materials at favourable rates. 

 

    The group may, from time to time, use derivative financial instruments to hedge certain of its materials price risk exposures. These 

instruments would be evaluated in accordance with limits set by management. 

 

    The group did not have any exposure to derivative financial instruments entered into to hedge materials price risk exposures at 

31 December 2011 and at 31 December 2010. 

 

  b. Credit risk 

   Credit risk is managed on a group basis, except for credit risk relating to contract and trade debtors balances. Each local entity is responsible for 

managing and analysing the credit risk for each of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit 

risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions and credit exposures to customers, including contract 

debtors and outstanding receivables. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are 

accepted. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, the risk committee assesses 

the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. In cases where the risk committee 

deems the risk level to be unacceptable, payment guarantees issued by the customer are insisted upon. 

 

   Financial instruments which potentially subject the group to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents as well as trade 

receivables. As regards cash and cash equivalents, the group deals primarily with major financial institutions in South Africa and over-border. 

 

   The group’s customers are concentrated primarily in South Africa, but also exist in the rest of Africa. The majority of the group’s customers are 

concentrated in the public and mining sectors. 

 

   Refer to note 21 for further information on the group’s credit risk profile. 

 

  c. Liquidity risk 

   Cash flow forecasting is performed by financial management. The group treasury monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity requirements to 

ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 

all times so that the group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting 

takes into consideration the group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance, compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets and, if 

applicable, external regulatory or legal requirements. 

 

   Surplus cash held over and above balances required for working capital management is invested in interest-bearing current accounts, money 

market deposits and time deposits, choosing instruments with appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient headroom as 

determined by the above mentioned forecasts. 
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2.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

  FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued)

 c. Liquidity risk (continued)

   The major sources of funds for the group are as follows: 

 – undrawn facilities. 

 – available cash. 

 

   Due to the nature of the group’s activities, which includes progress payments, the liquidity risk is reduced. 

 

   The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial 

position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including interest 

repayments. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 12 months

R’000

1 – 5 years

R’000

>5 years

R’000

Total

R’000

 At 31 December 2011

 Interest-bearing borrowings  79 810  507 483  533 485  –   1 120 778 

 Other borrowings  –   –   20 517  –   20 517 

 Trade and other payables  1 554 641  38 612  –   –   1 593 253

 1 634 451  546 095  554 002  –   2 734 548

 At 31 December 2010

 Interest-bearing borrowings  70 559  310 233  356 787  –   737 579 

 Other borrowings  –   89 017  56 594  –   145 611 

 Trade and other payables  1 281 368  272 254  –   –   1 553 622 

  1 351 927  671 504  413 381  –   2 436 812 

3.  CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

  The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

 

  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 

issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

 

  The group considers total equity and interest-bearing borrowings to comprise capital. 

 

  Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 

capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current interest-bearing borrowings and other borrowings’ as shown in 

the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is calculated as ‘capital and reserves’ as shown in the 

consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt. 

 

  The gearing ratios at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

  

2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

 Total borrowings (notes 27 and 28)  1 046 954  802 682 

 Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 23)  (653 729)  (978 656)

 Net debt/(cash)  393 225  (175 974)

 Total equity  1 814 820  1 708 885 

 Total capital  2 208 045  1 532 911 

 Gearing ratio 17,8% (11,5%)

  The group considers a gearing ratio of less than 50% to be acceptable. This is reviewed annually after considering market conditions and the growth 

goals of the group. 
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3.  CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

  The group further monitors the capital ratio on the basis of the debt:equity ratio, and manages interest-bearing liabilities with reference to the assets 

they are used to finance. The debt:equity ratio is calculated as total long-term debt divided by total equity. Total equity is calculated as ‘capital and 

reserves’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

 Total long-term debt  538 883  363 846 

 Total equity  1 814 820  1 708 885 

 Debt:equity ratio 29,7% 21,3%

 

  The group considers a debt:equity ratio of less than 100% to be acceptable. This is reviewed annually after considering market conditions and the 

growth goals of the group.

 

  The ratio of interest-bearing debt to the net book value of property, plant and equipment and development land is calculated as follows:

  

2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

 Total interest-bearing borrowings (note 27)  1 027 305  677 391 

 Total assets financed  1 564 899  1 225 328 

 Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  1 166 213  873 390 

 Development land (note 20)  398 686  351 938 

 Ratio of interest-bearing debt to assets financed 65,6% 55,3%

 

  The group considers a ratio of 80% or less to be acceptable. This is reviewed annually after considering market conditions and the growth goals of the 

group. 

  The only loan covenant in place is in the group’s subsidiaries in Namibia. This covenant requires the subsidiaries to ensure that its interest-bearing debt 

to shareholders’ funds on a consolidated basis, expressed as a percentage of shareholders’ funds, is not more than 100%. For the purposes of the 

covenant, interest-bearing debt is defined as all debts of an interest-bearing nature, including contingent liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents, 

excluding amounts received as cash advance payments on contracts. Shareholders’ funds means the sum of issued share capital, share premium, reserves, 

excluding asset revaluation reserves, retained income less accumulated losses plus any ceded or subordinated shareholders’ loans less any amounts 

attributable to goodwill or any other intangible assets. The loan covenant was met at 31 December 2011.



Bas i l  Read in tegr a ted annua l  repor t  2011

135

Management reviews Our divisions Sustainability FinancialsWhat we do

4.  FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION 

  The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 

  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

  Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 

  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is unobservable inputs) 

 

  The following table presents the group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2011.

 

Level 1

R’000

Level 2

R’000

Level 3

R’000

 Total

R’000 

 Financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets

– equity instruments  10 273  31 904  6  42 183 

  The following table presents the group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2010.

 

Level 1

R’000

Level 2

R’000

Level 3

R’000

 Total

R’000 

 Financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets  

 – equity instruments  11 420  24 838  6  36 264 

  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. A market 

is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory 

agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for 

financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily 

LSE and JSE listed equity investments classified as available-for-sale. 

 

  The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using 

valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity 

specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

 

  If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. 

 

  Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 

 – Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

 – The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the statement of financial position date. 

 – Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. 

  The carrying value less impairment provision of contract debtors, other receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due 

to the short-term nature of these balances. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 

cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar instruments. 
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5.   CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

   Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

  

  The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 

results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are discussed below.

  

  Provision for impairment of contract debtors

  A provision for impairment of contract debtors is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts 

due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 

financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the contract debtor is impaired. The amount of the 

provision is the difference between the contract debtor’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 

effective interest rate. Refer to note 21 for the carrying value.

  

  Accounting for construction contracts

  The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, particularly as regards construction contract profit taking, provisions, arbitrations 

and claims. The resulting accounting estimates can, by definition, only approximate the actual results. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 

and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Refer to note 29 for details of the group’s contract provisions.

  

  The group uses the “percentage of completion method” to determine the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in a given period. The stage of 

completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the statement of financial position date as a percentage of total estimated 

costs for each contract and physical completion. Costs incurred in the year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from contract 

costs in determining the stage of completion. They are presented as inventories, prepayments or other assets, depending on their nature.

  

  Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its useful life to residual value. Residual values and useful lives are based on 

management’s best estimate and actual future outcomes may differ from these estimates. Refer to note 13 for details of the group’s property, plant and 

equipment.

  

  The group annually tests whether property, plant and equipment has suffered any impairment. When performing impairment testing, the recoverable 

amount is determined for the individual asset. If the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent from other assets or groups of 

assets then the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units that those assets belong to are determined based on discounted future cash flows.

  

  Deferred taxation

  A deferred tax asset is recognised with the carry-forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

  

  The group considered the following criteria in assessing the probability that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be 

utilised:

 – Whether the entity has sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, which will result 

in taxable amounts against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

 –  Whether it is probable that the entity will have taxable profits before the unused tax losses expire.

 –  Whether the unused tax losses result from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur.

  

  To the extent that it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised, the 

deferred tax asset is not recognised. To determine the probability that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised, 

the group has reviewed its forecasts of secured work for the foreseeable future and compared that to its total tax losses.

  

  Refer to note 17 for details of the group’s deferred tax assets.
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5.   CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

  Defined benefit plan

  The defined benefit obligation calculation is subject to estimates of future contributions, mortality tables and discount rates. These estimates could 

change materially over time. The principal actuarial assumptions used for valuation purposes of the group’s defined benefit plan can be found in note 

36(b) of this report.

  

  Contingencies

  By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of such contingencies 

inherently involves an exercise of significant judgement and estimates of the outcome of future events. Refer to note 34 for details of the group’s 

contingent liabilities.

  

  Goodwill

  The group annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1. The recoverable 

amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on discounted future cash flows. These calculations require the use of estimates.

  

  The following elements are used in the calculation of a cash-generating unit’s value in use:

 – An estimate of the future cash flows that the entity expects to derive from the cash-generating unit.

 – Expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of those future cash flows.

 – The time value of money, represented by the current market risk-free rate of interest.

 – The price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the cash-generating unit.

 – Other factors, such as illiquidity, that market participants would reflect in pricing the future cash flows the group expects to derive from the 

cash-generating unit.

  

  Purchase price allocation

  The purchase price allocation of an acquired company is subject to the correct determination of the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities 

undertaken at the date of exchange. Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of subsidiaries at the date of acquisition is recorded as goodwill. Details of business combinations during the year are detailed in note 42.

  

  Share-based payment

  The fair value of employee share options is determined using the European Binomial simulation model. The significant inputs into this model are 

discussed in note 36(e).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Financial instruments by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

 Loans and

 receivables 

 R’000 

 Available-

for-sale 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

31 December 2011

Assets as per statement of financial position

Advances to jointly controlled entities  56 456 –  56 456 

Available-for-sale financial assets –  42 183  42 183 

Contract and trade debtors  1 308 188 –  1 308 188 

Receivables  112 451 –  112 451 

Cash and cash equivalents  716 037 –  716 037 

Total 2 193 132  42 183 2 235 315

 

 At amortised

 cost 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

Interest-bearing borrowings  1 027 305  1 027 305 

Other borrowings  19 649  19 649 

Trade and other payables  1 593 253  1 593 253 

Advances from associates  37 876  37 876

Bank overdraft  62 308  62 308 

Total 2 740 391 2 740 391
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

a. Financial instruments by category (continued)

 Loans and

 receivables 

 R’000 

 Available-

for-sale 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

31 December 2010

Assets as per statement of financial position

Advances to jointly controlled entities  13 943 –  13 943 

Advances to associates  1 266  –  1 266 

Available-for-sale financial assets  –  36 264  36 264 

Contract and trade debtors  898 323 –  898 323 

Receivables  72 827 –  72 827 

Cash and cash equivalents  1 011 550 –  1 011 550 

Total  1 997 909  36 264  2 034 173 

 

 At amortised

 cost 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

Interest-bearing borrowings  677 391  677 391 

Other borrowings  125 291  125 291 

Trade and other payables  1 553 622  1 553 622 

Bank overdraft  32 894  32 894 

Total  2 389 198  2 389 198 
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired have been grouped into the following categories: government, 

multinational mining companies, listed companies, unlisted companies and individuals.

Advances

to jointly

 controlled

 entities

R’000

 Advances 

to 

associates 

R’000

 Available-

for-sale

 financial

 assets 

R’000

 Contract

 and trade

 debtors 

R’000

 Receivables 

R’000

 Cash 

and cash

 equivalents 

R’000

 Total 

R’000

31 December 2011

Government –  –  –  566 879  54 280  –  621 159 

Multinational mining companies –  –  –  171 491  –  –  171 491 

Listed companies  –  –  42 176  136 509  –  715 609  894 294 

Unlisted companies  56 456 –  6  209 128  57 232  428 323 250

Individuals  –  –  –  6 635  939  –  7 574 

 56 456 –  42 182  1 090 642  112 451  716 037 2 017 768

31 December 2010

Government  –  –  –  422 364  45 638  –  468 002 

Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  110 013  –  –  110 013 

Listed companies  –  –  36 258  87 066  –  1 011 203  1 134 527 

Unlisted companies  13 943  1 266  6  70 551  26 268  347  112 381 

Individuals  –  –  –  6 209  921  –  7 130 

 13 943  1 266  36 264  696 203  72 827  1 011 550  1 832 053
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2011

R’000
2010

R’000

7. OTHER INCOME

Rent received  146  252

8. OPERATING PROFIT

The following items have been (charged)/credited in arriving at operating profit:

Raw materials  (1 832 229)  (2 022 418)

Subcontractors  (1 353 018)  (1 307 926)

Staff costs (refer note 36)  (1 622 286)  (1 126 686)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Owned assets  (166 693)  (156 759)

Plant and equipment and rehabilitation asset  (153 846)  (128 795)

Furniture and fittings  (11 842)  (26 325)

Land and buildings and surface properties  (1 005)  (1 639)

Leased assets

Plant and equipment and rehabilitation asset  (75 544)  (64 035)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  (24 802)  (531)

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  4 249  2 234 

Gross amount  4 941  2 597 

Taxation  (692)  (363)

Auditors’ remuneration  (9 448)  (11 056)

For services as auditors  (9 300)  (8 899)

For other services  (148)  (2 157)

Operating leases  (59 527)  (39 119)

Office equipment  (3 935)  (2 326)

Office space – contractual  (54 146)  (36 110)

Other services  (1 446)  (683)

9. NET FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME

Bank  21 169  40 793 

Customers and other  2 115  22 275 

Interest received  23 284  63 068 

Foreign exchange  10 294  6 138 

Bank loans and other borrowings  (20 773)  (40 405)

Finance leases  (33 351)  (21 581)

Domestic medium-term note programme  (21 150)  (22 816)

(75 274) (84 802)

Less: Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets  5 689  16 215 

Interest paid  (69 585)  (68 587)

Net finance (costs)/income  (36 007)  619 
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2011

R’000
2010

R’000

10. TAXATION

South African normal taxation

Current taxation  (74 722)  (88 766)

Current year  (74 666)  (83 215)

Prior year  (56)  (5 551)

Deferred taxation  11 568  4 006 

Current year  12 552  1 730 

Prior year  (984)  2 276 

Secondary taxation on companies (STC)

Current year  (3 714)  (5 200)

Foreign taxation

Current taxation  (24 286)  (22 081)

Current year  (18 910)  (20 971)

Prior year  (5 376)  (1 110)

Deferred taxation  9 574  (7 329)

Current year  4 499  (7 192)

Prior year  5 075  (137)

Total taxation charged  (81 580)  (119 370)

Capital gains of R3,9 million (2010: R0,4 million) have been utilised against assessed losses in the current year.

2011

 % 

2010

% 

Reconciliation of the standard rate of taxation to effective rate

South African normal rate of taxation  28,0  28,0 

Foreign taxation  2,6  0,1 

Losses utilised  (0,1)  (0,3)

Secondary taxation on companies (STC)  1,7  1,4 

Capital gains tax (CGT)  0,4 –

Prior year underprovision  0,1 1,2

Timing differences not accounted for under deferred tax  6,9 1,5

Non-taxable items  (1,9) 0,2

Effective tax rate  37,7 32,1

The tax rate reconciliation is prepared using the tax rate applicable to the Basil Read group in South Africa.  

The impact of tax rate differences in other countries is disclosed as a reconciling item.

Timing differences not accounted for under deferred taxation include the result of certain subsidiaries where  

deferred taxation on assessed losses have not been provided.

Estimated tax losses

Total estimated tax losses of subsidiaries at the end of the financial year available for utilisation against future 

taxable income of those companies 110 785  155 393 
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2011 2010

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share (cents)  113,88  210,63 

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit after taxation of R140 979 246  

(2010: R260 752 156) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 123 797 661  

(2010: 123 797 536) shares.

Headline earnings per share (cents)  139,65  209,25 

The calculation of headline earnings per share is based on the consolidated headline profit after taxation of  

R172 885 946 (2010: R259 049 592) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of  

123 797 661 (2010: 123 797 536) shares.

Diluted earnings per share (cents)  113,88  210,63 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit after taxation of  

R140 979 246 (2010: R260 752 156) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of  

123 797 661 (2010: 123 797 536) shares.

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)  139,65  209,25 

The calculation of diluted headline earnings per share is based on the consolidated headline profit after taxation 

of R172 885 946 (2010: R259 049 592) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of  

123 797 661 (2010: 123 797 536) shares.

R’000 R’000

Reconciliation between basic earnings, diluted earnings and headline earnings is as follows:

Basic and diluted earnings  140 979  260 753 

Adjusted by the after tax effect of the following:

Profit on sale of subsidiary  (21 049)  – 

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (refer note 8)  (4 249)  (2 234)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer note 8)  24 802  531 

Impairment of goodwill (refer note 8)  32 403  – 

Headline earnings  172 886  259 050 

 Number 

 ’000 

 Number 

 ’000 

Reconciliation between weighted average number of shares and diluted weighted  

average number of shares:

Weighted average number of shares  123 798  123 798 

Adjusted by: Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 36(e))  –  – 

Diluted weighted average number of shares  123 798  123 798 

R’000 R’000

12. DIVIDENDS

Dividends paid  37 144  51 990 

Dividend paid per share (cents)  30,00  42,00 

Dividend declared per share (cents)* –  30,00 

* Based on the year to which the dividend relates

A final dividend of 30 cents per share in respect of the 2010 financial year was declared on 24 March 2011 (2010: 42 cents per share) and paid on 

6 June 2011.

No dividend was declared in respect of the 2011 financial year.
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 Land and

 buildings 

and surface

 properties 

 R’000 

 Mining 

assets 

 R’000 

 Plant and 

equipment 

and

 rehabilitation

 assets 

 R’000

 Furniture

 and fittings 

 R’000

 Total 

 R’000 

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

At 1 January 2010

Cost  165 804  333  1 067 025  123 067  1 356 229 

Accumulated depreciation  (3 680)  –  (500 173)  (70 521)  (574 374)

Net book amount  162 124  333  566 852  52 546  781 855 

Year ended 31 December 2010

Opening net book amount  162 124  333  566 852  52 546  781 855 

Additions  7 644  5 194  398 984  10 976  422 798 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (refer note 42)  4 000  –  68 558  61  72 619 

Disposals  (31 555)  –  (51 834)  (1 483)  (84 872)

Depreciation  (1 639)  –  (192 830)  (26 325)  (220 794)

Impairment  –  –  (531)  –  (531)

Exchange differences  31  –  (6 069)  19  (6 019)

Transferred to assets held for sale  (89 466)  –  (2 200)  –  (91 666)

Closing net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

At 31 December 2010

Cost  55 936  5 527  1 432 129  127 712  1 621 304 

Accumulated depreciation  (4 797)  –  (651 199)  (91 918)  (747 914)

Net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

Year ended 31 December 2011

Opening net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

Additions  43 375  –  576 321  28 214  647 910 

Disposal of subsidiary (refer note 43)  (18)  (3 190)  (3 505)  (1 743)  (8 456)

Disposals  –  –  (24 553)  (10 012)  (34 565)

Depreciation  (1 005)  –  (229 390)  (11 842)  (242 237)

Impairment  (619)  (2 337)  (20 947)  (899)  (24 802)

Exchange differences  –  –  16 602  667  17 269 

Transferred to assets held for sale  (62 296)  –  –  –  (62 296)

Closing net book amount  30 576  –  1 095 458  40 179  1 166 213 

At 31 December 2011

Cost  35 923  –  1 957 063  122 523  2 115 509 

Accumulated depreciation  (5 347)  –  (861 605)  (82 344)  (949 296)

Net book amount  30 576  –  1 095 458  40 179  1 166 213 

The impairment in the current year relates to specific items of plant in the engineering division. The recoverable amount of this plant was estimated 

based on fair value less costs to sell as this was determined to be higher than value in use, due to the specialised nature of the plant concerned.
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2011

R’000
2010

R’000

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Book value of plant and equipment subject to instalment sale agreements (refer note 27) are as follows:

Instalment sale agreements  637 925  434 137 

Cost  780 920  612 765 

Accumulated depreciation  (142 995)  (178 628)

Banking loans  –  4 000 

Cost  –  4 000 

Accumulated depreciation  –  – 

A full register of the group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office.

Assets-under-construction, included in plant and equipment, amount to R13,5 million (2010: R7,2 million).

 Goodwill 

 R’000 

 Contract-

based 

intangibles 

 R’000 

 Marketing-

 related

 intangibles 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2010

Cost  753 925  78 261  27 119  859 305 

Accumulated amortisation  –  (26 638)  –  (26 638)

Accumulated impairment  –  –  –  – 

Net book amount  753 925  51 623  27 119  832 667 

Year ended 31 December 2010

Opening net book amount  753 925  51 623  27 119  832 667 

Acquisition of subsidiaries – Sladden International  32 403  –  –  32 403 

Acquisition of subsidiaries – Valente Brothers group  15 500  1 916  –  17 416 

Amortisation charge  –  (37 947)  (1 356)  (39 303)

Closing net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

At 31 December 2010

Cost  801 828  80 177  27 119  909 124 

Accumulated amortisation  –  (64 585)  (1 356)  (65 941)

Accumulated impairment  –  –  –  – 

Net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

Year ended 31 December 2011

Opening net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

Amortisation charge  –  (9 429)  (1 356)  (10 785)

Impairment – Sladden International  (32 403)  –  –  (32 403)

Closing net book amount  769 425  6 163  24 407  799 995 

At 31 December 2011

Cost  801 828  80 177  27 119  909 124 

Accumulated amortisation  –  (74 014)  (2 712)  (76 726)

Accumulated impairment  (32 403)  –  –  (32 403)

Net book amount  769 425  6 163  24 407  799 995 
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The goodwill in the prior year relates to the acquisitions of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd and the Valente Brothers group and is mainly 

attributable to the workforces of the acquired businesses and the significant synergies that are expected to arise in the future (refer note 42).

As part of the finalisation of the purchase price allocation relating to the acquisition of the TWP group, an adjustment was made to goodwill in the prior 

year for an amount of R132,0 million relating to changes in the at acquisition values of various assets and liabilities (refer note 42).

As part of the finalisation of the purchase price allocation relating to the acquisition of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, an adjustment was made to 

goodwill in the prior year for an amount of R0,3 million relating to a change in the purchase price due to additional transaction costs incurred.

Goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash-generating units identified according to the business segments that are expected to benefit from the business 

combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the following business segments:

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

Construction  282 097  314 500 

Mining  34 779  34 779 

Developments – –

Engineering  452 549  452 549 

 769 425  801 828 

The group tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if there are indicators that goodwill might be impaired. The recoverable amount of 

a cash-generating unit is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved 

by management covering a one-year period. Cash flows beyond the one-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 5%. These cash 

flow projections are discounted using the group’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for relevant risk factors.

The goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life. Goodwill is tested for impairment and any subsequent losses are taken to the income statement.

The impairment charge in the current year arose due to the poor financial performance of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd.  Value in use 

calculations determined according to the method detailed above resulted in the group recognising an impairment charge of R32,4 million in the 2011 

financial year. No class of asset other than goodwill was impaired.

All other cash-generating units to which goodwill applies have been tested for impairment in the year under review. None of these units were found to 

be impaired.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the Valente Brothers group has been determined to have a finite life based on the 

expected duration of the longest contract in the acquired group. The contract-based intangible was written off over a period of 17 months, ending in 

November 2011.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the TWP group was adjusted in the prior year due to the finalisation of the purchase 

price allocation. The balance of R18,5 million has been determined to have a finite life based on the expected duration of the longest contract in the 

acquired group. The contract-based intangible was written off over a period of 24 months, ending in December 2011.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd has been determined to have a finite life based on 

the expected duration of the property development. It is being amortised over a maximum period of 120 months, of which 86 months are remaining.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the Gerolemou/Mvela group has been determined to have a finite life based on the 

longest contract in the acquired group. The contract-based intangible asset was written off over a period of 24 months, ending in August 2011.

The marketing-related intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the TWP group has been determined to have a finite life and is being amortised 

over a maximum period of 240 months, of which 216 months are remaining.

The amortisation charge has been included in ‘Amortisation of intangible assets’ in the income statement.
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Shares at cost  15 771  41 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  3 482  6 439 

Advances made to jointly controlled entities  56 456  13 943 

Foreign exchange movements  (1 078)  – 

 74 631  20 423 

Less: Current portion transferred to current assets  (16 580)  – 

Total non-current investment in jointly controlled entities  58 051  20 423 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances

At the beginning of the year  20 423  19 467 

Acquisition of jointly controlled entity  56 449  – 

Shares at cost  10 000  – 

Loan account acquired  46 449  – 

Recognition of jointly controlled entity at fair value on acquisition  5 730  – 

Share of profits for the year after tax  (2 957)  1 662 

Gross amount  (4 107)  1 952 

Taxation  1 150  (290)

Advances made to jointly controlled entities  526  1 794 

Advances recovered from jointly controlled entities  (4 462)  – 

Dividend received from jointly controlled entities  –  (2 500)

Foreign exchange differences  (1 078)  – 

Balance at the end of the year  74 631  20 423 
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

The following information relates to the company’s direct and indirect interest in jointly controlled entities 

including the group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entities:

Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd  8 622  – 

Shares at cost  10 000  – 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  (1 378)  – 

Advances made to jointly controlled entities  –  – 

Foreign exchange movements  –  – 

Number of shares held: 50 (2010: 0)

Proportion owned: 50% (2010: 0%)

Nature of business: Energy logistics

Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Ltd  15 611  15 085 

Shares at cost  1  1 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  –  – 

Advances made to jointly controlled entities  15 610  15 084 

Foreign exchange movements  –  – 

Number of shares held: 50 (2010: 50)

Proportion owned: 50% (2010: 50%)

Nature of business: Mixed integrated housing development

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd  45 906  – 

Shares at cost  5 730  – 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  (733)  – 

Advances made to jointly controlled entities  41 987  – 

Foreign exchange movements  (1 078)  – 

Number of shares held: 5 000 (2010: 10 000)

Proportion owned: 50% (2010: 100%)

Nature of business: Provision of EPCM work

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Ltd  4 492  5 338 

Shares at cost  40  40 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  5 593  6 439 

Advances from jointly controlled entities  (1 141)  (1 141)

Foreign exchange movements  –  – 

Number of shares held: 40 000 (2010: 40 000)

Proportion owned: 50% (2010: 50%)

Nature of business: Mineral processing plant design and control engineering

 74 631  20 423 

During the year, the group disposed of 50% of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R5,7 million. Previously disclosed as a subsidiary, 

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd was reclassified as a jointly controlled entity in the year under review.

During the year, the group acquired 50% of Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd for a purchase consideration of R10 million.

The directors value the unlisted investment in jointly controlled entities at R74 631 155 (2010: R20 422 760). This approximates its fair value.

Refer to note 39 for further details regarding the investments in jointly controlled entities.
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Shares at cost  10 225  225 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  6 630  (78)

Advances (from)/made to associates  (37 876)  1 266 

Foreign exchange differences  187  – 

 (20 834)  1 413 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances

At the beginning of the year  1 413  1 383 

Acquisition of associate  10 000  127 

Share of profits for the year after tax  6 708  (188)

Gross amount  6 614  (148)

Taxation  94  (40)

Advances made to associates  5 689  91 

Advances recovered from associates  (44 831)  – 

Foreign exchange differences  187 –

Balance at the end of the year  (20 834)  1 413 
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd  3 834  1 018 

Shares at cost  32  32 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  (127)  (289)

Advances made to associates  3 929  1 275 

Foreign exchange movements  –  – 

Number of shares held: 20 (2010: 20)

Proportion owned: 20% (2010: 20%)

Nature of business: Construction of roads, buildings and civil engineering structures

Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd  (38 025)  – 

Shares at cost  –  – 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  6 619  – 

Advances from associates  (44 831)  – 

Foreign exchange movements  187  – 

Number of shares held: 28 (2010: 0)

Proportion owned: 28% (2010: 0%)

Nature of business: Opencast mining

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd  12 649  – 

Shares at cost  10 000  – 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  –  – 

Advances made to associates  2 649  – 

Foreign exchange movements  –  – 

Number of shares held: 35 (2010: 0)

Proportion owned: 35% (2010: 0%)

Nature of business: Alternative energy production

Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd  708  395 

Shares at cost  193  193 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  138  211 

Advances made to/(from) associates  377  (9)

Foreign exchange movements  –  – 

Number of shares held by SprayPave (Pty) Ltd: 49 (2010: 49)

Proportion owned by SprayPave (Pty) Ltd: 49% (2010: 49%)

Nature of business: Distributor and sprayer of bituminous and tar products

 (20 834)  1 413 

During the year, the group acquired a 35% interest in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd for a purchase consideration of R10 million.

During the year, the group acquired a 28% interest in Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd for no consideration.

During the prior year, the group acquired a further 19% of Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd for a purchase consideration of R0,1 million.

The directors value the unlisted investment in associates at R23 996 798 (2010: R1 412 771), excluding the loan from Majwe Mining Joint Venture, which 

is valued at R44 831 007 (2010: Rnil). This approximates its fair value.

Refer to note 40 for further details regarding the investments in associates.
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

17. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate 

of the fiscal authority as indicated below:

Botswana: 22% (2010: 25%)

Namibia: 34% (2010: 34%)

South Africa: 28% (2010: 28%)

Zambia: 35% (2010: 35%)

The movement on the deferred taxation account is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year  4 025  11 122 

Movements during the year attributable to:

Acquisition of subsidiaries  –  (6 498)

Disposal of subsidiaries  (9 395)  – 

Temporary differences  20 960  (3 620)

Transferred to assets held for sale  (610)  2 185 

Foreign exchange differences  41  836 

Balance at the end of the year  15 021  4 025 

The movement in the group’s deferred taxation asset during the year is as follows:

 Accelerated

 tax

 depreciation 

 R’000 

 Provisions, 

 accruals and

 retentions 

 R’000 

 Assessed 

losses 

and other 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Balance as at 1 January 2010  (4 446)  66 145  19 679  81 378 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  12  163  –  175 

(Charged)/credited to the income statement  (5 072)  (24 417)  27 333  (2 156)

Charged to the statement of comprehensive income  –  –  (297)  (297)

Foreign exchange differences  –  –  235  235 

Balance as at 31 December 2010  (9 506)  41 891  46 950  79 335 

Disposal of subsidiaries  –  –  (9 395)  (9 395)

(Charged)/credited to the income statement  (9 554)  21 611  (13 021)  (964)

Charged to the statement of comprehensive income  –  –  (182)  (182)

Transferred to assets held for sale  –  –  (610)  (610)

Foreign exchange differences  –  –  801  801 

Balance as at 31 December 2011  (19 060)  63 502  24 543  68 985 
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17. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The movement in the group’s deferred taxation liability during the year is as 

follows:

 Accelerated

 tax

 depreciation 

 R’000 

 Provisions, 

 accruals and

 retentions 

 R’000 

 Assessed 

losses 

and other 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Balance as at 1 January 2010  (76 038)  960  4 822  (70 256)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  (9 846)  3 843  (670)  (6 673)

Credited/(charged) to the income statement  8 209  5 381  (14 757)  (1 167)

Transferred to assets held for sale  2 185  –  –  2 185 

Foreign exchange differences  489  112  –  601 

Balance as at 31 December 2010  (75 001)  10 296  (10 605)  (75 310)

Credited/(charged) to the income statement  21 308  (10 326)  11 124  22 106 

Foreign exchange differences  (788)  28  –  (760)

Balance as at 31 December 2011  (54 481)  (2)  519  (53 964)

Combined balance as at 31 December 2010  (84 507)  52 187  36 345  4 025 

Combined balance as at 31 December 2011  (73 541)  63 500  25 062  15 021 

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 

when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 

Deferred tax has not been provided on estimated assessed losses of subsidiary companies amounting to R51,3 million (2010: R40,7 million).
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Unlisted investments

At the beginning of the year  24 844  19 512 

Additions  4 628  4 628 

Mark-to-market adjustment through equity  2 439  704 

At the end of the year  31 911  24 844 

The following information relates to the group’s interest in unlisted investments:

Stanlib investment  31 905  24 838 

The group holds an investment product with Stanlib Asset Management. The underlying investment mainly 

comprises a diversified portfolio of listed equity securities. An additional R4,6 million (2010: R4,6 million) was 

invested in the product during the year. This investment matures in April 2012.

Desbel Sewe (Pty) Ltd  6  6 

Mvela Phanda Construction (Pty) Ltd holds an investment in Desbel Sewe (Pty) Ltd, a hotel management company.

The directors value the unlisted investments at R31 910 685 (2010: R24 844 432). This approximates their fair 

value.

Listed investments

At the end of the year  10 272  11 420 

At the beginning of the year  11 420  5 902 

Disposals  (6)  – 

Mark-to-market adjustment through equity  (1 142)  5 518 

The following information relates to the group’s interest in listed investments:

Through the TWP group, the group holds an investment in African Eagle Resources plc, a UK listed mineral 

exploration and development company operating in Zambia, Tanzania and Mozambique.

The carrying value of listed investments approximates their fair value.

 42 183  36 264 

19. INVENTORIES

Consumables  41 666  34 307 

Finished goods  463  2 937 

Spares  728  10 456 

 42 857  47 700
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 2011 

 R’000

 2010 

 R’000

20. DEVELOPMENT LAND

Development land  398 686  351 938 

Development land comprises land purchased for the purposes of property development and subsequent resale. 

Due to the nature of property developments, the full value of development land may not be realised in the 

coming 12-month period.

Reconciliation of carrying value of development land

Purchase consideration of land  44 765  46 217 

Capitalisation of development costs and installation of bulk services  311 194  266 719 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs  42 727  39 002 

 398 686  351 938 

Movements in development land are as follows:

Opening balance  351 938  280 718 

Sale of erven  (12 682)  – 

Sale consideration of land  (1 452)  – 

Capitalisation of development costs and installation of bulk services  (9 266)  – 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs  (1 964)  – 

Capitalisation of development costs and installation of bulk services  53 741  55 005 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs  5 689  16 215 

 398 686  351 938

21. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS

Contract debtors  830 530  598 827 

Contract debtors  842 460  617 280 

Provision for impairment of contract debtors  (11 930)  (18 453)

Trade receivables  26 744  21 065 

Trade receivables  27 654  22 190 

Provision for impairment of trade receivables  (910)  (1 125)

Retention debtors  128 786  127 656 

Retention debtors  129 754  128 624 

Provision for impairment of retention debtors  (968)  (968)

Work in progress  322 128  150 775 

Costs incurred to date  6 040 122  4 793 730 

Profit recognised to date  (59 646)  312 079 

Progress payments received and receivable  (5 658 348)  (4 955 034)

 1 308 188  898 323 

In the prior year, contract debtors of the TWP group were ceded as security for the bank overdraft facilities in place. At December 2010, the total 

utilised overdraft facility amounted to R32,9 million (refer note 23). This security was released in the year under review.

Contract debtors to the value of R12 million (2010: R12 million) of Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Ltd are ceded as security for the bank overdraft facilities 

in place. At year-end, the total utilised overdraft facility amounted to Rnil (2010: Rnil) (refer note 23).
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21. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS (continued)

The age analysis of contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors is as follows:

31 December 2011

Fully 

performing

 R’000 

Past due 

but not 

impaired

 R’000 

Impaired

 R’000 

Total

 R’000 

Contract debtors

Government  284 386  90 999  1 356  376 740 

Multinational mining companies  120 570  89 626  7 501  217 697 

Listed companies  88 660  12 239  135  101 034 

Unlisted companies  128 833  10 542  2 853  142 228 

Individuals  4 675  –  85  4 760 

 627 124  203 406  11 930  842 460 

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Past due balances  167 052  14 449  21 905  203 406 

No security is held against these balances.

Fully 

performing

 R’000 

Past due 

but not 

impaired

 R’000 

Impaired

 R’000 

Total

 R’000 

Trade receivables

Government  –  –  –  – 

Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 

Listed companies  –  –  –  – 

Unlisted companies  12 605  14 139  910  27 654 

Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 12 605  14 139  910  27 654 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Past due balances  14 124  –  15  14 139 

No security is held against these balances.

Fully 

performing

 R’000 

Past due 

but not 

impaired

 R’000 

Impaired

 R’000 

Total

 R’000 

Retention debtors

Government  115 063  –  –  115 063 

Multinational mining companies  270  –  –  270 

Listed companies  7 530  –  –  7 530 

Unlisted companies  5 923  –  968  6 891 

Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 128 786  –  968  129 754 

No security is held against these balances.
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21. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS (continued)

31 December 2010

Fully 

performing

 R’000 

Past due 

but not 

impaired

 R’000 

Impaired

 R’000 

Total

 R’000 

Contract debtors

Government  213 754  95 507  1 356  310 617 

Multinational mining companies  79 068  57 650  10 438  147 156 

Listed companies  65 369  30  –  65 399 

Unlisted companies  36 028  46 552  6 574  89 154 

Individuals  4 864  5  85  4 954 

 399 083  199 744  18 453  617 280 

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Past due balances  92 816  35 968  70 960  199 744 

No security was held against these balances.

Fully 

performing

 R’000 

Past due 

but not 

impaired

 R’000 

Impaired

 R’000 

Total

 R’000 

Trade receivables

Government  205  –  –  205 

Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 

Listed companies  1 976  –  –  1 976 

Unlisted companies  16 509  2 375  1 125  20 009 

Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 18 690  2 375  1 125  22 190 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Past due balances  49  –  2 326  2 375 

No security was held against these balances.

Fully 

performing

 R’000 

Past due 

but not 

impaired

 R’000 

Impaired

 R’000 

Total

 R’000 

Retention debtors

Government  116 936  –  968  117 904 

Multinational mining companies  7 120  –  –  7 120 

Listed companies  865  –  –  865 

Unlisted companies  2 735  –  –  2 735 

Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 127 656  –  968  128 624 

No security was held against these balances.
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21. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the group’s contract debtors, trade receivables, retention debtors and work in progress are denominated in the following 

currencies:

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

South African rand 1 070 838  748 150 

US dollar  116 069  18 118 

Botswana pula  121 169  61 588 

Australian dollar  –  6 589 

Mozambique meticais  112  63 878 

 1 308 188  898 323 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of contract debtors are as follows:

At the beginning of the year  18 453  38 355 

Provision for impairment  340  9 758 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  (6 632)  (29 660)

Unused amounts reversed  (231)  – 

 11 930  18 453 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

At the beginning of the year  1 125  1 194 

Provision for impairment  1 630  300 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  (1 845)  (369)

Unused amounts reversed  –  – 

 910  1 125 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of retention debtors are as follows:

At the beginning of the year  968  968 

Provision for impairment  –  – 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  –  – 

Unused amounts reversed  –  – 

 968  968 

The creation and release of provision for impaired contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors have been included in “Contracting and 

other costs” in the income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering 

amounts due. The other classes within contract and trade debtors do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The group may hold payment 

guarantees as security.
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 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

22. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments  18 773  17 824 

Staff debtors  939  921 

Deposits  8 501  4 493 

VAT receivable  54 280  45 638 

Other receivables  57 232  26 268 

 139 725  95 144 

Included in other receivables is an amount of R22,2 million (2010: R18,1 million) due from the non-controlling 

interest party of Basil Read Construction Middle East LLC.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances  713 911  1 009 625 

Cash on hand  2 126  1 925 

 716 037  1 011 550 

Bank overdraft  (62 308)  (32 894)

 653 729  978 656 

The group holds deposits with banks and financial institutions that have a minimum credit rating of ‘A’.

24. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The assets and liabilities relating to Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd (part of the construction segment) 

were presented as held for sale in the current financial year following the approval of the group’s management to 

sell the company.

The assets and liabilities relating to Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd (part of the construction segment) were 

presented as held for sale in the 2010 financial year following the approval of the group’s management to sell the 

company. The profit on this disposal was accounted for in the 2011 financial year.

Assets of company classified as held for sale

Property, plant and equipment  62 296  91 666 

Deferred income tax assets  610  – 

Receivables and prepayments  3 837  892 

Cash and cash equivalents  24  – 

 66 767  92 558 

Liabilities of company classified as held for sale

Deferred income tax liabilities  –  2 185 

Trade and other payables  107  284 

Current income tax liabilities  –  619 

 107  3 088

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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 Number 

of shares 

 No par 

value 

ordinary

 shares 

R’000

Treasury

 shares 

R’000 

 Total 

R’000

25. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary shares

150 000 000 ordinary no par value shares (2010: 150 000 000)

Issued

Ordinary shares

Year ended 31 December 2010

At the beginning and end of the year  123 797 536  948 687  (20)  948 667 

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the beginning of the year  123 797 536  948 687  (20)  948 667 

Add: Previously held as treasury stock  125  –  1  1 

At the end of the year  123 797 661  948 687  (19)  948 668 

All shares issued by the company are fully paid up.

The unissued shares were not placed under the control of the directors by resolution of the shareholders until the forthcoming annual general meeting.  

The directors are not authorised, by resolution of the shareholders and until the forthcoming annual general meeting, to issue ordinary shares for cash.

 Number 

of shares   

 Total 

R’000 

Reconciliation of closing balance

Year ended 31 December 2010

Group issued share capital  123 797 536  948 667 

Treasury shares held by the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 36)  13 507  20 

 123 811 043  948 687 

Year ended 31 December 2011   

Group issued share capital  123 797 661  948 668 

Treasury shares held by the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 36)  13 382  19 

 123 811 043  948 687
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 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

26. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Balance at the beginning of the year  6 404  (1 212)

Transactions with non-controlling interests (refer notes 42 and 43)  4 843  (3 361)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interest parties  –  20 588 

Disposal of subsidiary (refer note 43)  15 704  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (4 050)  (9 942)

Dividends paid  –  331 

Balance at the end of the year  22 901  6 404 

27. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Instalment sale agreements

Total amount outstanding  587 591  296 772 

The instalment sale agreements for plant and equipment bear interest between the prime overdraft rate plus 5% 

and prime less 2% per annum and are repayable in monthly instalments of between R2 865 and R178 584 over a 

period of between one and five years.

The agreements are secured by plant and equipment with a book value of R637 924 904 (2010: R434 137 299). 

Refer to note 13 for further details.

Banking loan

Total amount outstanding  61 111  128 154 

A banking loan was entered into in prior years, in terms of which interest is payable at the local prime overdraft 

rate less 0,26%. The capital portion of the loan is repayable in 36 equal monthly instalments of R5 555 556, of 

which 11 are remaining. The final payment falls due in November 2012. The balance outstanding at year-end was 

R61,1 million at an interest rate of 8,74%.

During 2010, through the acquisition of the Valente Brothers group, the group acquired a banking loan  

of R376 401. The loan bore interest at the local prime overdraft rate and was repayable in monthly instalments  

of R31 314. This loan was settled in the year under review. During the tenure of the loan, it was secured by a 

mortgage bond over land and buildings that are owner occupied by the Valente Brothers group. The property  

has a book value of R4 million. Refer to note 13 for further details. This security was released on settlement of 

the loan.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

27. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

Domestic medium-term note programme

Total amount outstanding  378 603  252 465 

On 12 July 2010, the group raised R125 million under this programme. The note, BSR03, was listed on the Bond 

Exchange of South Africa on 13 July 2010 and bore interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 

1,68%. Interest was payable quarterly. This bond was fully redeemed on 30 June 2011.

On 14 December 2010, the group raised R125 million under this programme. The note, BSR04, was listed on the 

Bond Exchange of South Africa on 20 December 2010 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX 

rate plus 2,35%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 20 June 2012. The interest rate 

applicable at year-end was 7,935%.

On 28 June 2011, the group raised R150 million under this programme. The note, BSR05, was listed on the Bond 

Exchange of South Africa on 30 June 2011 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 

1,97%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 1 July 2013. The interest rate applicable at 

year-end was 7,565%.

On 21 September 2011, the group raised R50 million under this programme. The note, BSR06, was listed on the 

Bond Exchange of South Africa on 23 June 2011 and bore interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate 

plus 0,43%. Interest was payable on maturity. This bond was fully redeemed on 7 December 2011.

On 2 December 2011, the group raised R100 million under this programme. The note, BSR07, was listed on the 

Bond Exchange of South Africa on 7 December 2011 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX 

rate plus 0,40%. Interest is payable on maturity and the capital sum is payable on 7 June 2012. The interest rate 

applicable at year-end was 6,195%.

1 027 305 677 391

Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities  (508 071)  (339 733)

Instalment sale agreements  (218 357)  (145 601)

Banking loan  (61 111)  (66 667)

Domestic medium-term note programme  (228 603)  (127 465)

Total non-current interest-bearing borrowings  519 234  337 658 

The present value of future minimum payments on instalment sale agreements is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months  218 357  145 601 

Due between 1 and 5 years  369 234  151 171 

Thereafter  –  – 

 587 591  296 772 

The present value of future minimum payments on banking loans is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months  61 111  66 667 

Due between 1 and 3 years  –  61 487 

Thereafter  –  – 

 61 111  128 154 

The present value of future minimum payments on the domestic medium-term note programme is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months  228 603  127 465 

Due between 1 and 2 years  150 000  125 000 

Thereafter  –  – 

 378 603  252 465 
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 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

27. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The fair value of interest-bearing borrowings is as follows:

Instalment sale agreements  587 591  296 772 

Banking loans  61 111  128 154 

Domestic medium-term note programme  378 603  252 465 

 1 027 305  677 391 

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

South African rand  768 924  605 421 

Botswana pula  258 381  71 970 

 1 027 305  677 391 

The group has R1,0 billion (2010: R1,0 billion) undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the year.  

These facilities are annual facilities and are subject to review at various dates during 2012.

28. OTHER BORROWINGS

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd  13 250  13 250 

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of Roadcrete Africa (Pty) Ltd  –  9 498 

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of the Gerolemou/Mvela group  –  57 208 

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of TWP Matomo Process Plant (Pty) Ltd  –  6 082 

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of TPS.P Architects (Pty) Ltd  –  6 585 

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd  6 399  25 932 

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of Valente Brothers (Pty) Ltd  –  6 736 

Total amount outstanding  19 649  125 291 

Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities  –  (99 103)

Total non-current other borrowings  19 649  26 188 

The carrying amounts of other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

South African rand  13 250  99 359 

Botswana pula  6 399  25 932 

 19 649  125 291 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED



Bas i l  Read in tegr a ted annua l  repor t  2011

163

Management reviews Our divisions Sustainability FinancialsWhat we do

28. OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Due to a continued dispute with the previous shareholders of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd, the timing of all future payments is uncertain.

The deferred payment for the acquisition of Roadcrete Africa (Pty) Ltd was payable annually in September in three instalments of R12 million, 

R11 million and R10 million. The loan’s notional effective interest rate was 10% per annum. The first and second of these payments was made in prior 

years. The third and final payment was made in the current year.

The deferred payment for the acquisition of the Gerolemou/Mvela group was payable annually in July in two equal instalments of R60 million.  

R25,8 million of each instalment was conditional on the company meeting certain profit warranties. The loan’s notional effective interest rate was 10% 

per annum. The first of these payments was made in prior years. The second and final payment was made in the current year.

The deferred payment relating to the acquisition of TWP Matomo Process Plant (Pty) Ltd was payable annually in October in two instalments of  

R5 million and R6,5 million. The loan’s notional effective interest rate is 15,5% per annum. The first instalment of R5 million was paid in prior years. 

The second and final payment of R6,5 million was made in the current year.

The deferred payment relating to the acquisition of TPS.P Architects (Pty) Ltd related to shareholders loans acquired that were yet to be settled. These 

loans were settled in the year under review.

The deferred payment relating to the acquisition of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd is payable annually in April in three instalments. The first 

instalment of R19,7 million, consisted of a guaranteed payment of R6,6 million and a R13,1 million payment that was conditional on the company 

meeting a profit warranty. Due to the company’s inability to meet this profit warranty, the conditional portion of the deferred payment was reversed in 

the prior year. The second instalment of R7,9 million was conditional on the company meeting a profit warranty. The third and final instalment comprises 

a guaranteed payment of R10,3 million and a R10,6 million payment that is conditional on the company meeting a profit warranty. Due to the company’s 

inability to meet profit warranties in the current year and the expectation, based on forecasted results, that the company will be unable to meet the 

profit warranty in the coming year, the remaining conditional payments were reversed in the year under review and are included in ‘Administrative and 

other operating overheads’ in the income statement. The loan’s notional effective interest rate is 10% per annum. The amount disclosed above is the 

present value of the remaining guaranteed instalment of R10,3 million using a discount rate of 10% per annum.

The deferred payment relating to the acquisition of the Valente Brothers group was payable in August 2011. The loan’s notional effective interest rate 

was 8% per annum. This payment was made in the year under review.
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

29. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Employee provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  68 599  33 915 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  –  4 464 

Provisions created  135 355  118 708 

Provisions reversed  (61 590)  (14 007)

Provisions utilised  (83 709)  (74 481)

Foreign exchange differences  358  – 

Balance at the end of the year  59 013  68 599 

Employee provisions consist mainly of employee incentives which are awarded based on individual performance 

and are paid within three months of the financial year-end.

Contract provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  68 449  96 259 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  –  8 759 

Provisions created  160 034  53 989 

Provisions reversed  (38 652)  (47 889)

Provisions utilised  (27 941)  (42 669)

Balance at the end of the year  161 890  68 449 

Contract provisions consist mainly of provision for losses to end-of-site and provision for end-of-site maintenance 

period.

Other provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  15 187  20 628 

Provisions created  –  – 

Provisions reversed  –  – 

Provisions utilised  (15 187)  (5 441)

Balance at the end of the year  –  15 187 

Other provisions consist mainly of provisions for onerous leases and legal settlements.

Balance at the end of the year – current provisions  220 903  152 235

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors and accruals  1 079 316  969 726 

Shareholders for dividends  622  497 

Advance payments received for contract work  513 315  583 399 

 1 593 253  1 553 622

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

31. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit  280 946 369 495

Adjustment for non-cash items: 232 135 247 383

Depreciation  242 237  220 794 

Share-based payment  545  1 193 

Impairment loss  24 802  531 

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (4 941)  (2 597)

Profit on sale of subsidiary  (24 475)  – 

Reversal of other borrowings – deferred payment to previous shareholders of Sladden International  

(Botswana) (Pty) Ltd  (16 818)  (11 841)

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 785 39 303

Operating cash flow  513 081  616 878 

Movements in working capital:  (346 657)  (196 806)

Inventories  1 790  (28 810)

Development land  (46 748)  (71 220)

Contract and trade debtors  (426 595)  (52 209)

Receivables and prepayments  (49 226)  (11 016)

Trade and other payables  103 394  (21 761)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  70 728  (11 790)

Cash generated by operating activities  166 424  420 072 

Excluded from the cash flow statement are additions to fixed assets amounting to R436,0 million  

(2010: R199,4 million) which were funded by instalment sale agreements.

32. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends due at the beginning of the year  (497)  (396)

Dividends declared per the statement of changes in equity  (37 144)  (51 659)

Dividends due at the end of the year  622  497 

Dividends paid  (37 019)  (51 558)

33. TAXATION PAID

Net taxation due at the beginning of the year  (16 101)  (61 232)

Normal taxation and STC charged to the income statement  (102 722)  (116 047)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  –  (5 113)

Disposal of subsidiaries  1 337  – 

Transferred to assets held for sale  –  619 

Net taxation due at the end of the year  (11 777)  16 101 

Taxation paid  (129 263)  (165 672)
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

34. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The group has the following guarantees and suretyships outstanding at the year-end:

Payment guarantees  53 561  42 811 

Performance and construction guarantees  1 442 781  1 466 679 

Bond retention guarantees  356 323  271 264 

Bid and other bonds  164 405  184 213 

 2 017 070  1 964 967 

It is not expected that any loss will arise out of the issue of the above guarantees.

35. CAPITAL AND OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for at the statement of financial position date  –  – 

Capital expenditure approved and not yet contracted for  200 000  359 478 

The above capital expenditure will be financed from funds generated from operations and borrowings.

Operating lease commitments contracted for at the statement of financial position date:

Due within the next 12 months  53 152  83 093 

Due between 1 and 2 years  52 918  40 869 

Thereafter  356 294  57 077 

 462 364  181 039 

The operating leases for office equipment are payable in monthly instalments of between R11 747 and R198 958, escalating annually by between 0% and 

9%, over a period of between one and five years.

The operating leases for office space are payable in monthly instalments of between R251 606 and R2 387 490. The longest lease expires in 12 years.

The operating leases for other services are payable in monthly instalments of between R26 324 and R92 000, escalating annually by agreement between 

the parties. These lease agreements are in force for an indefinite period but may be terminated by giving three months’ written notice.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

36. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Staff costs  1 622 286  1 126 686 

 Salaries and wages  1 521 395  1 018 735 

 Share-based payment  545  1 193 

 Pension costs – defined contribution plans  48 754  64 531 

 Pension costs – defined benefit plan  –  – 

 Social security costs  51 592  42 227 

 Number  Number 

Segment employees analysis

Number of employees employed by the group: Geographical  6 493  7 592 

Local  6 279  5 926 

International  214  1 666 

b) Defined contribution and defined benefit plan

The Basil Read Group Pension Fund, the Basil Read Group Provident Fund and the Construction Industry Retirement Benefit Plan cover 

permanent employees of the group and its subsidiary companies. The pension fund is a defined benefit plan while the provident fund 

and Construction Industry Retirement Benefit Plan are both defined contribution plans. All three funds are registered under the Pension Funds Act 

of 1965 as privately administered funds.

The Basil Read Group Pension Fund was actuarially valued on 30 September 2007 and subsequently rolled forward to 31 December 2009. The 

surplus apportionment, as required by the Pension Funds Second Amendment Act 2001, was approved by the Financial Services Board during 

January 2007.

 2011 

 R’000 

 2010 

 R’000 

Present value of funded obligations  (59 188)  (46 772)

Fair value of plan assets  64 678  46 602

Surplus/(deficit)  5 490  (170) 

Unrecognised due to paragraph 58(b) limit:  (5 490)  –

The principal actuarial assumptions used for valuation purposes were as follows:

% %

Discount rate 8,25 8,75

Expected return on assets 6,50 7,25

Future salary increases n/a n/a

Future pension increases 3,10 3,57

The group has not recognised any portion of the pension fund surplus in its statement of financial position. The directors do not expect a 

significant portion of this surplus to be allocated to the group once the final apportionment has been approved by the trustees of the fund.
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2011
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2010
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36. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

b) Defined contribution and defined benefit plan (continued)

Reconciliation of present value of funded obligations

Balance at the beginning of the year  46 772  44 815 

Service cost  –  – 

Member contributions  –  – 

Interest cost  4 872  3 959 

Actuarial gain  7 838  (156)

Benefits paid  (294)  (1 846)

Risk premiums  –  – 

Amount settled  –  – 

Curtailment loss  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  59 188  46 772 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Balance at the beginning of the year  46 602  47 603 

Expected return on assets  4 405  3 570 

Contributions  –  – 

Risk premiums  –  – 

Benefits paid  (294)  (1 846)

Actuarial gain/(loss)  13 965  (2 725)

Amount settled  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  64 678  46 602 

The assets of the Basil Read Pension Fund were invested as follows:

% %

Cash 86,1 50,8

Equity 7,3 0,0

Bonds 6,6 49,2

Total 100,0 100,0

Expected return on assets

The Fund’s expected long-term return is a function of the expected long-term returns on equities, cash and bonds. In setting these assumptions, 

the asset split as at 30 November 2011 was used. The expected long-term rate of return on bonds was set at the same level as the discount rate. 

This implies a yield on government bonds of 8,25% per annum. The expected long-term rate of return on equities was set at a level of 3% above 

the bond rate, whilst the expected long-term rate of return on cash was set at a level of 1% below the bond rate. Adjustments were made to 

reflect the effect of expenses.

c) Company contribution

The company, on the advice of the actuary, determines the company contribution rate in respect of the Basil Read Group Pension Fund.

d) Medical aid

The company continuously reviews its contribution and benefit structures in its various medical aid schemes to ensure that these are well 

positioned against steeply rising healthcare costs. The group has no current exposure to post-retirement medical aid costs.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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36. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e) Share incentive scheme

In terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue options to directors and qualifying 

employees. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the market price of the shares less a maximum discount of 10%. Options are 

conditional on the employee being in the service of the group on the vesting date. The group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase 

or settle the options in cash.

First grant

In terms of the first issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this option 

in September 2002. The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R1,40 per share when the group issues these shares at 

the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued shares 

amounted to R199 304 (2010: R172 447) based on the group’s year-end share price.

The movement in the rights to acquire Basil Read shares in terms of issue one is as follows:

 Number 

 2011 

’000 

 Number 

 2010 

’000

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  14  14 

Rights exercised during the year  –  – 

Lapsed during the year due to resignations  –  – 

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  14  14 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited to the following 

vesting periods:

September 2005  8  8 

September 2006  –  – 

September 2007  6  6 

 14  14 

Third grant

In terms of the third issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this 

option in November 2007. The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R13,95 per share when the group issues these 

shares at the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued 

shares amounted to R26 451 600 (2010: R22 888 725) based on the group’s year-end share price.

 Number 

 2011 

’000 

 Number 

 2010 

’000

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  1 876  2 068 

Rights exercised during the year  –  – 

Lapsed during the year due to resignations  –  (192)

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  1 876  1 876 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited to the following vesting 

periods:

November 2008  926  926 

November 2009  471  471 

November 2010  479  479 

 1 876  1 876 

The following share options allocated to executive directors are still outstanding at year-end:

Vested  310  310 

Non-vested  –  – 

 310  310 
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 Number 

 2011 

’000 

 Number 

 2010 

’000

36. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e) Share incentive scheme (continued)

Third grant (continued)

The following share options allocated to key management are still outstanding at year-end:

Vested  515  515 

Non-vested  –  – 

 515  515 

The weighted average fair value of options granted in terms of this issue determined using the European Binomial valuation model on grant date 

was R21,52 per option. The significant inputs into the model are disclosed below.

The inputs to the model for options granted during November 2007 were as follows: 

– exercise price  13,95

–  expected volatility (based on a statistical analysis of the share price on a weighted moving average basis for the expected term 

of the option) 57,29%

– expected term (years)  1 – 3 

– expected dividend yield 1,4%

– risk-free interest rate 9,80%

– weighted average fair value of an option  R21,52 

Fourth grant

In terms of the fourth issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this 

option in April 2009. The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R13,95 per share when the group issues these shares at 

the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued shares 

amounted to R22 648 830 (2010: R19 832 320) based on the group’s year-end share price.

 Number 

 2011 

’000 

 Number 

 2010 

’000

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  1 625  1 676 

Rights issued during the year  –  – 

Rights exercised during the year  –  – 

Lapsed during the year due to resignations  (19)  (51)

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  1 606  1 625 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited to the following vesting 

periods:

April 2010  802  813 

April 2011  402  406 

April 2012  402  406 

 1 606  1 625 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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 Number 

 2011 

’000 

 Number 

 2010 

’000

36. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e) Share incentive scheme (continued)

Fourth grant (continued)

The following share options allocated to executive directors are still outstanding at year-end:

Vested  131  88 

Non-vested  44  87 

 175  175 

The following share options allocated to key management are still outstanding at year-end:

Vested  467  311 

Non-vested  155  311 

 622  622 

The weighted average fair value of options granted in terms of this issue determined using the European Binomial valuation model on grant date 

was R2,11 per option. The significant inputs into the model are disclosed below.

The inputs to the model for options granted during the year were as follows:

– exercise price  13,95 

–  expected volatility (based on a statistical analysis of the share price on a weighted moving average basis for the expected term 

of the option) 41,67%

– expected term (years)  1 – 3 

– expected dividend yield 5,3%

– risk-free interest rate 6,24%

– weighted average fair value of an option  R2,11
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37. SEGMENT REPORT

The group mainly operates in South Africa, sub-Saharan Africa, Australia and South America. The group’s client base consists mainly of government and 

mining institutions.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic executive committee that are used to 

make strategic decisions.

The committee manages the business in terms of four segments, construction, developments, engineering and mining. Assets and liabilities are allocated 

to each of these segments and are managed accordingly.

In terms of revenue and profitability, the construction segment has been further broken down into buildings, civil engineering and roads to be consistent 

with the internal reporting reviewed by the committee.

Although the developments segment does not meet the qualitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, management has concluded that this segment should 

be reported, as it is closely monitored by the strategic executive committee as a growth area with a unique risk profile.

Intersegment revenue is charged at market rates prevailing at the time of the transaction. The revenue from external customers reported to the 

strategic executive committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the income statement.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the 

financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial 

statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.

The segment information provided to the strategic executive committee for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Operating 

profit

 %

Con-

struction

 R’000 

Develop-

ments

 R’000 

Engin-

eering

 R’000 

Mining

 R’000 

Inter-

segment

 elimination

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Revenue  4 393 491  38 276  1 128 175  1 190 739  (520 225)  6 230 456 

Buildings 830 914  –  –  –  (74 871) 756 043

Civil engineering 1 051 399  –  –  – (30 513) 1 020 886

Roads 2 511 178  –  –  – (138 899) 2 372 279

Mining  –  –  –  1 190 739  (260 026)  930 713 

Developments  –  38 276  –  –  –  38 276 

Engineering  –  –  1 128 175  –  (15 916)  1 112 259 

Operating profit 4,51 81 294  9 065 82 907  107 680  –  280 946 

Buildings 0,88 6 647  –  –  –  – 6 647

Civil engineering 0,55 5 617  –  –  –  – 5 617

Roads 2,91 69 030  –  –  –  – 69 030

Mining  11,57  –  –  –  107 680  –  107 680 

Developments  23,68  –  9 065  –  –  –  9 065 

Engineering 7,45  –  – 82 907  –  – 82 907

Depreciation  (84 697)  (128)  (14 900)  (142 512)  –  (242 237)

Impairment  (1 948)  –  (22 854)  –  –  (24 802)

Net finance income/(costs)  (15 742)  (9 469)  8 881  (19 677)  –  (36 007)

Property, plant and equipment 504 305  3 141  41 804  616 963 –  1 166 213 

Additions to property, plant and equipment  193 394  52  43 499  410 965  –  647 910 

Goodwill  282 097  –  452 549  34 779  –  769 425 

Inventories  6 157  –  83  36 617  –  42 857 

Cash and cash equivalents  419 296  5 238  (975)  230 170  –  653 729 

Interest-bearing borrowings  566 845  61 111  –  399 349  –  1 027 305 

Other borrowings  19 649  –  –  –  –  19 649 

Order book  7 700 000  200 000  2 600 000  2 000 000  –  12 500 000 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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37. SEGMENT REPORT (continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2010 is as follows:

Operating 

profit 

 % 

Con-

struction

 R’000 

Develop-

ments

 R’000 

Engin-

eering

 R’000 

Mining

 R’000 

Inter-

segment

 elimination

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Revenue  3 962 637  24 191  664 405  812 012  (73 476)  5 389 769 

Buildings  845 753  –  –  –  –  845 753 

Civil engineering  766 269  –  –  –  (6 760)  759 509 

Roads  2 350 615  –  –  –  (55 396)  2 295 219 

Mining  –  –  –  812 012  (10 294)  801 718 

Developments  –  24 191  –  –  –  24 191 

Engineering  –  –  664 405  –  (1 026)  663 379 

Operating profit 6,86 265 753  4 653 (12 257)  111 346  – 369 495

Buildings (4,27) (36 095)  –  –  –  – (36 095)

Civil engineering 4,93 37 471  –  –  –  – 37 471

Roads 11,52 264 377  –  –  –  – 264 377

Mining  13,89  –  –  –  111 346  –  111 346 

Developments  19,23  –  4 653  –  –  –  4 653 

Engineering (1,85)  –  – (12 257)  –  – (12 257)

Depreciation  (67 536)  (74)  (25 305)  (127 879)  –  (220 794)

Impairment  (531)  –  –  –  –  (531)

Net finance income/(costs)  8 716  1 612  (2 908)  (6 801)  –  619 

Property, plant and equipment  451 007  3 217  53 695  365 471  –  873 390 

Additions to property, plant and equipment  179 982  1 710  26 200  214 906  –  422 798 

Goodwill  314 500  –  452 549  34 779  –  801 828 

Inventories  2 389  –  9 443  35 868  –  47 700 

Cash and cash equivalents  715 463  36 232  (10 098)  237 059  –  978 656 

Interest-bearing borrowings  399 563  127 778  2 367  147 683  –  677 391 

Other borrowings  112 624  –  12 667  –  –  125 291 

Order book  4 900 000  100 000  1 500 000  1 300 000  –  7 800 000 
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties during the year:

Costs incurred by the group:

Nature of relationship/Amounts paid to Nature of transaction

2011

R’000

 2010 

R’000

Shareholders

Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd Directors’ fees  655  543 

Vuwa Investments (Pty) Ltd Directors’ fees –  165 

Directors

Amounts paid to other non-executive directors Directors’ fees  1 852  2 164 

Amounts paid to executive directors Remuneration and incentives  19 955  19 897 

Prescribed officers

Amounts paid to prescribed officers Remuneration and incentives 10 549 8 166

Management

Amounts paid to key management# Cash portion of package 19 883 18 688

Amounts paid to key management# Benefits 2 983 2 759

Amounts paid to key management# Incentive bonus 8 250 15 767

Associate companies and joint ventures

Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Ltd Loan*  15 611  15 084 

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Ltd Loan*  (1 141)  (1 141)

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd Loan*  41 987 –

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd Loan*  4 293  1 275 

Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd Loan*  377  (9)

Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd Loan*  (44 832) –

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd Loan*  2 649 –

Other

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd^  Rent paid  6 479 –

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd^  Construction work done 57 625 –

#  Key management include the directors of the group’s two largest operating subsidiaries, Basil Read (Pty) Ltd and TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd. Details of share options awarded to key 

management can be found in note 36.
* Refer notes 15 and 16 for further details.
^  Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd owns the Basil Read head office building in Boksburg. Panayiotis Andreou Gerolemou is a shareholder and a director of Thunderstruck Investments 

(Pty) Ltd and a director of Basil Read (Pty) Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

39. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

Jointly controlled operations

The group’s aggregate proportionate share of jointly controlled operations:

Assets

Non-current assets  416 214  355 950 

Current assets  279 355  402 573 

 695 569  758 523 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  381 460  351 415 

Current liabilities  314 109  407 108 

 695 569  758 523 

Income statement

Revenue  1 223 400  1 533 705 

Cost  (1 193 352)  (1 348 488)

Net profit for the year  30 048  185 217 

Jointly controlled entities

The group’s proportionate share of jointly controlled entities:

Assets

Non-current assets  5 344  2 618 

Current assets  103 784  71 438 

 109 128  74 056 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  (10 363)  6 480 

Non-current liabilities  25 219 – 

Current liabilities  94 272  67 576 

 109 128  74 056 

Income statement

Revenue  15 945  859 

Cost  (18 902)  803 

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (2 957)  1 662 
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

40. ASSOCIATES

The group’s proportionate share of associates:

Assets

Non-current assets  46 642  23 

Current assets  130 852  3 386 

 177 494  3 409 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  7 574  (16)

Current liabilities  169 920  3 425 

 177 494  3 409 

Income statement

Revenue  52 596  16 427 

Cost  (45 888)  (16 615)

Net profit/(loss) for the year  6 708  (188)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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41. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES

The following information relates to the group’s financial interest in direct and indirect investments that are material to the group.

Proportion held

Currency

Issued 

ordinary

share capital

 2011

%

 2010

% 

Subsidiaries

Abrina 6830 (Section 21) ZAR  100 100

Anglo African Risk Advisors (Pty) Ltd (previously Angloafrican Underwriting 

Managers (Pty) Ltd) ZAR 100 51  51 

African Road Maintenance and Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 100  100 

Basil Read (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Basil Read Mining Botswana (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 2 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Ltd (incorporated in the United Kingdom) GBP 1 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Middle East LLC (incorporated in Abu Dhabi) AED 20 200 000 49  49 

Basil Read Construction Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 100 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Sierra Leone Limited (incorporated in Sierra Leone) SLL 100 000 000 100 100

Basil Read DRC SPRL (incorporated in the Democratic Republic of Congo) USD 50 000 100 –

Basil Read Energy (Pty) Ltd (formerly TWP Energy (Pty) Ltd) ZAR 100 100 100

Basil Read Homes (Pty) Ltd ZAR 2 100  100 

Basil Read International (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mauritius (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Mauritius) USD 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mining (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mining Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 10 100  100 

Basil Read Mining SA (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mozambique Limitada (incorporated in Mozambique) MZM 1 500 000 100  100 

Basil Read Nigeria Limited (incorporated in Nigeria) NGN 2 000 000 100  100 

Basil Read Properties No. 2 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 389 000 100  100 

Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Tanzania (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Tanzania) TZS 2 000 000 100 100

Basil Read Uganda (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Uganda) UGX 100 100  100 

Basil Read Zambia Limited (incorporated in Zambia) ZMK 5 000 100  100 

B & E Africa (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Swaziland) ZAR 200 100  100 

B & E Botswana (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 200 100  100 

B & E Lesotho (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Lesotho) ZAR 200 100  100 

Blasting & Excavating Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 200 100  100 

Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Blue Wave Properties 183 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

City Square Trading 949 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Codevco (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

Contract Plumbing and Sanitation (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Effluent Technologies (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 
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41. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

Proportion held

Currency

Issued

 ordinary

share capital

 2011

%

 2010

% 

Subsidiaries (continued)

Facets Interiors (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Ltd NAD 100 100 100

Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Mvela Phanda Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 10 000 100  100 

Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 70 100

P Gerolemou Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Phambili Pipelines (Pty) Ltd ZAR 730 100 100

Portal – TPC Architects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Portal Partnership Incorporated ZAR 50 000 100  100 

Richtrau No. 111 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Roadcrete Africa (Pty) Ltd ZAR 4 900 100  100 

Roadcrete Mkhatjwa (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

Siyavuya Mining (Pty) Ltd* ZAR 100 49  49 

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 500 000 100 100

SprayPave (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100 100

Swaziland Construction Company (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Swaziland) SZL 2 100  100 

TPS. P Architects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 373 100  100 

TPS. P Arquitectos Limitada MZM 20 000 97,5  97,5 

TPS Siyakha Architects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 –  100 

Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) Ltd ZAR 300 100 100

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd# AUD 1 000 – 87,5

TWP Environmental Services (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd ZAR 286 171 209 100  100 

TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Limpopo Engineering (Pty) Ltd ZAR  100 100

TWP Matomo Process Plants (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Valente Brothers (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100 100

Jointly controlled entities

Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 50 –

Savanna City Developments (Pty) Ltd (formerly Sugar Creek  

Trading 101 (Pty) Ltd) ZAR 100 50  50 

TWSP (Pty) Ltd (Incorporated in Australia)# AUD 10 000 50 87,5

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 80 000 50  50 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED



Bas i l  Read in tegr a ted annua l  repor t  2011

179

Management reviews Our divisions Sustainability FinancialsWhat we do

41. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

Proportion held

Currency

Issued

 ordinary

share capital

 2011

%

 2010

% 

Jointly controlled operations

Basil Read Bothakga Burrow joint venture BWP n/a 70  70 

Basil Read Genesis joint venture NAD n/a 80  80 

Basil Read Lutamo joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

Basil Read Newport joint venture ZAR n/a 100  75,5 

Basil Read Quinisa joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Basil Read Phambili Pipelines joint venture ZAR n/a 100 –

Basil Read Sivukile joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

BRCD joint venture ZAR n/a 80  80 

BRDC N17 joint venture ZAR n/a 80 80

CBR joint venture ZAR n/a 50 –

DCT joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

Germiston Hospital Contractors joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

GSC joint venture ZAR n/a 60  60 

Kopano joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Kusile Civil Works joint venture ZAR n/a 25  25 

Mbombela Stadium joint venture ZAR n/a 40  40 

MPC/NHC joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

MPC/SSB joint venture ZAR n/a 66  66 

PGTN joint venture ZAR n/a 60  60 

Realeka/MPC joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Roadcrete Africa joint venture ZAR n/a 100  100 

Runway Contractors joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

Trekkopje joint venture NAD n/a 33,3 33,3

Associates

Binga Constuçoes Mozambique Limitada MZM 30 000 000 49  49 

 (incorporated in Mozambique)

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 20  100 

Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 100 28 –

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 35 –

Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 30  30 

N17 Toll Operators (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 25  25 

Protea Parkway Concession (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 25  25 

SBB Mozambique Limitada MZM 10 000 000 30  30 

The holding company’s interest in the aggregate net profits earned by subsidiaries amounted to R152,5 million for the year (2010: R256,6 million).

* Siyavuya Mining (Pty) Ltd is classified as a subsidiary as the group has effective control.
# TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd, renamed TWSP (Pty) Ltd, was reclassified as an associate in the year under review.
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2011

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd

On 30 September 2011, the group acquired the remaining 12,5% of the share capital of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd, thereby giving the group an effective 

100% interest in the company.

 R’000 

Carrying value of minority share acquired  (3 200)

Purchase price paid  – 

Loss on transactions with non-controlling interests  (3 200)

Loss on transactions with non-controlling interests has been allocated as follows:

Retained income  (2 710)

Foreign currency translation reserve  (490)

 (3 200)

Subsequent to the acquisition of the remaining 12,5% of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd, the group disposed of 50% of the company. Refer to note 43 for 

further information.

For the year ended 31 December 2010

TWP Holdings Limited

Following finalisation of the purchase price allocation of TWP Holdings Limited, which was acquired during the 2009 financial year, adjustments were 

made to several assets and liabilities resulting in an increase in goodwill.

TWP Holdings Limited has been included as part of the engineering segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 Restated 

 R’000 

As previously

reported

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  179 862  178 890 

– equity shares issued  482 523  482 523 

– liability raised  –  – 

Total purchase consideration  662 385  661 413 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (209 836)  (340 843)

Goodwill  452 549  320 570 
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

TWP Holdings Limited (continued)

The assets and liabilities as of 21 December 2009 arising from the acquisition are:

 Restated 

 Fair value 

 R’000 

 Restated 

 Acquiree’s

 carrying

 amount 

 R’000 

As previously

reported

Fair 

value 

 R’000 

As previously

reported 

Acquiree’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  111  111  111  111 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  59 266  59 266  75 901  75 901 

Intangible assets  45 663  207 467  68 436  210 245 

Investments in jointly controlled entities  6 176  6 176  13 033  13 033 

Deferred income tax assets  19 380  19 380  10 502  10 502 

Available-for-sale financial assets  5 900  5 900  5 900  5 900 

Inventory  46  46  6 084  6 084 

Contract and trade debtors  173 114  173 114  258 741  258 741 

Receivables and prepayments  13 852  13 852  16 454  16 454 

Current income tax assets  3 835  3 835  8 817  8 817 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (7 652)  (7 652)  (7 652)  (7 652)

Other borrowings  (19 927)  (19 927)  (19 927)  (19 927)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (12 786) –  (28 269)  (9 885)

Trade and other payables  (50 944)  (50 944)  (52 092)  (52 092)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (20 690)  (20 690)  (62)  (62)

Current income tax liabilities  (5 508)  (5 508)  (15 134)  (15 134)

Net assets  209 836  384 426  340 843  501 036 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  179 862  178 890 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (111)  (111)

Cash outflow on acquisition   179 751  178 779

The Gerolemou/Mvela group

Following finalisation of the purchase price allocation of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, which was acquired during the 2009 financial year, adjustments 

were made to the purchase price resulting in an increase in goodwill. 

The Gerolemou/Mvela group has been included as part of the construction segment under the buildings sub-segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 Restated 

 R’000 

As previously

reported

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  246 033  245 746 

– liability raised  105 800  105 800 

Total purchase consideration  351 833  351 546 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (181 593)  (181 593)

Goodwill  170 240  169 953 
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

The Gerolemou/Mvela group (continued)

The assets and liabilities as of 1 September 2009 arising from the acquisition are:

 Restated 

 Fair value 

 R’000 

 Restated 

 Acquiree’s

 carrying

 amount 

 R’000 

As previously

reported

 Fair 

value 

 R’000 

As previously

reported

 Acquiree’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  371 501  371 501  371 501  371 501 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  40 732  40 732  40 732  40 732 

Intangible assets  32 197 –  32 197 –

Deferred income tax assets  12 842  12 842  12 842  12 842 

Available-for-sale financial assets  6  6  6  6 

Contract and trade debtors  50 826  50 826  50 826  50 826 

Receivables and prepayments  34 895  34 895  34 895  34 895 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (1 274)  (1 274)  (1 274)  (1 274)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (11 525)  (2 510)  (11 525)  (2 510)

Trade and other payables  (333 902)  (333 902)  (333 902)  (333 902)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (1 627)  (1 627)  (1 627)  (1 627)

Current income tax liabilities  (13 078)  (13 078)  (13 078)  (13 078)

Net assets  181 593  158 411  181 593  158 411 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  246 033  245 746 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (371 501)  (371 501)

Cash inflow on acquisition  (125 468)  (125 755)

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd

On 1 May 2010, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd, a company incorporated in Botswana. 

Sladden’s core business is the construction of roads and civil engineering structures for clients in Botswana and neighbouring countries. The acquired 

businesses contributed revenues of R67,1 million and net profit of R5,3 million. If the acquisition had been effective 1 January 2010, the acquired 

business would have contributed revenues of R127,6 million and net profit of R8,5 million. These amounts have been calculated using the group’s 

accounting policies.

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd has been included as part of the construction segment under the roads sub-segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 R’000 

Purchase consideration

– cash paid  30 459 

– equity shares issued –

– liability raised  37 966 

Total purchase consideration  68 425 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (36 022)

Goodwill  32 403 

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business, the significant synergies expected to arise following the acquisition of Sladden 

International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd and the accounting impact of deferred tax on fair value adjustments.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (continued)

The total purchase consideration of R76,0 million is payable in four instalments. The first instalment of R30,5 million was paid on 21 May 2010. The 

remaining R45,5 million is payable in three instalments on 30 April 2011, 30 April 2012 and 30 April 2013, dependent on the company meeting certain 

profit warranties. The R45,5 million deferred payment is interest-free and has therefore been discounted at 10% per annum to reflect fair value.

The payment schedule for the deferred payment is as follows:

 R million 

30 April 2011 – guaranteed payment  6,6 

30 April 2011 – dependent on meeting profit warranty*  13,1 

30 April 2012 – dependent on meeting profit warranty*  7,9 

30 April 2013 – dependent on meeting profit warranty*  10,6 

30 April 2013 – guaranteed payment  7,3 

 45,5 

The assets and liabilities as of 1 May 2010 arising from the acquisition are:

 Fair 

value 

 R’000 

 Acquiree’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  36 069  36 069 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  66 153  66 153 

Contract and trade debtors  31 407  31 407 

Receivables and prepayments  6 923  6 923 

Deferred income tax liabilities  (5 399)  (5 399)

Trade and other payables  (82 826)  (82 826)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (12 229)  (12 229)

Current income tax liabilities  (4 076)  (4 076)

Net assets  36 022  36 022 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  30 459 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (36 069)

Cash inflow on acquisition  (5 610)

 * Refer to note 28 for further information regarding profit warranty payments.
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

Valente Brothers group

On 1 July 2010, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Valente Brothers (Pty) Ltd, Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) Ltd and Phambili Pipelines (Pty) 

Ltd, collectively referred to as the Valente Brothers group. Valente Brothers’ core business is the construction of civil engineering structures, specialising 

in the laying and jacking of pipes, for clients in South Africa. The acquired businesses contributed revenues of R23,1 million and net profit of R4,1 million. 

If the acquisition had been effective 1 January 2010, the acquired business would have contributed revenues of R54,6 million and net profit of 

R6,6 million. These amounts have been calculated using the group’s accounting policies.

The Valente Brothers group has been included as part of the construction segment under the civil engineering sub-segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  19 168 

– liability raised  6 481 

Total purchase consideration  25 649 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (10 149)

Goodwill  15 500 

The total purchase consideration of R26,2 million is payable in two instalments. The first instalment of R19,2 million was paid in July 2010. The remaining 

R7 million is payable in one instalment on the first anniversary date. The deferred payment of R7 million is interest-free and has therefore been 

discounted at 8% per annum to reflect fair value.

The assets and liabilities as of 1 July 2010 arising from the acquisition are:

 Fair 

value 

 R’000 

 Acquiree’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  13 979  13 979 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  6 466  6 466 

Intangible assets  1 916  443 

Deferred income tax assets  175  175 

Contract and trade debtors  1 537  1 537 

Receivables and prepayments  178  178 

Current income tax assets  264  264 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (541)  (541)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (1 274)  (737)

Trade and other payables  (10 256)  (10 256)

Current income tax liabilities  (1 301)  (1 301)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (994)  (994)

Net assets  10 149  9 213 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  19 168 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (13 979)

Cash outflow on acquisition  5 189 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd

On 30 June 2010, the group acquired the remaining 30% of the share capital of Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd,  

thereby giving the group an effective 100% interest in the company.

 R’000 

Carrying value of non-controlling interest share acquired  3 137 

Purchase price paid  (4 020)

Loss on transactions with non-controlling interests  (883)

Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Ltd

On 3 September 2010, the group acquired the remaining 39% of the share capital of Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Ltd,  

thereby giving the group an effective 100% interest in the company.

Carrying value of non-controlling interest share acquired  224 

Purchase price paid  (38)

Gain on transactions with non-controlling interests  186

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd

On 1 January 2011, the group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd. The company is a property-owning company.

Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the construction segment.

Details of net assets disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received  93 975 

– asset raised  – 

Total sale consideration  93 975 

Carrying value of net assets disposed  (89 470)

Profit on sale  4 505 

The assets and liabilities as of 1 January 2011 disposed of are:

 Fair 

value 

 R’000 

 Disposee’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  –  – 

Property, plant and equipment  91 666  91 666 

Receivables and prepayments  892  892 

Deferred income tax liabilities  (2 185)  (2 185)

Trade and other payables  (284)  (284)

Current income tax liabilities  (619)  (619)

Net assets  89 470  89 470 

Purchase consideration received in cash  93 975 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  – 

Cash inflow on disposal  93 975 
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd

On 1 June 2011, the group disposed of 30% of the share capital of Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd, thereby giving the group an effective 70% interest in 

the company.

 R’000 

Carrying value of non-controlling interest share disposed  (1 643)

Purchase consideration received  2 000 

Gain on transactions with non-controlling interests  357 

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd

On 30 September 2011, the group disposed of 50% of the share capital of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd. The jointly controlled entity 

was renamed TWSP (Pty) Ltd.

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the engineering segment.

Details of net liabilities disposed are as follows:

Sale consideration:

– cash received  5 730 

Total sale consideration  5 730 

Fair value of net liabilities disposed  25 601 

Derecognition of foreign currency translation reserve  (3 923)

Recognition of jointly controlled entity at fair value  5 730 

Profit on sale  33 138 

The assets and liabilities as of 30 September 2011 disposed of are:

 Fair 

value 

 R’000 

 Disposee’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  586  586 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  5 247  5 247 

Deferred income tax assets  9 395  9 395 

Contract and trade debtors  16 730  16 730 

Receivables and prepayments  808  808 

Shareholder loan account  (46 449)  (46 449)

Trade and other payables  (10 581)  (10 581)

Current income tax liabilities  (1 337)  (1 337)

Net liabilities  (25 601)  (25 601)

Purchase consideration received in cash  5 730 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (586)

Cash inflow on disposal  5 144 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements CONTINUED
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd

On 31 December 2011, the TWP Group disposed of its full 74% share held in TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd.

TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the engineering segment.

Details of net liabilities disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received –

Total sale consideration –

Fair value of net liabilities disposed  2 536 

Derecognition of non-controlling interest  (15 704)

Loss on sale  (13 168)

The assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2011 disposed of are:

 Fair 

value 

 R’000 

 Disposee’s

 carrying 

amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  13  13 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13)  3 209  3 209 

Inventory  3 053  3 053 

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (2 060)  (2 060)

Shareholder loan  (6 000)  (6 000)

Trade and other payables  (751)  (751)

Net liabilities  (2 536)  (2 536)

Purchase consideration received in cash –

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (13)

Cash outflow on disposal  (13)

For the year ended 31 December 2010

There were no disposals in the year ended 31 December 2010.
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Company income statement

 2011 

R’000
 2010 
R’000

Net profit for the year  28 786  25 618 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – –

Total comprehensive income for the year  28 786  25 618 

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Company statement of comprehensive income

Notes 

 2011 

 R’000
 2010 
R’000

Revenue  –    –   

Contracting revenue  –    –   

Other  –    –   

Contracting and other costs  –    –   

Gross profit  –    –   

Administrative and operating overheads  (5 554)  (2 063)

Dividends received  35 000  30 000 

Operating profit  29 446  27 937 

Interest received 44  3 083  3 459 

Interest paid 44  (29)  (578)

Profit before taxation  32 500  30 818 

Taxation  (3 714)  (5 200)

Profit after taxation  28 786  25 618 
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as at 31 December 2011

Company statement of financial position

Notes

 2011 

 R’000
 2010 
R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets  952 619  960 392 

Investments in subsidiaries 45  952 617  960 390 

Available-for-sale financial assets 46  2  2 

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 47  206  127 

Total assets  952 825  960 519 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves  952 067  959 880 

Stated capital 48  948 687  948 687 

Retained earnings   3 380  11 193

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 49  758  639 

Total equity and liabilities  952 825  960 519 
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Company statement of changes in equity

Notes

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (8 239)  (33 792)

Cash generated by operating activities 50  29 440  20 427 

Net finance income 44  3 054  2 881 

Dividends paid 51  (37 019)  (51 900)

Taxation paid 52  (3 714)  (5 200)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  8 318  45 911 

Acquisition of subsidiary  –    (972)

Loans repaid by subsidiaries 45  8 318  46 883 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  –    (12 273)

Proceeds from issue of shares  –    –   

Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings  –    (12 273)

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  79  (154)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  127  281 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – AT THE END OF THE YEAR 47  206  127 

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Company statement of cash flows 

 Share

 capital 

 R’000 

 Retained

 earnings 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Balance at 1 January 2010  948 687  36 383  985 070 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –    25 618  25 618 

Share-based payment  –    1 193  1 193 

Dividend paid  –    (52 001)  (52 001)

Balance at 31 December 2010  948 687  11 193  959 880 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –    28 786  28 786 

Share-based payment  –    545  545 

Dividend paid  –    (37 144)  (37 144)

Balance at 31 December 2011  948 687  3 380  952 067 
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

Notes to the company financial statements

 2011 

R’000

 2010 

R’000

44. NET FINANCE INCOME

Interest paid

Bank loans and other borrowings  (29)  (578)

Interest received  3 083  3 459 

Bank  30  171 

Other  3 053  3 288 

 3 054  2 881 

45. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted investments

Shares at cost  662 386  662 386 

Share-based payments  62 433  61 888 

Loans to subsidiaries  227 798  236 116 

 952 617  960 390 

Details of the group’s investments in subsidiaries are as follows:

Basil Read (Pty) Ltd  259 708  270 627 

Shares at cost  1  1 

Share-based payment  62 433  61 888 

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  197 274  208 738 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Shares at cost  662 385  662 385 

Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme

Interest-free loans to trust  –  78 

Basil Read Properties No. 2 (Pty) Ltd

Interest-free loans from subsidiary  –  (170)

Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd  30 516  27 462 

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  4 528  1 474 

Interest-bearing loan to subsidiary  25 988  25 988 

Blue Wave Properties 183 (Pty) Ltd

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  8  8 

 952 617  960 390 

Unless indicated, the above loans are interest-free. Partial loans to Basil Read Properties No. 3  
(Pty) Ltd are charged interest at the local prime overdraft rate plus 2,75%.

At 31 December 2011, the net asset value of the group was R1,8 billion (2010: R1,7 billion)  
and the market capitalisation was R1,7 billion (2010: R1,5 billion), based on the group’s year-end share price.

46. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Listed investments

At the beginning and the end of the year  2  2 

The carrying value of listed investments approximates their fair value.

47. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances  206  127
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Notes to the company financial statements CONTINUED

 Number 

of shares  

 No par 

value 

ordinary

 shares 

R’000

48. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary shares

150 000 000 ordinary no par value shares (2010: 150 000 000)

Issued

Ordinary shares

Year ended 31 December 2010

At the beginning and end of the year  123 811 043  948 687 

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the beginning and end of the year  123 811 043  948 687 

The unissued shares were not placed under the control of the directors by resolution of the shareholders until the forthcoming annual general meeting.  
The directors are not authorised, by resolution of the shareholders and until the forthcoming annual general meeting, to issue ordinary shares for cash.

 2011 

 R’000 
 2010 

 R’000 

49. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors and accruals  136  142 

Shareholders for dividends  622  497 

758 639

The carrying value of trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the  
short-term maturities of these balances.

50. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit  29 446  27 937 

Adjustment for non-cash items:  –  – 

Operating cash flow  29 446  27 937 

Movements in working capital:  (6)  (7 510)

Receivables and prepayments  –  454 

Trade and other payables  (6)  (7 964)

Cash generated by operating activities  29 440  20 427

51. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends due at the beginning of the year  (497)  (396)

Dividends declared per the statement of changes in equity  (37 144)  (52 001)

Dividends due at the end of the year  622  497 

Dividends paid  (37 019)  (51 900)

52. TAXATION PAID

Taxation due at the beginning of the year  –  – 

STC charged to the income statement  (3 714)  (5 200)

Taxation due at the end of the year  –  – 

Taxation paid  (3 714)  (5 200)

53. BORROWING POWERS

The company has unlimited borrowing powers in terms of its constitutional documents.

54. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company has issued sureties for unlimited amounts in respect of amounts advanced to and sureties issued on behalf of subsidiary companies. It is 
not expected that any loss will arise out of the issue of these guarantees.
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as at 31 December 2011

Shareholders’ information

ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS

The following are the shareholders beneficially holding  directly or indirectly  in excess of 2% of the share capital: 

Number of

 shares held

% of 

shares held

Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd  11 099 813  8,97 

The Townshend Family Trust  9 337 047  7,54 

Industrial Development Corporation  9 090 909  7,34 

Anchor Park Investments 81 (Pty) Ltd (Vunani Limited)  4 268 260  3,45 

Pictet et cie Banquiers  4 172 793  3,37 

GEPF (EQT) Cadiz Asset Management (Pty) Ltd  3 117 249  2,52 

Cedar Falls Properties 104 (Pty) Ltd  2 783 211  2,25 

DESCRIPTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Number of

 shareholders

%  of

 shareholders

Number of

 shares held

% of 

shares held

Public shareholding

Corporate entities/nominees/trusts/individuals  4 047  99,86  99 041 771  80,00 

 4 047  99,86  99 041 771  80,00 

Non-public shareholding

Share Incentive Scheme  1  0,02  25 096  0,02 

Major black economic empowerment partners  2  0,05  15 368 073  12,41 

Directors (direct and indirect)  3  0,07  9 376 103  7,57 

 6  0,14  24 769 272  20,00 

Total  4 053  100,00  123 811 043  100,00 

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS ACCORDING TO COUNTRY

South Africa  3 978  98,18  115 836 757  93,56 

Switzerland  3  0,07  4 270 770  3,45 

United States of America  16  0,39  2 463 804  1,99 

Netherlands  3  0,07  501 472  0,41 

Namibia  25  0,62  492 370  0,40 

United Kingdom  12  0,30  183 352  0,15 

Luxembourg  2  0,05  29 453  0,02 

Botswana  7  0,17  19 509  0,02 

Canada  1  0,02  5 500  -   

Hong Kong  1  0,02  4 584  -   

Germany  1  0,02  2 000  -   

Swaziland  2  0,05  792  -   

Greece  1  0,02  400  -   

Zimbabwe  1  0,02  280  -   

 4 053  100,00  123 811 043  100,00 
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Notice of annual general meeting

BASIL READ HOLDINGS  LIMITED

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Registration number 1984/007758/06

Share code: BSR  ISIN: ZAE000029781

(Basil Read or the company or the group)

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your Central Securities 

Depository Participant (CSDP), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the twenty seventh annual general meeting (annual general meeting) of shareholders of Basil Read Holdings Limited will be held at 

10:00 am on Thursday, 7 June 2012 at the Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg for the purpose of considering, and, if deemed fit, 

passing, with or without modification, the resolutions set out hereafter.

The board of directors of the company (the board) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 of the Companies Act, 2008 

(Act 71 of 2008), the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the company are entitled to participate in and vote at the annual 

general meeting is Friday, 1 June 2012.  Accordingly, the last day to trade Basil Read shares in order to be recorded in the Register to be entitled to vote will 

be Friday, 25 May 2012.

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the company and the group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011, including 

the reports of the auditors, directors and the audit and risk committee.

2.  To re-elect, Mr SLL Peteni who, in terms of article 13.1 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, retires by rotation at this annual general 

meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election.

3.  To re-elect, Mr ML Heyns who, in terms of article 13.1 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, retires by rotation at this annual general 

meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election. 

4.  To re-elect, Mr MDG Gouveia who, in terms of article 13.1 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, retires by rotation at this annual general 

meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election.

  An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each director offering himself for re-election appears on page 22 of the integrated annual report to which 

this notice is attached. 

5. To appoint, Mrs GR Sibiya as a member and chairperson of Basil Read Holdings Limited’s audit and risk committee. 

6. To appoint, Mr CP Davies as a member of Basil Read Holdings Limited’s audit and risk committee. 

7. To appoint, Mr SS Ntsaluba as a member of Basil Read Holdings Limited’s audit and risk committee. 

  An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each member of the audit and risk committee appears on page 23 of the integrated annual report to which 

this notice is attached.  

8.  To confirm the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as independent auditors of the company with Mr Faan Lombard, being the individual 

registered auditor who has undertaken the audit of the company for the ensuing financial year and to authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ 

remuneration.

As special business, to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following resolutions:

9. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

 Non-executive directors’ remuneration for 2011 financial year

  “Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), the annual remuneration payable to the 

non-executive directors of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company) for their services as directors of the company for the financial year ended 

31 December 2011, be and is hereby approved as included in the financial statements on page 113.

 Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1

  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to ratify the remuneration of the non-executive directors of the company for their services 

as directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2011. 

10. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

 Non-executive directors’ remuneration for 2012 financial year

  “Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), the annual remuneration payable to the 

non-executive directors of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company) for their services as directors of the company for the financial year ending 2012, 

be and is hereby approved as included in the financial statements on page 113.
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 Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2

  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors of the company for their 

services as directors for the ensuing financial year. 

11. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 

 Financial assistance for subscription of securities 

  “Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) (Companies Act), the shareholders of Basil 

Read Holdings Limited (the company) hereby approve of the company providing, at any time and from time to time during the period of two years 

commencing on the date of this special resolution number 3, financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, as 

contemplated in section 44 of the Companies Act, to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for any option, or any 

securities, issued or to be issued by the company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the company or a related 

or inter-related company, provided that –

 (a)  the board of directors of the company (the board), from time to time, determines (i) the specific recipient, or general category of potential 

recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such financial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under which such 

financial assistance is provided; and

 (b)  the board may not authorise the company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution number 3 unless the board meets 

all those requirements of section 44 of the Companies Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise the company to provide such 

financial assistance.”

 Reason for and effect of special resolution number 3

  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the board the authority to authorise the company to provide financial assistance to 

any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for any option or securities issued or to be issued by the company or a related or 

inter-related company. 

12. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 

 Loans or other financial assistance to directors 

  “Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) (Companies Act), the shareholders of Basil 

Read Holdings Limited (the company) hereby approve of the company providing, at any time and from time to time during the period of two years 

commencing on the date of this special resolution number 4, any direct or indirect financial assistance (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan 

or other obligation, and securing any debt or obligation) as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to a director or prescribed officer of the 

company, or to a related or inter-related company or corporation or to a member of any such related or inter-related corporation or to a person 

related to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer or member provided that –

 (a)  the board of directors of the company (the board), from time to time, determines (i) the specific recipient or general category of potential 

recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such financial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under which such 

financial assistance is provided, and

 (b)  the board may not authorise the company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution number 4 unless the board meets 

all those requirements of section 45 of the Companies Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise the company to provide such 

financial assistance.”

 Reason for and effect of special resolution number 4

  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant the board the authority to authorise the company to provide financial assistance as 

contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to a director or prescribed officer of the company, or to a related or inter-related company or 

corporation, or to a member of a related or inter-related corporation, or to a person related to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed 

officer or member. 

 

  Notice given to shareholders of the company in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act of a resolution adopted by the board authorising the 

company to provide such direct or indirect financial assistance in respect of special resolution number 4:

 (a)    By the time that this notice of annual general meeting is delivered to shareholders of the company, the board will have adopted a resolution 

(Section 45 Board Resolution) authorising the company to provide, at any time and from time to time during the period of two years commencing 

on the date on which special resolution number 4 is adopted, any direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the 

Companies Act (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other obligation, and securing any debt or obligation) to a director or 

prescribed officer of the company or of a related or inter-related company, or to a related or inter-related company or corporation, or to a 

member of any such related or inter-related corporation, or to a person related to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer or a 

member;
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 (b)    the Section 45 Board Resolution will be effective only if and to the extent that special resolution number 4 is adopted by the shareholders of the 

company, and the provision of any such direct or indirect financial assistance by the company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be subject to 

the board being satisfied that (i) immediately after providing such financial assistance, the company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as 

referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, and (ii) the terms under which such financial assistance is to be given are fair and 

reasonable to the company as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and

 (c)   in as much as the Section 45 Board Resolution contemplates that such financial assistance will in the aggregate exceed one-tenth of one percent of 

the company’s net worth at the date of adoption of such resolution, the company hereby provides notice of the Section 45 Board Resolution to 

shareholders of the company. Such notice will also be provided to any trade union representing any employees of the company. 

13. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 5

 Substitution of the company’s memorandum and articles of association

  “Resolved that, in accordance with section 16(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) (the Companies Act), the current memorandum and 

articles of association of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company), is substituted with the memorandum of incorporation tabled at the annual general 

meeting, signed by the chairperson for identification purposes, and posted on the company’s website from 2 May 2012, the salient features of which are 

set out on page 198 of the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached.”

 Reason for and effect of special resolution number 5

  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 5 is to grant the board the authority to substitute the group’s memorandum and articles of 

association with the memorandum of incorporation in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) and Schedule 10 

of the JSE Listings Requirements, with effect from the date of filing of the required notice of amendment with the Companies and Intellectual Property 

Commission. 

  The memorandum of incorporation is available for inspection by any person who has a beneficial interest in any securities of the company at the 

registered office of the company at, the Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg, during normal office hours from the date of 

issue of this notice of annual general meeting up to and including the date of the annual general meeting or any adjourned meeting.

14. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

 Approval of the group’s remuneration policy

  “Resolved that the group’s remuneration policy, as set out on page 77 of the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached, be and is hereby 

approved as a non-binding advisory vote of shareholders of the company in terms of the King III Report on Corporate Governance.”

15. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

 Signature of documents

  “Resolved that each director of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company) be and is hereby individually authorised to sign all such documents and do 

all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of those resolutions to be proposed at the annual general meeting convened 

to consider the resolutions which are passed, in the case of ordinary resolutions, or are passed and registered by the Companies and Intellectual 

Property Commission, in the case of special resolutions.”

16. OTHER BUSINESS

 To transact such other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting of the company.



Bas i l  Read in tegr a ted annua l  repor t  2011

197

Management reviews Our divisions Sustainability FinancialsWhat we do

VOTING AND PROXIES

Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general meeting require approval from 75% of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the meeting. 

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the 

meeting.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and act in his/her stead.  A proxy 

need not be a member of the company. For the convenience of registered members of the company, a form of proxy is attached hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:

 – hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or

 – are recorded on the sub-register in “own-name” dematerialised form.

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker without 

“own-name” registration and who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with the relevant Letter 

of Representation to attend the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend in person or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP or 

broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited, at least 48 hours, excluding 

Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

Kindly note that meeting participants, which includes proxies, are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or 

participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s licenses and passports.

By order of the board

Merchantec Capital Proprietary Limited

Company secretary

7 May 2012 

Boksburg
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Substitution of memorandum of incorporation

1.  The company intends to adopt, in substitution of the company’s memorandum and articles of association, the memorandum of incorporation in terms of 

section 16(1)(c)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) (Companies Act).

2.  The memorandum of incorporation regulates the relationship between the company and its shareholders and between the shareholders of the company 

and between the company and each director or prescribed officer of the company or any other person serving the company as a member of a 

committee of the board, in the exercise of their respective functions within the company.

3.  If there is a conflict between any provision of the memorandum of incorporation and the alterable provisions of the Companies Act, the provisions of 

the memorandum of incorporation shall prevail to the extent of the conflict. If there is a conflict between any provision of the memorandum of 

incorporation and the unalterable provisions of the Companies Act, the unalterable provisions of the Companies Act shall prevail. If there is a conflict 

between the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, then the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements apply 

concurrently and to the extent that it is impossible to apply concurrently, then the provisions of the Companies Act will prevail to the extent of the 

conflict.

4.  The memorandum of incorporation may only be altered by a special resolution of shareholders passed in accordance with the Companies Act.

5.  The company is authorised to issue the number and class of shares set out in Schedule 1 to the memorandum of incorporation.

6.  The company shall be obliged to call a shareholders’ meeting if required by the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements or the memorandum of 

incorporation to refer a matter to shareholders or to fill a vacancy on the board. Clause 21 of the memorandum of incorporation deals with 

shareholders’ meetings.

7.  The company must deliver a notice of each shareholders’ meeting at least 15 business days before the meeting is to begin. Clause 22 of the 

memorandum of incorporation deals with the notice of shareholders’ meetings.

8.  The conduct for the shareholders’ meetings is dealt with in clause 23 of the memorandum of incorporation.

9.  The quorum for shareholders’ meetings shall be sufficient persons present at the meeting to exercise in aggregate 25% of all voting rights that are 

entitled to be exercised on the matter. Clause 24 of the memorandum of incorporation deals with the quorum for shareholders’ meetings and 

adjournment.

10.  In order for an ordinary shareholder resolution to be approved it must be supported by a majority of the voting rights exercised on that resolution, and 

in order for a special resolution to be approved, it must be supported by 75% of the voting rights exercised on that resolution. At any meeting of 

shareholders, a shareholder shall be entitled to exercise one vote on a show of hands irrespective of the voting rights that such person would otherwise 

be entitled to exercise, and on a poll, the number of voting rights associated with the securities held by the shareholder. Certain matters require the 

approval or authority of a special resolution of shareholders. Clause 26 of the memorandum of incorporation deals with shareholder resolutions.

11.  The board shall comprise not less than four directors. The directors shall be elected by an ordinary resolution of shareholders. No director shall serve 

an indefinite term and shall be eligible for re-election. Clause 28 of the memorandum of incorporation deals with the composition of the board.

12.  The business and affairs of the company shall be managed by the board except to the extent that the Companies Act or the memorandum of 

incorporation provides otherwise. The board shall not have the power or authority to affect a reserved matter unless that reserved matter has been 

approved by a special resolution of shareholders. The authority of the board is dealt with in clause 29 of the memorandum of incorporation.

13.  The board shall appoint a social and ethics committee, audit and risk committee and a remuneration committee, and any other committee as required. 

Clause 30 of the memorandum of incorporation deals with board committees.

14.  The directors’ meetings shall be on not less than 14 days notice or such shorter period as envisaged in the memorandum of incorporation. The quorum 

for the directors’ meeting shall be a majority of the directors in office. Each director has one vote on every matter to be decided by the board, and a 

resolution of the board shall be passed by a majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution at a quorate meeting. Clause 32 of the memorandum of 

incorporation deals with directors’ meetings.

15.  The chairperson of the board shall hold office for a period of three years. Clause 31 of the memorandum of incorporation deals with the chairperson.

16.  A holder of the beneficial interest of any securities in the company is entitled to have access to the records of the company as provided for in 

clause 38 of the memorandum of incorporation.

17.  The company may make distributions subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements and as provided for in 

clause 40 of the memorandum of incorporation.

18.  The complete memorandum of incorporation of the company will be posted on the company’s website from 2 May 2012 and copies of the 

memorandum of incorporation will be available for inspection at the registered office of the company.
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Form of proxy

BASIL READ HOLDINGS  LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR  ISIN: ZAE000029781
(Basil Read or the company or the group)

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:
 – hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders); or
 – have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own-name” registration,

at the twenty seventh annual general meeting of shareholders of the company to be held at the Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes extension, Boksburg at 
10:00 am on Thursday, 7 June 2012 and any adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own-name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting must inform 
their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue 
them with the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the annual general 
meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between 
them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone work (     ) Telephone home (     )

being the holder/custodian of ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint: (see note)

1.   or failing him/her

2.   or failing him/her

3. the chairperson of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company convened for purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, 
passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed thereat (resolutions) and at each postponement or adjournment thereof and 
to vote for and/or against such resolutions, and/or abstain from voting, in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the company registered in  
my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the company and group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011

2. To approve the re-election as director of  Mr SLL Peteni who retires by rotation

3. To approve the re-election as director of Mr ML Heyns who retires by rotation

4. To approve the re-election as director of Mr MDG Gouveia who retires by rotation

5. To approve the appointment of Mrs GR Sibiya as member and chairperson of the audit and risk 
committee

6. To approve the appointment of  Mr CP Davies as member of the audit and risk committee

7. To approve the appointment of Mr SS Ntsaluba as member of the audit and risk committee

8. To confirm the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors of the company together 
with Mr Faan Lombard as the individual registered auditor for the ensuing financial year

9. Special resolution number 1
To ratify the non-executive directors’ remuneration for financial year ended 31 December 2011

10. Special resolution number 2
Approval of the non-executive directors’ remuneration for financial year ending 31 December 2012

11. Special resolution number 3
Financial assistance for subscription of securities

12. Special resolution number 4
Loans or other financial assistance to directors

13. Special resolution number 5
Substitution of the memorandum and articles of association

14. Ordinary resolution number 1
Approval of the group’s remuneration policy

15. Ordinary resolution number 2
Signature of documents

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant number of votes exercisable.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his stead.  A proxy so appointed need not 
be a member of the company.

Signed at on 2012

Signature 

Assisted by (if applicable) 
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1.  The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in electronic 

form in “own name”.

2.  All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the annual general meeting must provide 

the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

3.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies (none of 

whom need be a shareholder of the company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the 

meeting”. The person whose name stands first on this form of proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to 

the exclusion of those proxy(ies) whose names follow. Should this space be left blank, the proxy will be exercised by the chairperson of the meeting. 

4.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s instructions to 

the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate space provided. If an “X” 

has been inserted in one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by the shareholder concerned. Failure to 

comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of 

all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholders or by the 

proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder 

or the proxy.

5.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the annual general meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity or other legal 

disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in respect of which the proxy is given, unless 

notice as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the transfer secretaries not less than forty eight hours before the 

commencement of the annual general meeting.

6.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, or gives 

contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly be put before the annual general meeting be 

proposed, such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7.  The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in compliance 

with these notes.

8.  A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairperson of the annual general meeting, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, shall be deemed 

to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the annual general meeting.

9.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and speaking and 

voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

10.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of 

proxy, unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.

11.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant documents 

establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the company.

12. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

 – any one holder may sign the form of proxy;

 –  the vote(s) of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of ordinary  

shareholders appear in the company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the 

exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

13. Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited:

 Hand deliveries to: Postal deliveries to:

 Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited

 13th Floor, Rennie House PO Box 4844

 19 Ameshoff Street Johannesburg

 Braamfontein  2000

 2004 

  to be received by no later than 11:00 on Monday, 4 June 2012 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the annual general meeting which date, if 

necessary, will be notified on SENS).

14.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must be signed and 

not merely initialled.
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Administration

BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED

Registration number: 1984/007758/06

Share code: BSR

ISIN: ZAE000029781

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Basil Read Campus

7 Romeo Street

Hughes Extension

Boksburg 1459

Private Bag X170 Bedfordview 2008

Tel:  +27 11 418 6300

Fax: +27 11 418 6334

COMPANY SECRETARY

Merchantec Capital (Pty) Ltd

SPONSOR

Macquarie First South Capital (Pty) Ltd

The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, South Wing

Sandown 2146

BANKERS

Nedbank Corporate Banking – Gauteng

1st Floor

Corporate Place Nedbank

135 Rivonia Road

Sandown 2196

First National Bank of Southern Africa Limited

5th Floor

No 3 First Place

Bank City

Harrison Street

Johannesburg 2001

Shareholders’ diary

Financial year-end 31 December

Annual general meeting 7 June 2012

REPORTS

Half-year interim report August 2012

Audited results March 2013

BASTION GRAPHICS
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